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Goals and responsibilities of the Swiss National Bank

Mandate
The Swiss National Bank conducts the country’s mon-

etary policy as an independent central bank. In so doing, it 
creates an appropriate environment for economic growth. The 
National Bank is obliged by Constitution and statute to act  
in accordance with the interests of the country as a whole. Its 
primary goal is to ensure price stability, while taking due 
account of economic developments.

Price stability
Price stability is an important precondition for growth 

and prosperity. Inflation and deflation are inhibiting factors 
for the decisions of consumers and producers; they disrupt 
economic development and put the economically weak at a dis-
advantage. The National Bank equates price stability with a  
rise in the national consumer price index of less than 2% per 
annum. Monetary policy decisions are made on the basis of 
an inflation forecast and implemented via the steering of the 
three-month Libor.

Cash supply and distribution
The National Bank is entrusted with the note-issuing 

privilege. It supplies the economy with banknotes that  
meet high standards with respect to quality and security. It 
is also charged by the Confederation with the task of coin 
distribution.

Cashless payment transactions
In the field of cashless payment transactions, the  

National Bank provides services for high-value payments be-
tween banks. These are settled in the Swiss Interbank Clearing 
(SIC) system via sight deposit accounts held with the SNB.

Investment of currency reserves
The National Bank manages the currency reserves. 

These engender confidence in the Swiss franc, help prevent 
and overcome crises, and may be utilised for interventions  
in the foreign exchange market.

Financial system stability
Within the framework of its task to ensure the stability 

of the financial system, the National Bank analyses and takes 
into account sources of risk emanating from the financial 
system. It oversees the systemically important payment and 
securities settlement systems and helps to shape the operating 
framework for the financial sector.

Tasks on behalf of the Confederation
The National Bank acts as banker to the Confederation 

and, together with the federal authorities, participates in 
international monetary cooperation.

Statistics
The National Bank compiles statistical data, particu-

larly with regard to banking activity and financial market 
development.
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Preface

Ladies and Gentlemen

According to art. 7 para. 2 of the National Bank Act (NBA), which en-
tered into force on 1 May 2004, the National Bank is obliged to report to the 
Federal Assembly each year on the fulfilment of its tasks as defined in art. 5 
NBA. Furthermore, the SNB is required – pursuant to art. 7 para. 1 NBA – to 
submit its Business and Financial Report to the Federal Council for approv-
al, before handing it, together with the Audit Board’s report, to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders for subsequent approval. 

The first part of the 97th Annual Report of the National Bank com-
prises the Accountability Report to the Federal Assembly (pp. 6–66). The Ac-
countability Report is submitted to the Federal Council and the General Meet-
ing of Shareholders for information purposes only, and does not require their 
approval. It details the National Bank’s fulfilment of its statutory mandate 
– in particular the conduct of monetary policy – and also describes economic 
and monetary developments in the year under review. 

The Business Report, for the attention of the Federal Council and Gener- 
al Meeting of Shareholders, deals with the organisational and operational  
development of the National Bank and its business activity, and includes the 
Financial Report, which contains the income statement, balance sheet and 
notes (pp. 68–150). 

From an organisational and operational perspective, the implementa-
tion of the new NBA played a pivotal role in the year under review. This re-
quired the drafting and passing of the SNB’s legal basis (National Bank Ordi-
nance, Organisation Regulations, Terms of Business, Guidelines on Monetary 
Policy Instruments, Investment Policy Guidelines and other internal regula-
tions). It also involved the election and appointment of the new Bank Council 
(reduced to eleven members), its four committees and the new Audit Board. 
In addition, the Enlarged Governing Board, consisting of the three members 
of the Governing Board and their three deputies, commenced its activities. 
It is responsible for the operational management of the National Bank, while 
the conduct of monetary policy remains the mandate of the Governing Board. 
Furthermore, investment policy was adjusted to suit the extended legal scope. 
Finally, the National Bank’s new mandate with regard to the stability of the 
financial system needed to be defined. 

The sale of the 1,300 tonnes of gold no longer required for monetary 
policy purposes was pursued as planned in the year under review, and will be 
completed by spring 2005. The political debate on the appropriation of the 
proceeds from the sale of these gold reserves continued throughout the year. 
The National Council and the Council of States were unable to agree on a 
joint bill. After the Council of States’ decision on 16 December – for the sec-
ond time – not to consider the bill, the Federal Council decided on 2 February 
2005 to distribute the gold proceeds pursuant to the existing law, with one-
third going to the Confederation and two-thirds to the cantons. The proceeds 
will be distributed in spring 2005, based on the financial results for 2004. 
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The SNB’s financial results for 2004 registered a distributable profit of 
CHF 20.7 billion, as compared with CHF 2.3 billion a year earlier. This profit 
refers to the amount after the planned increase of the provisions prescribed 
in the NBA. Under the terms of the current profit distribution agreements, a 
total of CHF 24 billion will be distributed to the Confederation and the can-
tons for the 2004 financial year. The surplus for future distributions is thus 
reduced in the balance sheet by CHF 3.3 billion to CHF 6.9 billion.

We wish to thank the bank authorities as well as our employees for 
their valuable support over the past year.

Berne and Zurich, 25 February 2005

Hansueli Raggenbass Jean-Pierre Roth
President of the Bank Council Chairman of the Governing Board
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On 15 February 2005, the Governing Board of the Swiss National Bank 
submitted its 2004 Accountability Report to the Federal Assembly in accord-
ance with art. 7 para. 2 of the National Bank Act of 3 October 2003. The 
following Accountability Report is provided to the Federal Council and the 
General Meeting of Shareholders for information purposes only, and does not 
require their approval.

 Summary

In accordance with art. 7 para. 2 of the new National Bank Act (NBA), 
which entered into force on 1 May 2004, the Swiss National Bank (SNB) is 
required to report to the Federal Assembly each year on the fulfilment of its 
mandate. The present report is structured in line with art. 5 NBA, with a sepa-
rate chapter reporting on each of the eight tasks listed in the legislation.

Despite the entry into force of the totally revised NBA, the National 
Bank performed the customary activities of a central bank in 2004. It insti-
tuted a reversal of its monetary policy, however, and the legislative reforms 
resulted in substantial adjustments to the instruments used by the National 
Bank and to its organisational structure.

(1) The new NBA defines the National Bank’s monetary policy man-
date more precisely than was previously the case. Monetary policy must be 
conducted in the interests of the country as a whole and must ensure price  
stability. In doing so, it shall take due account of economic developments. 
The monetary policy concept consists of three elements: the definition of 
price stability, a medium-term inflation forecast and an operational target 
range for the targeted money market rate.

Developments in global economic growth – the basis for the infla-
tion forecast – were decidedly favourable in the first half of the year. Strong 
growth stimuli emanated from the US and the emerging Asian industrialised 
economies, and this helped to boost regions like Japan and Europe that were 
suffering from weak domestic demand. As the year went on, however, the rise 
in the price of oil and the depreciation of the dollar slowed down the expan-
sion around the world, though not in the US.

The Swiss economy succeeded in shaking off the recession and stag-
nation which had dogged it in the two preceding years. Growth was broad-
based and slightly exceeded the economy’s potential, thus reducing excess 
capacity. At 1.8%, however, growth was lower than it had been in previous 
upswings. Owing to higher prices for oil, housing rents and public services, 
consumer price inflation rose from 0.6% in 2003 to 0.8% in 2004. The Swiss 
franc – though initially stable – was driven upwards towards the end of the 
year by the dollar’s weakness.

Monetary policy had to be adapted in line with these developments. 
In the four preceding years, the National Bank had cut its reference interest 
rate, the three-month Libor, in several steps, ultimately bringing it down to 
0.25%. In view of the economic stabilisation, the SNB raised the target range 
in two increments of 0.25 percentage points each in June and September. 
These actions, and the fact that rates were left unchanged in the first and 
fourth quarters of the year, illustrate the conflicting demands impinging on 
monetary policy. Whereas the long-term view favoured a restrictive stance, 
the resurgence of fears about economic growth in the autumn called for cau-
tion. The National Bank’s interest rate moves reflected a normalisation; as 
price stability was not in jeopardy, however, it continued at the same time to 
pursue a relaxed policy aimed at supporting economic growth.

Monetary policy

SNB 7 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly
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(2) Maintaining an adequate supply of liquidity to the money market 
goes hand in hand with the implementation of monetary policy. Based on the 
list of permissible central bank transactions that was expanded under the new 
NBA, the National Bank issued Guidelines on Monetary Policy Instruments ef-
fective as of 25 March 2004 along with a number of Instruction Sheets aimed 
at its counterparties. The Guidelines describe the instruments and procedures 
for the implementation of monetary policy, as well as the collateral that is 
eligible for monetary policy transactions. For the first time, the National Bank 
also specifies the conditions under which it is willing to grant emergency li-
quidity assistance. As was already the case, liquidity is supplied by way of 
various facilities based almost exclusively on repo transactions.

(3) The National Bank is entrusted with the note-issuing privilege. 
It supplies high-quality and highly secure banknotes to the economy via the 
banks and postal service. It is also charged by the Swiss Confederation with 
the task of coin distribution. In 2004, it focused on maintaining the quality 
of banknotes and of cash transactions, gaining initial experience with cash 
deposits held with third parties, further developing security features, taking 
precautionary measures to prevent counterfeiting, and initiating preparations 
for a possible new series of banknotes.

(4) In the area of cashless payments, the National Bank is mandated 
to facilitate and secure the functioning of the appropriate systems. It holds 
accounts on behalf of the banks, and it runs and monitors the Swiss Inter-
bank Clearing (SIC) system, through which Swiss franc interbank payments 
are settled. The task of overseeing the payment and securities settlement 
systems as laid down in the new NBA primarily concerns the definition of this 
function in the National Bank Ordinance (NBO) and the actual determination 
of the systemically important systems on that basis.

(5) The National Bank manages Switzerland’s currency reserves. In 
doing so, the Governing Board – which is responsible for the investment of 
the National Bank’s assets – bases its decisions on three criteria: security, 
liquidity and return. On 27 May 2004, the National Bank issued Investment 
Policy Guidelines that take account of the expanded possibilities provided by 
the new NBA. They define the scope available to the SNB for its investment 
activities by setting out the investment principles and instruments, as well as 
the investment and risk control process to be observed. Given that previous 
legal restrictions on investment categories and borrowers no longer applied, 
the National Bank took the opportunity to enhance its risk/return profile. Its 
portfolio continued to focus on the most liquid currencies and markets and 
on borrowers with the highest credit ratings. The investment universe was 
expanded to include foreign corporate bonds.

(6) The National Bank is mandated to contribute to the stability of 
the financial system. A stable financial system is essential to the successful 
conduct of monetary policy and to properly functioning financial markets. The 
National Bank sought to identify potential risks at an early stage and help 
to create an environment that is conducive to stability. In its annual Finan-
cial Stability Report, it analysed the banking system and the financial market 
infrastructure from the point of view of security. It cooperated closely with 
domestic and international supervisory bodies, both bilaterally and on com-
mittees such as the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. 

Liquidity supply

Cash supply and distribution

Payment systems

Currency reserves

Financial system stability  
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(7) The National Bank participates in international monetary coopera-
tion. In 2004, as in previous years, it did so mainly through the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF), the Group of Ten (G-10) and the Bank for International 
Settlements (BIS). In the case of the IMF and the G-10, it participates in col-
laboration with the Federal Council. The IMF, which works to promote stable 
monetary conditions worldwide and support free trade and payment flows 
internationally, and on whose Executive Board Switzerland has a seat, con-
cerned itself mainly with overseeing the member countries in respect of pre-
venting or resolving crises, its role in poorer nations and the Fund’s financial 
situation. Technical assistance by the National Bank focused on the countries 
in its IMF constituency. This assistance included central bank management 
training, the preparation of monetary policy decisions, the introduction and 
administration of banknotes, and the investment of currency reserves.

(8) The National Bank provides the Swiss Confederation with bank-
ing services in the areas of payment transactions and liquidity and securities 
management. As the new NBA states that these services are no longer pro-
vided free of charge, details of compensation and of the services provided are 
set out in an agreement with the Federal Finance Administration.

Monetary cooperation

Banker to the Confederation
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1  Monetary policy

After the years 2001 to 2003, which had been shaped by declining 
interest rates, 2004 saw an interest rate reversal in the money market. In 
retrospect, the year under review was characterised by economic recovery 
and a normalisation of monetary policy. Price stability was maintained at all 
times. 

This chapter will look more closely at monetary policy decisions and 
the basis on which they are made, both in terms of the legal and concep- 
tual framework and the economic and monetary background. Section 1.1 will 
discuss the legal basis underlying the National Bank’s monetary policy, its 
mandate and its strategy in terms of monetary policy. Sections 1.2 and 1.3 
will examine economic developments in Switzerland and abroad. Section 1.4 
will review the implementation of monetary policy in 2004 and the Governing 
Board’s decisions taken at the four quarterly assessments on the basis of in-
formation available at the time. Finally, section 1.5 will discuss the new legal 
basis for the National Bank’s statistical activities and its implementation.

1.1  Monetary policy concept

Art. 99 of the Federal Constitution (FC) entrusts the National Bank, as 
an independent central bank, with the conduct of monetary policy in the in-
terests of the country as a whole. The constitutional mandate is explained in 
greater detail in art. 5 para. 1 of the revised NBA, which came into force on 
1 May 2004. This article requires the National Bank to ensure price stability. 
In doing so, it shall take due account of economic developments. The SNB is 
required to resolve as best as possible any conflicts arising between the ob-
jective of price stability and the development of the economy, while taking 
into consideration the interests of the country as a whole and giving priority 
to price stability. The mention of “interests of the country as a whole” under-
scores the requirement of the National Bank to gear its policy to the needs 
of the Swiss economy as a whole rather than to the interests of individual 
regions or industries.

Price stability is an important condition for the smooth functioning 
of the economy, as both inflation and deflation disrupt economic develop-
ment, hinder decision-making by consumers and producers, and generate high 
social costs. By keeping prices stable, monetary policy creates a favourable 
framework in which the economy can fully exploit its production potential. 
Consequently, price stability contributes to prosperity.

The aim of the National Bank’s monetary policy must be to ensure 
medium to long-term price stability. In other words, it has to prevent both 
inflation and deflation. Both economic theory and experience show that a 
substantial excess or shortage of liquidity over a lengthy period of time is the 
principal cause of inflationary or deflationary phases. For this reason, infla-
tion or deflation can ultimately be attributed to monetary policy. It would 
be wrong, however, to attempt to use monetary policy to counteract short-
term deviations from price stability, as the impact of monetary policy on the 
economy and on prices is subject to considerable time lags and uncertain-
ty. Moreover, its influence on the development of the real economy is only  
temporary.

Overview

Constitutional  
and legal mandate 

Significance  
of price stability

Origins of inflation  
and deflation



SNB 11 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly

To secure price stability in the medium and long term, the National 
Bank must provide an appropriate monetary environment. If interest rates are 
too low for a lengthy period, the supply of money and credit to the economy 
is too high, thus triggering an inordinate demand for goods and services. Al-
though this boosts production initially, bottlenecks occur in the course of 
time and overall economic capacity is stretched, thus causing prices to rise. 
By contrast, if interest rates are too high for a lengthy period, this reduces 
the supply of money and credit to the economy and, consequently, leads to 
a demand shortage. Prices for goods and services fall, thus also hampering 
economic growth. 

A country’s economy is subject to numerous domestic and foreign in-
fluences. These cause fluctuations in the business cycle, which in turn either 
lessen or increase the pressure on prices. Such fluctuations are inevitable. 
Being aimed at medium to long-term price stability, however, the National 
Bank’s monetary policy does help to limit them. The SNB thus has to take due 
consideration of the economic situation when formulating its policy. It would 
be wrong, however, to expect it to be able to fine-tune the development of 
the economy. Time lags and the impact of monetary policy on the business 
cycle and prices are subject to considerable uncertainty. Moreover, the Na-
tional Bank has to operate in a highly diverse range of situations.

The most common cause of a general rise or fall in inflation is when 
demand for goods and services does not develop in line with the economy’s 
production capacity. Such situations are caused, for example, by unforeseen 
fluctuations in the international economy, persistent exchange rate distor-
tions, serious budget imbalances or inappropriate money supply levels in the 
past. Upward pressure on prices eases in phases when production capacity is 
not fully utilised and increases in phases of economic overheating. The Na-
tional Bank will thus tend to ease monetary policy in the former case and 
tighten it in the latter. Monetary policy that is geared to restoring price sta-
bility has a corrective influence on aggregate demand and thus helps to regu-
late the development of the economy. The SNB’s policy must then be aimed 
at gradually restoring price stability.

Appropriate monetary  
environment

Due consideration of  
the economic situation

Demand and inflation



SNB 12 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly

Supply and inflation

Monetary policy concept

Definition of price stability

Possible overstepping  
of price stability threshold

Quarterly publication  
of inflation forecast

The situation is more complex when the price level rises owing to a 
fall-off in supply, thus increasing production costs. A continuous rise in the 
oil price is an example of such a shock. Under these circumstances, monetary 
policy must seek to ensure that the higher costs do not trigger a wage-price 
spiral that results in an inflationary process, nor unduly impair the economy. 
A strategy aimed at the rapid restoration of price stability might trigger ad-
verse influences on the business cycle and employment.

The National Bank needs indicators to determine whether or not its 
monetary policy is appropriate for its price stability objective. It bases its  
decisions on a broad range of real and monetary indicators. The monetary  
policy concept in force since the beginning of 2000 consists of three el-
ements: the definition of price stability, a medium-term inflation forecast and 
an operational target range for the National Bank’s chosen reference interest 
rate, the three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (Libor) for Swiss francs, 
which is the economically most significant money market rate for Swiss franc 
investments.

The National Bank equates price stability with a rise in the national 
consumer price index (CPI) of less than 2% per annum. Prior to the revision 
of the CPI in 2000, actual inflation was overstated by about 0.5–0.6 percent-
age points owing to measuring errors. It is probable that the new price index, 
too, is subject to imprecision. In particular, it is not possible to properly ac-
count for price rises that reflect qualitative improvements in goods and ser-
vices. The CPI will probably continue to slightly overstate the actual level of 
inflation. It is thus reasonable to equate price stability (measured by the CPI) 
with a slightly positive inflation rate. 

While the National Bank would combat an inflation rate that persis-
tently exceeded the 2% level, there are situations in which it would allow 
this threshold to be temporarily breached. In a small open economy, excep-
tional situations with sharp exchange rate fluctuations could arise, causing 
the inflation rate to overstep the price stability threshold in the short term. 
Marked price rises for imported goods, such as oil, can also result in a tem-
porary breach of price stability. It is not possible – or necessary – for the 
central bank to prevent this. Similar situations may arise in response to major 
increases in taxation.

At its quarterly assessments, the National Bank publishes a forecast 
on the development of inflation over the three subsequent years. The period 
of three years corresponds more or less to the time required for the complete 
transmission of monetary stimuli. Forecasts over such a long time horizon 
are, however, fraught with considerable uncertainties. By publishing a me-
dium to long-term forecast, the National Bank emphasises the need to adopt 
a forward-looking stance and to react at an early stage to any inflationary or 
deflationary threats. The inflation forecast is based on a scenario for the de-
velopment of the global economy. Moreover, the inflation forecast is prepared 
on the assumption that the three-month Libor will remain constant over the 
forecasting period. The inflation forecast thus maps the future development 
of prices against the background of a specific world economic scenario and 
unchanged monetary policy environment in Switzerland. It cannot therefore 
be compared with forecasts of other institutions which incorporate expected 
monetary policy responses.
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The National Bank prepares its inflation forecast based on various 
indicators. Their impact on the development of prices is subject to differ-
ent time lags. The supply of money, as reflected in changes in the monetary 
aggregates, takes effect mainly towards the end of the forecasting horizon. 
In the medium term, the economic prospects play a key role. In the shorter 
term, factors such as the exchange rate, prices of raw materials (oil), admin-
istered prices and value-added tax rates are of significance. In its report on 
monetary policy, the National Bank regularly issues statements on the devel-
opment of the principal indicators factored into its inflation forecast. In vari-
ous issues of its Quarterly Report, moreover, the SNB has published details of 
the models it uses to forecast inflation. 

If the inflation forecast indicates a deviation from price stability, 
monetary policy needs to be reviewed. Should inflation threaten to exceed 
2%, the National Bank would consider tightening its monetary policy. Con-
versely, it would loosen the monetary reins if there were a danger of defla-
tion. The National Bank does not, however, react mechanically to the infla-
tion forecast. To determine the scale and timing of its response, it also takes 
account of the general economic situation.

The National Bank implements its monetary policy by influencing the 
interest rate level in the money market. It fixes a target range for the three-
month Libor and publishes it regularly. As a rule, this range extends over one 
percentage point. The SNB performs quarterly assessments at which it reviews 
its monetary policy. If circumstances so require, it also adjusts the target 
range for the three-month Libor between these regular assessments. It pub-
lishes the reasons for any such changes in a press release issued on the day 
the decision is made.

Indicators of relevance to 
the inflation forecast

Review of monetary  
policy based  
on the inflation forecast

Target range for the  
three-month Libor
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Gratifying start to the year

Strong growth in the US

Dynamic Asia

Tentative recovery  
in the euro area

1.2  International economic developments

The outlook for the world economy looked decidedly positive at the 
beginning of 2004. In the second half of 2003, global economic growth was 
running at nearly 6% per annum – the highest rate recorded in four years. 
Boosted by highly expansionary monetary and fiscal policies, the US economy 
in particular provided major stimuli. The emerging Asian industrialised coun-
tries also contributed to the sharp rise in demand. Thanks to expanding glob-
al trade, even countries previously dogged by distinctly sluggish economic 
conditions started to see their economies recover. This was mainly true of 
Japan and – to a lesser extent – Europe.

In March, strong global economic growth prompted the National Bank 
to upwardly revise its international economic scenarios for both 2004 and 
2005. The US economy in particular showed impressive momentum. This was 
reflected in, among other things, a steep rise in manufacturing activity, which 
reached a twenty-year peak at the beginning of 2004. The strong growth was 
mainly attributable to consumer spending, with US households benefiting not 
only from federal tax cuts, but also from historically low mortgage rates and 
the increasing value of real estate. Alongside private households, companies 
also contributed to the upturn through strong investment activity, particu-
larly in the IT sector. The fall in the price of many IT assets, accentuated by 
high overcapacity and further productivity gains, had a stimulating effect. 
The economy was additionally boosted by high military spending as a result 
of the US intervention in Iraq and by sharp rises in spending on homeland 
security.

The Asian economy also exhibited a dynamic trend. The investment 
boom in China generated significant stimuli for the global economy beyond 
the region’s boundaries. In Japan, the export sector enjoyed a recovery, fol-
lowed by domestic demand. In contrast to the 1990s, the economic recovery 
was no longer based one-sidedly on an increase in government spending. 

By contrast, the economic recovery in the euro area was rather ten-
tative. The revival in the first half of the year was largely due to higher for-
eign demand. Despite the impressive improvement in the business climate, 
companies held back with investments and expenditure by private house-
holds rose only marginally. Several factors may have contributed to the weak 
trend in consumer spending. Low growth in employment and high jobless 
rates are likely to have damaged consumer confidence. In some countries, 
such as Germany in particular, consumer sentiment may have been depressed 
by announcements of structural reforms affecting the labour market and the 
healthcare and pension systems.



2000

2000

2001

2001

2002

2002

2003

2003

2004

2004

Gross domestic product

Year-on-year change
in percent, in real terms
Source: OECD

Inflation

In percent
Source: OECD

Current account balance

Net balance in percent
of GDP
Source: OECD

United States

Japan

Euro area

United Kingdom

Switzerland

United States

Japan

Euro area

United Kingdom

Switzerland

United States

Japan

Euro area

United Kingdom

Switzerland

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

-2

-1

0

1

2

3

4

-6

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

SNB 15 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly



SNB 16 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly

Sharp rises in  
raw material prices

Inflation subdued

Interest rate hikes  
by the Fed

ECB reference rate  
unchanged 

Growth slowdown in autumn 

The strong global economic growth was accompanied by sharp rises 
in raw material prices. Steel and oil prices increased especially sharply. In the 
case of oil, the price hikes were further exacerbated by the political instabil-
ity in the Middle East. The first six months of 2004 saw the price of oil climb 
from USD 30 to USD 38 per barrel (Brent crude), before reaching an all-time 
high of USD 52 in October.

A combination of economic recovery and higher oil prices led to a rise 
in inflation rates worldwide, although in most countries the rise was damp-
ened by continuing overcapacity. This at least dispelled the anxieties over 
deflation, which in 2003 had still led many to fear that central bank interest 
rates would approach the zero lower bound.

Given the low risk of inflation, most central banks maintained their 
expansionary monetary policies. In the first half of the year, real short-term 
interest rates in the US, the euro area and Japan remained close to or be-
low zero. From June onwards, once the US economic recovery had gained 
strength, the US Federal Reserve (Fed) began raising its interest rates, thus 
adopting a more neutral monetary policy stance. Proceeding cautiously, by 
the end of the year it had increased its key interest rate (the federal funds 
rate) from 1% to 2.25% in five 0.25 percentage point steps.

By contrast, the European Central Bank (ECB) left its reference rate 
unchanged at 2%. The ECB had previously relaxed its monetary policy less 
than the Fed. Of greater importance were, however, the persisting fragility 
of aggregate demand in the euro area and the marked appreciation of the 
euro against the US dollar, which tended to have a dampening effect on the 
economy. Between the fourth quarter of 2003 and the fourth quarter of 2004, 
the euro rose by 9% against the dollar, having already appreciated by 20% 
in 2003.

The gratifying international economic trend in the first half of the 
year was followed by a more sober mood in the autumn. Most of Switzerland’s 
key trading partners, with the exception of the US, saw a significant decline 
in economic growth over the summer months. This was probably due in large 
part to the massive rise in oil prices, although it is difficult to quantify the 
extent to which it slowed down business activity. In autumn 2004, signs that 
the economic recovery in Europe was faltering prompted the National Bank 
to make a slight downward adjustment to its economic scenario for the euro 
area for 2005.
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1.3  Economic developments in Switzerland

With the global business climate generally upbeat, 2004 started off 
on a promising note for the Swiss economy. The second half of 2003 saw real 
gross domestic product (GDP) embark on a 2% growth trajectory, with strong 
export demand from the US and Asia acting as a major stimulus.

In the first few months of 2004, exports remained the main engine 
of growth. Even exports to the euro area picked up, although trends differed 
from country to country. Around mid-year, export momentum slowed, mainly 
owing to weaker demand from Asia and the new EU countries. The National 
Bank interpreted this as a temporary slowdown and expected to see a revival 
in the second half of the year. The revival did materialise, but exports to Ger-
many and France in particular continued to make sluggish progress.

Thanks to strong foreign demand, capacity utilisation in industry im-
proved rapidly and by mid-year was back at its long-term average of 84%. 
Discussions between the SNB’s delegates for regional economic contacts and 
companies from a range of industries also confirmed that the order situa-
tion had improved significantly and that capacity was once again being well 
utilised. Companies’ earnings recovered and this, in conjunction with the 
consistently low level of interest rates, stimulated investment activity. Ini-
tially, the increase mainly related to demand for industrial machinery and 
precision instruments. Towards mid-year, there was also a rise in demand for 
IT assets, which had dropped particularly sharply during the previous period 
of weakness.

Another important pillar of the economic recovery was construction 
investment. An upturn in building activity helped to stabilise construction 
prices, which in previous years had been squeezed by fierce competition. 
However, this acceleration was due almost entirely to higher demand for 
housing, fuelled in turn by historically low mortgage rates. By contrast, de-
mand for commercial premises, and in particular office space, remained slack. 
This segment was still beset by a great deal of excess capacity. Construction 
in the public sector continued to suffer from cost-cutting pressure at govern-
ment agencies.

The beginning of the year also saw a revival in consumer spend-
ing. The increasingly upbeat consumer sentiment was mainly reflected in 
rising sales of consumer durables such as home furnishings and household 
appliances, for which there was considerable pent-up demand. From mid-year 
onwards, however, the improvement in consumer sentiment and consumer 
demand lost momentum appreciably. This was probably due mainly to the 
persisting uncertainty in the labour market, but the sharp rise in oil prices is 
also likely to have played a part.

Upturn in the  
second half of 2003

Strong export growth

Higher capacity utilisation

Construction underpins  
the economy

Consumer spending subdued
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Sources: SFSO, seco

1  Average from Q1–Q3

Broad-based yet moderate 
economic growth 

Only modest  
rise in employment

Cautious recruitment

Growth set to  
continue in 2005

Gross domestic product and components
 Year-on-year change in real terms in percent

 2000 2001 2002 2003 20041

Private consumption 2.3 2.0 0.3 0.5 1.7
Government consumption 2.6 4.2 3.2 1.4 1.3
Investment in fixed assets 4.3 –3.1 0.3 –0.3 5.6
 Construction 2.7 –3.4 2.2 1.8 3.8
 Equipment 5.5 –2.9 –1.1 –2.0 6.9
Domestic demand 2.1  2.3 –0.8 0.2 1.4
Exports of goods and services 12.1 0.2 –0.2 0.0 7.3
Aggregate demand 5.2 1.7 –0.6 0.1 3.3
Imports of goods and services 9.6 3.2 –2.8 1.4 6.5
Gross domestic product 3.6 1.0 0.3 –0.4 1.8

Overall in 2004, the Swiss economy succeeded in shaking off the re-
cession and stagnation which had overshadowed the two preceding years. 
Economic growth was broad-based and above its potential, thus reducing ex-
cess capacity. At an estimated 1.8%, however, growth was moderate in com-
parison with previous upswing phases. This can be ascribed in no small part 
to the sluggish economic development in the euro area.

The moderate economic growth did not leave the labour market un-
scathed. At the beginning of the year, a series of indicators, such as the trend 
of job vacancies, pointed to a gradual rise in employment. In the months that 
followed, however, this trend began to falter and employment increased only 
minimally, with the year-on-year rise coming to just 0.2% in the third quar-
ter. Until the end of the year, the unemployment rate (3.8%) and the propor-
tion of job seekers (5.6%) remained at the levels of mid-2003.

One reason why conditions in the labour market remained difficult 
was presumably the persisting uncertainty over the strength and duration of 
the economic upturn. This uncertainty, which was fuelled not least by the 
massive increase in the price of oil, led to a great deal of caution in the re-
cruitment of staff. A further factor was that 2001 and 2002 only saw a slight 
decrease in employment in comparison with the trend in real GDP, which 
meant that companies still had adequate staffing levels. 

Although global economic growth forecasts were generally revised 
downward slightly in autumn 2004, the outlook for 2005 remains favourable. 
The National Bank anticipates a GDP growth rate of 1.5% to 2% for Swit-
zerland, i.e. roughly the same as in 2004. Employment should increase at a 
slightly stronger pace than in the previous year, with staffing resources gradu-
ally becoming tighter. Export growth should continue, and corporate invest-
ment activity is likely to rise further. The outlook for consumer spending also 
gives grounds for confidence. However, much depends on whether the coming 
year sees the recovery in the labour market as forecast. 



2000

2000

2001

2001

2002

2002

2003

2003

2004

2004

Gross domestic product and components

Year-on-year change
in percent, in real terms
Source: seco

Foreign trade

Volume, seasonally adjusted,
and smoothed
Index: 1997 = 100
Source: Federal Customs Administration

Labour market

In thousands,
seasonally adjusted,
and smoothed
Source: seco

GDP

Private consumption

Investment in fixed assets

Exports

Imports

Exports

Unemployed persons

Job seekers

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

105

110

115

120

125

130

135

0

50

100

150

200

250

SNB 19 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly



SNB 20 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly

The economic revival in 2004 was also reflected in the general price 
trend. The inflation stimuli generated by import and producer prices on down-
stream consumer prices strengthened during the course of the year. Whereas 
in the first quarter import prices were still 1.8% lower than a year previously, 
by the fourth quarter they were up 2.3% on the year-earlier level as a result 
of increases in the price of petroleum and metal products. Over the same pe-
riod, annual producer-price inflation increased by 0.8 percentage points to 
1.5%. Prices of goods destined for the domestic market rose considerably 
faster than export prices.

The trend was much the same at consumer level, with inflation meas-
ured by the national consumer price index rising from just 0.1% in the first 
quarter to 1.4% in the fourth quarter. This brought the average rate of con-
sumer price inflation for 2004 as a whole to 0.8%, as against 0.6% the pre-
vious year.

National consumer price index and components
 Year-on-year change in percent

 2003 2004 2004
   Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Overall CPI 0.6 0.8 0.1 0.9 0.9 1.4
Domestic goods and services 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.9 1.1
 Goods 0.6 0.5 0.9 0.7 0.3 0.1
 Services 0.9 1.0 0.6 0.9 1.1 1.4
  Private services (excluding rents) 1.0 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.8
  Rents 0.3 1.2 0.6 0.9 1.4 1.9
  Public services 2.1 1.9 1.4 2.1 2.0 2.2
Foreign goods and services 0.0 0.6 –1.8 0.9 1.1 2.2
 Excluding oil products –0.5 –0.8 –1.3 –0.5 –0.9 –0.6
 Oil products 3.2 9.3 –4.5 10.3 12.7 19.2
Core inflation (SNB) 0.7 0.8 0.5 0.8 0.8 1.1
Core inflation 1 (SFSO) 0.5 0.5 0.2 0.5 0.5 0.8
Core inflation 2 (SFSO) 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.6

The trend in prices was essentially driven by three forces. Firstly, 
there were sharp rises in the price of oil products (fuel and heating oil), with 
the fourth quarter seeing an 19.2% increase versus the previous year. Second-
ly, there was an upward movement in housing rents, which account for just 
under 20% of the basket of commodities forming the basis for the consumer 
price index. By the fourth quarter, rents had risen to 1.9%, from 0.6% at the 
beginning of the year. At 2.2%, prices of public services also increased quite 
substantially. By contrast, the rise in prices for other private services edged 
up only slightly. In the case of domestic goods, prices actually declined sig-
nificantly to stand at just 0.1% at the end of the year. Throughout the year, 
prices of imported goods (excluding oil products) were below their year-back 
levels. Averaged over the year, they declined by 0.8%. Falls in the price of 
electronic equipment in particular had a major impact.

Price trend in 2004

Moderate rise  
in consumer prices

Sources: SFSO, SNB

Dearer oil products, housing 
rents and public services
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The increase in the general inflationary trend was also reflected in the 
figures for core inflation, which should give an indication of the long-term 
inflation development. The core inflation rate computed by the National Bank 
– which for any given period excludes the 15% of goods with the highest an-
nual price variation and the 15% of goods with the lowest annual price varia-
tion from the basket of commodities forming the basis for the consumer price 
index – rose from 0.5% in the first quarter to 1.1% in the fourth quarter. The 
core inflation rates calculated by the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (SFSO), 
which exclude the same goods from the basket of commodities in each period, 
also signalled a slightly rising inflationary trend. In the fourth quarter, the 
rates came to 0.8% and 0.6% respectively.

In the first quarter, the three-month Libor remained stable at close 
to 0.25%. In the second quarter, the three-month rate began to rise, reach-
ing an average value of 0.32%. In the third quarter, it averaged 0.57%, and 
by November it had been adjusted to 0.75%. The three-month Libor remained 
roughly at this level until the end of the year. 

Whereas yields on Swiss Confederation bonds were still falling at 
the beginning of the year, they rose significantly in the spring. Between 
March and June, the yield on the ten-year Swiss Confederation bond climbed  
50 basis points to 3%. This rise was most apparent in the case of maturities 
of less than ten years. Capital market yields in the longer maturities remained 
stable, however, indicating that inflation expectations were unchanged for 
the long term. When the global economic outlook deteriorated over the sum-
mer months, the ten-year spot interest rate on Swiss Confederation bonds 
declined to 2.4%. These developments coincided with the sharp rise in oil 
prices.

Up until the autumn, the Swiss franc’s nominal exchange rate against 
the euro and the US dollar moved within a relatively narrow bandwidth. The 
real export-weighted Swiss franc also failed to exhibit a clear trend. Although 
it showed a slight tendency to weakness at the beginning of the year, the 
franc gained ground against the euro in the spring as the latter softened 
against the dollar. The dollar‘s recovery after a phase of weakness lasting al-
most three years stemmed from expectations of interest rate rises in the US, 
coupled with rises in US capital market yields in line with the country’s robust 
economic growth. However, in mid-October the dollar began to lose value. 
At the end of November, it slipped to a new record low against the euro and 
reached its lowest level since 1995 against the Swiss franc. The franc also ap-
preciated against the euro, though to a much lesser extent.

Slightly higher core inflation

Money market rates

Capital market  
yields still low

Pronounced weakness  
of the dollar
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The monetary aggregates expanded in line with the National Bank’s 
highly expansionary monetary policy in place since 2001. The reduction of 
the three-month Libor from 0.75% to 0.25% in March 2003 sparked an in-
crease in money growth. The negative money gap for M3 registered in 2001 
and 2002 gave way to an overhang at the beginning of 2003. A money over-
hang is a situation in which more money is available at a specific interest 
rate level than is required to finance economic activities. In 2004, the mon-
etary aggregates continued to grow year-on-year, although at a slower pace. 
In comparison with the corresponding year-back period, M1 and M2 began  
to contract in the summer, however, while M3 stagnated. After peaking in 
the first quarter of 2004, the money overhang declined. Among the factors 
which contributed to this decline were the two interest rate hikes in June and  
September 2004. Nevertheless, there was still a liquidity surplus at the end 
of 2004. Unless monetary policy is subsequently corrected, a money overhang 
can drive up prices over time. 

Reduced money overhang
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1.4  Monetary policy decisions

Four times a year – in March, June, September and December – the 
National Bank’s Governing Board conducts a regular assessment of the mon-
etary policy situation. Each of these assessments results in an interest 
rate decision. In certain situations, interest rate changes are also effected  
between the regular assessments. In the past year, however, this was not the 
case. 

At the quarterly assessment in December 2003, the National Bank as-
sumed that the Swiss economy would see increasingly broad-based growth of 
1.5–2% in 2004. On the assumption that the three-month Libor would remain 
constant at 0.25% for the next three years, it forecast annual average infla-
tion rates of 0.4% for 2004, 1.0% for 2005 and 2.3% for 2006. While point-
ing out that the economic upswing was not yet completely guaranteed, the 
Governing Board left the target range for the three-month Libor unchanged at 
0.0–0.75%, with a targeted rate of 0.25%. As the closure of the output gap, 
which had been negative since mid-2001, approached, however, inflationary 
pressure was expected to increase as of mid-2005. It became clear that the 
extremely expansionary monetary policy pursued in the preceding two years 
would have to be gradually corrected. For the time being, however, the inter-
est rate range was left unchanged. 

At the March 2004 assessment, it was confirmed that the economic 
upswing had gained momentum during the winter. While the data pointed to 
strong growth in the US, the recovery in Europe was still fraught with uncer-
tainties. The financial markets, too, remained sceptical about the upswing’s 
sustainability, as was evidenced by their expectations of an unchanged mon-
etary policy.

The inflation forecast issued in March largely corresponded to the De-
cember 2003 forecast. Based on the assumption that the three-month Libor 
would remain at 0.25% for the next three years, the 2004 inflation rate was 
put at less than 0.5% (disregarding minor fluctuations due to baseline ef-
fects). From the beginning of 2005 onwards, expansionary monetary policy 
coupled with the predicted closure of the output gap resulted in considerable 
dynamism in the price trend. The forecast for mid-2005 reached 1% and that 
for mid-2006 went up to 2%, rising to 3% towards the end of 2006. Conse-
quently, it had to be expected that an unchanged monetary policy would re-
sult in a breach of price stability. 

The outlook for the economic upswing in Switzerland had improved, 
and an early closure of the output gap was expected. Moreover, the econo-
my’s liquidity overhang had widened again. As a result, the forecast rise in 
the inflation trend moved closer. Even so, the time did not yet appear ripe 
for an adjustment of monetary policy: the economic recovery at home and 
abroad was still too shaky. It was important not to jeopardise the upswing 
in Switzerland with an over-hasty changeover to a more restrictive monetary 
policy. If the National Bank had raised interest rates at this point, the Swiss 
franc would have come under upward pressure. The Governing Board thus de-
cided to retain the strongly expansionary monetary policy. It left the target 
range for the three-month Libor at 0.0–0.75% (a level that had remained 
unchanged since 6 March 2003), and targeted a rate of 0.25%. In doing so, 
however, the National Bank indicated that it would not be able to continue 
its highly expansionary policy indefinitely without endangering price stabil-
ity. It thus announced that it would have to adjust its policy as soon as the 
economic upswing was clearly confirmed. 

Initial situation:  
quarterly assessment  
of 12 December 2003

Quarterly assessment  
of 18 March 2004
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At the June assessment, it was found that the prospects of a sustained 
improvement in the business climate had become more tangible. The National 
Bank was still expecting GDP to grow by 1.5% to 2%, but was now looking 
at the upper end of this range. The factors which it had cited as a reason 
for adhering to an unchanged monetary policy stance in March had changed. 
The world economy appeared considerably more robust. In the US, the up-
swing was now underpinned by a brisker labour market and a marked improve-
ment in order intake. The economic situation was improving in Europe, too. 
In Switzerland, a retrospective assessment of the economic situation looked 
more positive following the revision of statistical data, which indicated that 
the upswing had already been in progress for a year. Moreover, leading eco-
nomic indicators suggested that growth would accelerate in the second half 
of 2004. The historically low interest rate levels and the continuing growth 
in the money supply mirrored a highly expansionary monetary policy stance. 
The financial markets were anticipating a rise in the three-month Libor by  
25 basis points. The absence of any change in bond yields at the long end of 
the market implied that long-term inflation expectations had remained un-
changed. Meanwhile, yields on short to medium-term debt securities rose. The 
anticipation of a rate increase reflected in these yields substantially boosted 
the Swiss franc’s exchange rate against the euro prior to the quarterly assess-
ment scheduled for June.

As both the Swiss and international economies developed in line with 
the expectations voiced at the March 2004 assessment, the inflation out-
look was practically identical with that of the previous quarter, both for 
the medium and long term. Compared with March, the time at which ex-
pansionary monetary policy would start to have marked effects on infla-
tion moved closer again: less than a year remained until the reversal of 
the inflation trend. Given this background, the Governing Board decided on  
17 June 2004 to raise the interest rate target range by 0.25 percentage points 
to 0.0–1.0% and to keep the three-month Libor in the middle of this range 
(i. e. around 0.5%) until further notice. 

The new inflation forecast, which was based on a steady three-month 
Libor of 0.5%, showed a slightly higher inflation rate in the near term, due 
mainly to the unexpectedly sharp rise in prices of oil products. From mid-
2005 onwards, the analysis revealed an acceleration of future inflation ow-
ing to the anticipated closure of the output gap and the excessive supply of 
liquidity. Towards the middle of 2006, the predicted annual inflation rate ex-
ceeded the 2% price stability threshold, easily topping 3% by the end of the 
forecasting horizon.

Quarterly assessment  
of 17 June 2004
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The US economic data incorporated into the September assessment 
had worsened slightly during the summer. In Europe, the trend appeared to be 
steadier. Germany and France, the two largest economies, were expanding af-
ter having slowed down growth in the euro area in 2003. The Swiss economy, 
too, continued to recover – albeit at a rather slower pace than before. The 
oil price remained on its previous steep upward trajectory, and annual infla-
tion rose to approximately 1%. As in the lead-up to the June assessment, the 
three-month Libor showed signs of rising beyond the mid-point in the target 
range towards the end of August. The financial markets were evidently expect-
ing the September assessment to result in an interest rate hike. The Swiss 
franc weakened against the euro, even though the June increase in interest 
rates had narrowed the spread versus the higher yields on euro investments. 
Other indicators confirmed the impression that monetary policy was highly 
expansionary. In particular, real short-term interest rates were still negative 
despite the raising of the target range, and the monetary aggregates still 
pointed to an ample liquidity supply. 

The September analysis of the inflation outlook resulted in two changes  
from the June outlook. Up to mid-2005, forecast inflation was above the June 
figure due to the rise in the price of oil. In the longer term, slightly lower 
inflation potential was expected – this was ascribed to a reduction in the  
liquidity overhang. The medium-term inflation outlook was the same as  
in the previous quarters, reflecting the fact that economic developments had 
not changed. On the whole, the analysis of inflation prospects pointed to a 
rising inflation trend towards the end of 2005, leading to a permanent over-
shooting of the 2% mark in the course of 2006. 

Despite the mild slowdown in business activity and the slight easing 
of longer-term inflationary pressure by comparison with the previous quar-
ter’s predictions, monetary policy was still too expansionary. In light of the 
longer-term inflation forecast, the Governing Board decided at its assessment 
on 16 September 2004 to raise the target range for the three-month Libor by 
a further 0.25 percentage points to 0.25–1.25%. A three-month rate in the 
middle of this band (i.e. approximately 0.75%) was targeted. This second in-
terest rate increase in 2004 confirmed the National Bank’s basic confidence 
in a continuation of Switzerland’s economic upswing. Even after this second 
interest rate adjustment, the three-month Libor was low by historical stand-
ards, a sign of a clearly expansionary monetary policy. 

Quarterly assessment  
of 16 September 2004
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Global economic growth had decelerated slightly since mid-2004. 
While this was due in particular to the surge in oil prices, the economic slow-
down in Asia was also a contributing factor. In the EU, the weakening of the  
dollar created an additional burden. In the US, by contrast, economic growth 
remained sound. According to National Bank’s estimates, Swiss GDP grew by 
close to 2% on average in 2004. The SNB assumed that the economic upswing 
would continue in 2005. Given the slightly dimmer outlook for the global econo-
my, however, it was thought that the upswing was unlikely to strengthen fur-
ther, with real GDP growth put at around 1.5% to 2%. The price of oil (Brent  
crude) reached a peak of USD 52 at the end of October. Under the impact of 
the higher oil prices, the annual inflation rate rose up to 1.5% in November. 
However, the last assessment of 2004 was dominated less by oil prices than 
by the heavily weakened US dollar. Between mid-October, when the dollar’s 
decline accelerated, and mid-December, the US currency had lost 8% against 
the Swiss franc. In November, the real appreciation of the Swiss franc against 
the currencies of Switzerland’s 24 most important export markets – essen-
tially North America and Europe – came to 2.5% year-on-year. This real ap-
preciation against the currencies of Switzerland’s key trading partners, which 
was modest compared with the Swiss franc’s nominal appreciation against 
the dollar, was attributable not only to Switzerland’s lower inflation rates but 
also to the stable relationship between the euro and the franc. Overall, the 
real appreciation of the Swiss franc resulted in a more restrictive monetary 
environment, which had a dampening effect on inflation.

Based on an unchanged three-month Libor of 0.75%, December’s in-
flation forecast featured three changes compared with the September fore-
cast. Firstly, it forecast higher inflation in 2005. This reflected the renewed 
upsurge in the cost of oil products. Secondly, it predicted a weaker rise in 
inflation in 2006. The reason was the later-than-expected closure of the out-
put gap owing to an anticipated cyclical slowdown. Finally, lower inflationary 
pressure was also predicted over the longer term. This was due to the con-
tinuing reduction in the liquidity surplus, which had begun in the summer.

A combination of the slowdown in growth momentum, the marked 
weakening of the dollar and the decline in surplus liquidity had led to a  
reduction in the anticipated inflationary pressure, thus reducing the need 
for a further rise in interest rates. The Governing Board therefore decided to 
leave the target range for the three-month Libor unchanged at 0.25–1.25% 
and to keep the three-month rate in the middle of this range at 0.75%.  
Consequently, monetary policy remained expansionary. However, the SNB 
pointed out that the interest rate normalisation phase begun in June was not 
yet over, considering that the forecast predicted a rise in inflation over the 
medium term. 

Quarterly assessment  
of 16 December 2004
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The interest rate decisions taken at the 2004 quarterly assessments 
reflect the conflicting demands impinging on monetary policy. On the one 
hand, monetary policy was highly expansionary by historical standards – de-
spite the interest rate rises implemented. On the other hand, various impon-
derables complicated monetary policy decisions. While the March assessment 
was overshadowed by uncertainty over the sustainability of the economic re-
covery, the rise in oil prices led to an increasing risk of a deterioration in the 
domestic and international economic outlook. In the autumn, the sharp de-
preciation of the dollar made the assessment of the economic situation even 
more difficult.

One of the crucial issues affecting monetary policy in 2004 was the 
substantial rise in oil prices, which began in the spring. The National Bank’s 
June inflation forecast was still based on the premise that oil prices would 
ease in the near term. In its September forecast, the SNB was still assuming 
that oil prices would soon fall, albeit not to the level prior to the increase.  
Whereas the two interest rate hikes in June and September were motivated 
by the state of the economy and the excessive money supply, the sharp rise 
in oil prices – which increased inflationary pressure in the near term – did 
not prompt an interest rate move. There were three reasons to refrain from 
interest rate adjustments in response to firming oil prices. Firstly, it would 
be wrong to try to stabilise oil-price-related fluctuations in the price level 
by raising interest rates. Experience has shown that a monetary policy which 
seeks – by way of interest rate increases – to prevent oil price rises from hav-
ing an impact on the price level can significantly reinforce the adverse effect 
of such rises on the economy. Secondly, any attempt to compensate for an 
oil-price-related economic slowdown by cutting interest rates would be mis-
guided. It would merely increase the risk of a wage-price spiral. The greater 
the already existing liquidity surplus, the greater the likelihood of such  
second-round effects. Thirdly, the National Bank’s assumption that the higher 
oil prices were short-lived suggested that any inflationary impact of these 
prices would gradually recede of its own accord.

 

Monetary policy  
challenges in 2004 

Rise in oil prices  
as particular problem
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In retrospect, monetary policy in 2004 was shaped by the contrasting 
implications of short and long-term views. While the long-term perspective 
made a tightening of monetary policy appear desirable, uncertainties over the 
future course of the economy militated more in favour of a measured pace. 
The monetary policy stance adopted by the National Bank in 2004 was the 
result of having to strike a balance between these two considerations. On the 
one hand, the SNB’s interest rate decisions continued a very relaxed monetary 
policy that was designed to support the economy. On the other hand, how- 
ever, they were the first steps towards a normalisation of the interest rate level.  

1.5 Statistical activities

The entry into force of the new NBA and NBO on 1 May 2004 placed 
the statistical activities of the National Bank on a uniform legal footing. The 
National Bank’s powers in collecting statistical data are designed to help it 
fulfil its statutory tasks. They are invaluable for the conduct of monetary pol-
icy, but are also useful for the oversight of payment and securities settlement 
systems, for maintaining the stability of the financial system, for preparing 
the balance of payments and statistics on the international investment po-
sition, for international monetary cooperation and for the data analysis by 
international organisations. The National Bank collects the statistical data 
required for these tasks. Art. 4 NBO stipulates the principle that the National 
Bank must limit the number and type of the surveys to what is strictly neces-
sary. It seeks in particular to minimise the demands placed on those required 
to provide information. 

Monetary policy torn  
between short  
and long-term needs 

Legal basis
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Banks, stock exchanges, securities dealers, fund management com-
panies of Swiss investment funds and representatives of foreign investment 
funds are obliged to provide the National Bank with statistical data on their 
activities (art. 15 para. 1 NBA). Where necessary to analyse trends in the fi-
nancial markets, to obtain an overview of payment transactions or to prepare 
the balance of payments or the statistics on Switzerland’s international in-
vestment position, the National Bank may collect statistical data from other 
private individuals or legal entities on their business activities. This applies 
in particular to insurance companies, occupational pension institutions, in-
vestment and holding companies, as well as to operators of payment and se-
curities settlement systems such as the postal service (art. 15 para. 2 NBA). 

The National Bank must maintain confidentiality with respect to the 
data collected. It must publish the data it collects in the form of statistics. To 
maintain confidentiality, the data is aggregated (art. 16 NBA). The National  
Bank may exchange the data collected with the competent supervisory  
authorities of the Swiss financial market (art. 16 para. 4 NBA).

The National Bank manages a database containing 1.5 million time 
series, and publishes the results of its surveys. Statistical information is made 
available primarily in the Monthly Statistical Bulletin, in the Monthly Bul-
letin on Banking Statistics and in “Die Banken in der Schweiz” (statistical 
yearbook of banks in Switzerland). These publications are supplemented by 
reports on Switzerland’s balance of payments, the international investment 
position and direct investment. All publications are also accessible on the 
internet (www.snb.ch). 

In mid-2004, the National Bank began a one-year trial involving the 
collection of data on the terms and conditions of new loans extended to com-
panies (lending rate statistics). The data includes such details as the loan 
amount, loan interest rate and loan maturity, as well as information on col- 
lateral and borrower attributes. The National Bank can use this data to ana-
lyse the effects of its interest rate decisions on the banks’ lending activities.

Under an agreement with PostFinance, the latter will regularly provide 
the National Bank with data on its business performance – comprising month-
ly balance sheets and an annual income statement. The survey of investment 
funds was revised in line with trends in the funds business and was prepared 
for introduction next year. 

In collaboration with the SFSO, the National Bank continued with the 
preparatory work for the production of financial accounts for Switzerland. 
These financial accounts will show the flows of funds between different sec-
tors of the economy. They will provide information that is invaluable for mon-
etary policy as well as close a major gap in the system of national accounts. 
This will also enable Switzerland to meet a requirement under the bilateral 
statistical agreement with the EU. 

Purpose of statistical  
activities

Confidentiality  
and exchange of data

Surveys and database
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Preparatory work  
for financial accounts
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In compiling statistical data, the National Bank cooperates with the 
competent federal government bodies, notably the SFSO and the Swiss Fed-
eral Banking Commission (SFBC), the competent authorities of other coun-
tries and international organisations (art. 14 para. 2 NBA). With regard to 
organisational and procedural issues, and when introducing new surveys or 
modifying existing ones, the reporting institutions – together with their as-
sociations – are given the opportunity to comment (art. 7 NBO). 

On the basis of art. 16 NBA, the National Bank concluded an agree-
ment with the SFSO concerning reciprocal exchanges of data in selected areas 
of economic statistics. The agreement is reviewed annually. 

An agreement was reached with the SFBC on reciprocal exchanges 
of data in the financial sector. Under the agreement, information from the 
banks, which is primarily of supervisory relevance, flows from the National 
Bank to the Banking Commission. The National Bank will thus serve as a “data 
hub” between the banks and the SFBC.

The National Bank is advised on the content of its banking surveys by 
the banking statistics committee (art. 7 NBO). The committee comprises rep-
resentatives of the Swiss commercial banks, the Swiss Bankers’ Association, 
the SFBC and the Liechtenstein banks. 

A group of experts under the direction of the National Bank partici-
pate in drawing up the balance of payments. This group comprises repre-
sentatives from industry, the insurance sector, various federal agencies and 
the Swiss Institute for Business Cycle Research at the Swiss Federal Institute 
of Technology. 

The National Bank cooperates closely with the Bank for International 
Settlements (BIS), the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Develop-
ment (OECD), the Statistical Office of the European Communities (Eurostat), 
and the International Monetary Fund (IMF). This cooperation is aimed at har-
monising statistical survey methods and analyses.

Broad cooperation

… with the SFSO

… with the SFBC
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2 Supplying the money market with liquidity

One of the tasks of the National Bank is to provide the Swiss franc 
money market with liquidity (art. 5 para. 2 (a) National Bank Act (NBA)). The 
transactions that the National Bank can carry out with financial market par-
ticipants are listed in art. 9 NBA. Based on art. 9 para. 1 (e) NBA, the SNB 
also acts as lender of last resort. 

The “Guidelines of the Swiss National Bank on Monetary Policy In-
struments” of 25 March 2004 put art. 9 NBA into more concrete terms and 
describe the instruments and procedures used by the National Bank for the 
implementation of its monetary policy. They also define the conditions un-
der which these transactions are concluded and what securities can be used 
as collateral for monetary policy operations with the National Bank. For its 
transactions, the National Bank accepts securities in selected currencies that 
fulfil certain liquidity and credit-rating criteria. Basically, all banks domiciled 
in Switzerland and internationally active banks abroad that meet the condi-
tions stipulated by the National Bank are accepted as SNB counterparties. 
The Guidelines are supplemented by five Instruction Sheets issued by the Na-
tional Bank and are primarily aimed at the counterparties. Since May 2004, 
the SNB has been publishing a weekly report containing important monetary 
policy data.

2.1  Regular instruments  
 for steering the money market

All regular monetary policy instruments of the National Bank, with 
the exception of Lombard advances, are based on repo transactions. In a repo 
transaction, the cash taker sells securities to the cash provider. At the same 
time, it enters into an agreement to repurchase securities of the same type 
and amount from the cash provider at a later point in time. The cash taker 
pays interest (repo rate) for the duration of the transaction. From an eco-
nomic perspective, a repo is a secured loan.

The purpose of the National Bank’s main financing operations is to 
provide the banking system with liquidity, while that of liquidity absorbing 
operations is to withdraw surplus liquidity from the system. 

Where main financing operations are concerned, transactions are con-
cluded by way of auction. The auctions in turn are conducted by volume ten-
der – in other words, the National Bank’s counterparties request a certain 
amount of liquidity at a fixed price (repo rate). The repo rate, the size of 
the individual operations and their maturities depend on monetary policy re-
quirements. The maturity of repo transactions varies from a day (overnight) 
to several weeks. In exceptional circumstances, contracts may run for several 
months. The National Bank sets the maturities of repo transactions in such a 
way that the commercial banks have to request liquidity on an almost daily 
basis in order to achieve the average level of sight deposits necessary to meet 
the minimum reserve requirements in a reporting period. 

Mandate
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Fine-tuning operations are used to offset both the undesired impact of  
external factors on liquidity supply as well as sharp fluctuations in short-term 
money market rates. Fine-tuning is carried out via bilateral repo transactions 
that are concluded when necessary, the conditions for which may vary from 
those used for main financing operations. 

During the day, the National Bank provides its counterparties with 
interest-free liquidity (intraday liquidity) through repo transactions so as to 
facilitate the settlement of payment transactions via Swiss Interbank Clear-
ing (SIC) and foreign exchange transactions via Continuous Linked Settlement 
(CLS), the multilateral payment system. The cash amounts received must be 
repaid by the end of the same bank working day at the latest. Consequently, 
these funds are not included when evaluating compliance with liquidity re-
quirements under banking law or with minimum reserve requirements. 

The National Bank provides a liquidity-shortage financing facility to 
bridge unexpected, short-term liquidity bottlenecks. The interest rate for li-
quidity provided through this facility is two percentage points above the call 
money rate. The reference rate is the Overnight Repo Index (SNB) for the pre-
vious bank working day. The interest premium is intended to prevent commer-
cial banks from using the facility as a permanent source of refinancing. 

At present, two instruments are available: conventional Lombard ad-
vances and special-rate repo transactions. By the end of 2005, however, Lom-
bard advances will be completely replaced by special-rate repo transactions. 
During the transition phase, the Lombard rate will correspond to the special- 
rate. The precondition for concluding special-rate repo transactions is that a 
limit be granted by the National Bank and that this limit be covered by col-
lateral eligible for SNB repos. The limit determines the maximum amount of 
liquidity that a counterparty may obtain, and it is utilised in the form of an 
overnight repo transaction. The securities are held by the counterparty in a 
Custody Cover Account “SNB“ at SIS.

 

Fine-tuning operations

Intraday facility
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Repo transactions in detail

2.2  Liquidity supply with the different facilities
 
 Instruments for money market operations in CHF billions

 2003  2004 
 Holding  Turnover Holding Turnover

 Average  Average

Repo transactions
Main financing  
and fine-tuning operations 23.55 1 017.90 22.31 1 087.15
Maturities of 
 less than 1 week 1.44 236.39 0.48 95.42
 1 week 8.38 436.40 16.06 852.12
 2 weeks 11.12 286.41 4.42 115.59
 3 weeks 2.29 39.81 1.07 13.52
 Other 0.32 18.89 0.28 10.50
Liquidity-absorbing operations 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Intraday facility 5.97 1 489.23 6.19 1 584.13
Liquidity-shortage 
financing facility  0.02 4.03 0.00 0.52

In 2004, the average volume of the National Bank’s repo transactions 
still outstanding at the end of the day fell by CHF 1.2 billion to CHF 22.3 bil-
lion. The decline is due in particular to the lower level of the Swiss Confed-
eration’s balances at the National Bank. 

Up until June 2004, the National Bank offered liquidity to banks at a 
stable repo rate of 0.11%. Parallel to the increase in the target range for the 
three-month Libor in June and September 2004, the National Bank also raised 
its repo rates. These rates varied – as they did before the policy of keeping in-
terest rates close to zero percent – according to monetary policy requirements 
and the situation in the money market. In December, the National Bank’s repo 
rates fluctuated between 0.50% and 0.56%.

Unlike the volume of outstanding repo transactions, the turnover – in 
other words the sum of all repo transactions concluded by the National Bank –  
climbed in 2004 by CHF 69.3 billion to CHF 1,087.2 billion. This was due to 
the fact that a greater number of these transactions were concluded with 
shorter maturities. At CHF 852.1 billion, the turnover of repo transactions 
with a one-week maturity was almost twice that of the year-earlier level. By 
contrast, the turnover of transactions with other maturities fell back.

Banks’ daily demand for liquidity at the repo auctions of the National 
Bank fluctuated in 2004 between CHF 0.9 billion and CHF 68.6 billion, with 
the average being CHF 24.0 billion. The amount of liquidity allocated see-
sawed between CHF 0.9 billion and CHF 10.4 billion, with the annual aver-
age amounting to CHF 3.9 billion. The allocation rate moved between 5%  
and 100%.

Compared with the previous year, the average degree of use of the in-
traday facility by banks rose in 2004 from CHF 6.0 billion to CHF 6.2 billion.

As in 2003, the liquidity-shortage financing facility used to bridge 
unexpected liquidity bottlenecks was only occasionally called upon in 2004. 
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2.3  Further monetary policy instruments

In addition to the regular monetary policy instruments, the National 
Bank also has further instruments at its disposal, as per art. 9 para. 1 NBA: 
foreign exchange spot and forward transactions, foreign exchange swaps, the 
issuance of its own interest-bearing debt certificates, and the purchase and 
sale of securities in Swiss francs. It can also create, purchase or sell deriva-
tives on receivables, securities, precious metals and currency pairs. In the 
1980s and 1990s, foreign exchange swaps were the principle monetary policy 
instrument of the National Bank. Since 2000, however, they are only used 
by way of exception. Own interest-bearing debt certificates can be issued to 
absorb surplus liquidity. In exceptional cases, the National Bank influences 
long-term interest rates by purchasing or selling securities in Swiss francs. 
These instruments were rarely used in 2004.

2.4  Emergency liquidity assistance

Within the context of emergency liquidity supply, the National Bank 
can provide emergency liquidity assistance to one or more domestic banks if 
they are no longer able to refinance their operations in the market. This facil-
ity is subject to the following conditions: the bank or group of banks requir-
ing credit must be of systemic importance for the stability of the financial 
system, the bank in question must be solvent, and finally, sufficient collateral 
must be provided at all times to cover the liquidity assistance.

A bank or group of banks is of systemic importance if its inability to 
pay would seriously impair the functioning of the Swiss financial system, or 
major parts thereof, and have a negative impact on the economy. To assess the  
solvency of a bank or group of banks, the National Bank obtains an opinion 
from the Swiss Federal Banking Commission (SFBC). The National Bank deter-
mines what collateral is sufficient. Emergency liquidity assistance may also 
be provided in foreign currencies. 

In 2004, such assistance was not required – neither by a bank nor 
group of banks.

Liquidity  
assistance conditions

Systemic importance  
of financial institutions
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Liquidity volumes in 2004

New minimum  
reserve regulation

2.5  Cash liquidity and minimum reserves

In 2004 (20.12.2003 to 19.12.2004), the required cash liquidity 
funds amounted to CHF 8.4 billion on average, while available funds totalled 
an average of CHF 11.5 billion. Consequently, the annual average of surplus 
liquidity stood at CHF 3.1 billion, which corresponded to a liquidity ratio of 
137%.

With the entry into force of the new NBA on 1 May 2004, the cash 
liquidity provisions – which had been based on the Banking Act – were re-
placed by the minimum reserve regulation in the new NBA (arts. 17, 18, 22). 
This regulation entered into effect on 1 January 2005. The purpose of mini-
mum reserves is to secure a minimum level of demand for base money, thus 
fulfilling a monetary policy objective. Given this change, amendments needed 
to be made to the existing provisions on cash liquidity, both with regard to 
eligible assets and relevant liabilities. Eligible assets in Swiss francs now 
comprise only coins in circulation, banknotes and sight deposits held at the 
National Bank. Assets no longer eligible are PostFinance credit balances as 
well as credit balances at one of the clearing centres recognised by the SFBC. 
The principal changes to the relevant liabilities concern those liabilities vis-
à-vis banks, on the one hand (minimum reserves must now be held only on 
liabilities vis-à-vis banks not subject to minimum reserve requirements), and 
money market paper and medium-term notes, for which minimum reserves 
must now be held, on the other hand. If a bank fails to fulfil the minimum 
reserve requirement, it has to pay the National Bank interest on the shortfall 
for a period of 30 days. The interest rate is three percentage points higher 
than the one-month Libor for Swiss franc investments averaged over the re-
spective reporting period.
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3  Ensuring the supply of cash

3.1  Cash transactions

According to art. 5 para. 2 (b) of the National Bank Act (NBA), the 
National Bank shall guarantee the supply and distribution of cash in Swit-
zerland. In conjunction with the commercial banks, their jointly operated  
organisations and Swiss Post, the National Bank ensures an efficient and se-
cure payment system.

The National Bank deals with the head and regional offices of the 
commercial banks, Swiss Post and Swiss Federal Railways (SBB). It offsets 
seasonal fluctuations in the demand for banknotes and replaces notes that 
are unfit for circulation. The role of retailer, which also includes the immedi-
ate redistribution of cash, is assumed by commercial banks, Swiss Post and 
cash processing operators. 

Since 2003, cash processing operators have been able to request cash 
deposit facilities at the National Bank. These facilities are banknote and coin 
stocks which the National Bank sets up with third parties, while still retaining 
ownership. The third parties use the holdings in these facilities, exchanging 
cash for their sight deposits at the SNB. One year after the first cash deposit 
facility was set up, the National Bank recorded a drop both in its own number 
of incoming and outgoing banknotes and in the number of transports made 
by the operators of cash deposit facilities. Consequently, the supply and dis-
tribution of cash have become more efficient. 

In 2004, the National Bank’s offices registered currency turnover 
amounting to CHF 124.4 billion, as compared with CHF 132.2 billion a year 
earlier. They received 407 million banknotes (previous year: 425 million). The 
value of incoming coins stood at CHF 289.2 million (previous year: CHF 275.3 
million), their weight at 1,498 tonnes (previous year: 1,414 tonnes). The Na-
tional Bank examined a proportion of the coins received with regard to quan-
tity, quality and authenticity.

The agencies’ turnover stabilised in the year under review at a level 
of CHF 14.3 billion, compared with CHF 14.1 billion a year earlier. Agencies 
are cash distribution services operated by cantonal banks on behalf of the 
National Bank. They are responsible for the distribution and redemption of 
cash in their region. In order to do this, the agencies have access to cash be-
longing to the National Bank. In previous years, the reorganisation of Swiss 
Post and the emergence of cash processing operators led to a steady decline 
in the agencies’ turnover. Despite the diminishing importance of its agency 
network, the National Bank is still interested in its maintenance. 

The National Bank can grant banks the authority to act as correspond-
ents in areas in which it itself is not active. Together with the post offices, 
these banks perform local cash redistribution transactions. The domestic cor-
respondents supplied 2.6 million banknotes (previous year: CHF 3.8 million). 
Turnover in this category is also highly dependent on the activity of the cash 
processing operators.
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Mandate

Banknote circulation

Issue and disposal

3.2  Banknotes

Pursuant to art. 7 of the Federal Act on Currency and Payment Instru-
ments (CPIA), the National Bank shall issue banknotes commensurate with 
demand for payment purposes and take back any banknotes which are worn, 
damaged or no longer needed. It also determines the denomination and de-
sign of the notes. Particular attention is paid to the security of the notes. 
Given the speed at which counterfeiting technology is advancing, it has be-
come absolutely essential that the security features on the banknotes be 
continuously checked and, if necessary, adjusted, as was the case for example 
with the perforated number (known as Microperf) on the small notes. New 
security features are developed in close cooperation with third parties. This 
applies in particular to the long-term project on the introduction of a new 
banknote series, for which initial preparatory steps were taken in 2004.

In 2004, banknote circulation averaged CHF 36.2 billion (previous 
year: CHF 35.7 billion). This increase is primarily attributable to a corre-
sponding development in the 1,000-franc notes. This denomination is gen-
erally held as a store of value. The number of notes in circulation in 2004 
amounted to 271.9 million on average (previous year: 269.3 million). The rise 
is attributable to GDP growth, the replacement of the 200-franc note with the 
20-franc note in ATMs, and the increasing demand for 10-franc notes.

In 2004, the National Bank put 108.6 million (previous year: 120 mil-
lion) freshly printed banknotes with a face value of CHF 8.7 billion into cir-
culation (previous year: 8.6 billion), and destroyed 112.7 million (previous 
year: 115.2 million) damaged or recalled notes with a nominal value of CHF 
8.2 billion (previous year: 9.0 billion).

Banknotes in circulation
Denominations (in millions)

CHF 10s: 59

CHF 20s: 60

CHF 50s: 33

CHF 100s: 73

CHF 200s: 27

CHF 1,000s: 20

Annual average
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In the period under review, roughly 3,000 banknotes were confiscated 
in Switzerland; the National Bank’s offices alone discovered 244 counterfeits 
(previous year: 190). By international standards, 12 seized counterfeit notes 
per million of Swiss franc notes in circulation is rather low. Moreover, the 
counterfeits are by and large of poor quality.

3.3  Coins

The National Bank is entrusted by the Swiss Confederation with the 
task of coin circulation. Its role is defined in art. 5 CPIA. In essence, the SNB 
must put the number of coins required for payment purposes into circulation 
and take back those coins that are surplus to requirements – without restric-
tion and against reimbursement of the nominal value. The National Bank’s 
coinage services are not remunerated, as these constitute part of the mandate 
to supply the country with cash. 

At CHF 2.4 billion (previous year: CHF 2.3 billion), average coin  
circulation in 2004 almost equalled the year-earlier level. The number and 
denomination of coins in circulation depend greatly on the degree of coin 
machine usage.

In 2004, demand for new coins amounted to 32 million units (previous 
year: 39.5 million), with a nominal value of approximately CHF 10.5 million  
(previous year: CHF 13.7 million). A large proportion of these coins replace 
those taken out of the country by tourists.

Counterfeits
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Mandate
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4  Securing cashless payment systems

In accordance with art. 5 para. 2 (c) of the National Bank Act (NBA), 
the National Bank shall facilitate and secure the operation of cashless pay-
ment systems.

4.1  Facilitating cashless payment transactions

The National Bank plays a vital role not only where cash is concerned, 
but also in cashless payment transactions. As defined in art. 9 NBA, the Na-
tional Bank may keep interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing accounts for 
banks and other financial market participants. Payments in these accounts are 
settled via Swiss Interbank Clearing (SIC). SIC is what is known as a real-time 
gross settlement system. While it is run and monitored by the National Bank, 
SIC is operated by Swiss Interbank Clearing AG – a subsidiary of Telekurs 
Group – on behalf of the National Bank. Telekurs Group, in turn, is a joint 
venture among Swiss banks.

The National Bank settles its monetary policy transactions via SIC. 
The monetary policy instruments are designed to be transacted through SIC. 
This means that institutions wishing to effect repo transactions with the Na-
tional Bank, for example, must be connected to SIC. The daily transaction vol-
ume in SIC resulting from monetary policy-based money market transactions 
amounts to roughly CHF 10 billion.

The National Bank fulfils its statutory mandate of facilitating and se-
curing cashless payment transactions by performing operational functions in 
SIC. It opens the new value date and transfers the necessary funds from the 
banks’ sight deposit accounts held at the National Bank to the appropriate 
SIC clearing accounts. SIC AG uses these accounts to settle payments elec-
tronically. Over the course of the day, the National Bank monitors operations 
and supplies the system with sufficient liquidity. To this end, it grants intra-
day loans to the commercial banks when necessary. It then closes the value 
day by transferring the balances from the SIC clearing accounts back to the 
sight deposit accounts at the National Bank. The National Bank is also re-
sponsible for the administrative tasks. It handles applications for sight de-
posit accounts, which, once opened, entitle account holders to participate in 
SIC. In addition, the National Bank is responsible for crisis management. In 
2004, it had to summon the crisis management committee on one occasion, 
following a failure during data transfer. 
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Conceptual issues

Key figures on SIC

The National Bank influences the development of the SIC system on a 
conceptual level. It approves in the last instance changes and enhancements 
to the transaction process operated by SIC AG. Furthermore, National Bank 
employees are active in numerous technical working groups. These bodies 
support the Board of Directors of SIC AG in the decision-making process by 
dealing with the operation and development of payment system applications, 
drawing up technical, administrative and procedural documentation for the 
payment systems, and defining new functionalities and services, among other 
things. In 2004, these bodies dealt primarily with security issues, standardi-
sation and harmonisation problems in connection with the globalisation of 
the financial markets, and the automation of payment procedures.

At the end of 2004, 306 participants were connected to SIC, as com-
pared with 307 the previous year. In 2004, a total of 816,000 payments 
amounting to CHF 163 billion were settled each day. On peak days, however, 
SIC processed over 2.2 million transactions totalling roughly CHF 273 billion. 
The average amount per transaction was approximately CHF 200,000 – the 
downward trend of the past few years thus prevailed. Bank clients are using 
the retail payment application DTA (data exchange carrier) at SIC AG less and 
less frequently to process their retail payments, such as wage and pension 
payments or payments to suppliers. Instead, they settle these transactions 
directly via their own banks, which process the payments individually via SIC 
rather than in batches. The volume of transactions settled via the retail pay-
ment application in 2004 amounted to CHF 229.2 billion, compared with CHF 
269.5 billion the previous year. At present, roughly 85% of all transactions 
settled in SIC are smaller than CHF 5,000 (low-value payments). Payments 
greater than CHF 1 million (high-value payments) account for just slightly 
more than 1%. The situation with regards to volume is the other way around: 
high-value payments account for approximately 95% of the turnover, low- 
value payments for only 0.5%. The turnover resulting from National Bank 
transactions amounts to roughly 15%. 

Key figures on SIC

 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

     
Transactions (in thousands)     
Daily average 595 644 705 768 816
Highest daily value of the year 1 821 2 078 1 874 2 145 2 215
Volume (in CHF billions)     
Daily average 178 182 180 178 163
Highest daily value of the year 291 274 270 284 273
Amount per transactions 
(in CHF thousands) 299 282 253 232 200
Average liquidity (in CHF millions)
Sight deposits at the end of the day 3 336 3 339 3 327 4 811 5 339
Intraday liquidity 2 074 2 566 3 897 5 972 6 188
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 4.2  Oversight of payment  
 and securities settlement systems

The NBA (art. 5 para. 2 (c) and arts. 19–21) obliges the National 
Bank to oversee systems for the clearing and settlement of payments (pay-
ment systems) and transactions involving financial instruments, in particular 
securities (securities settlement systems). Furthermore, the National Bank is 
authorised to demand that minimum requirements be fulfilled with respect 
to the operation of systemically important payment and securities settlement 
systems. It thus focuses on those systems from which risks for the stability of 
the financial system may emanate. 

The National Bank Ordinance (NBO) entered into force on 1 May 2004 
together with the NBA. In arts. 18–39, the NBO details system oversight, 
namely the criteria determining which payment and securities settlement 
systems are systemically important, the minimum requirements demanded of 
these systems, and the review of compliance with the minimum requirements 
and procedures. 

The essence of the NBO provisions relevant to system oversight are 
the minimum requirements listed in arts. 22–34 – these aim primarily to mini-
mise credit, liquidity and operational risks. The said requirements include 
provisions on the corporate governance of the system operator, as well as on 
contractual foundations, system regulations and procedures, access, and IT 
security. The minimum requirements are based largely on international stand-
ards – namely the “Core Principles for Systemically Important Payment Sys-
tems” and the “Recommendations for Securities Settlement Systems” – which 
were published by the BIS Committee on Payment and Settlement Systems 
(CPSS) and by CPSS in association with the Technical Committee of the Inter-
national Organization for Securities Commission (IOSCO) respectively. 

In order for the National Bank to be able to review compliance with 
the minimum requirements, the operators are bound by a comprehensive in-
formation and reporting obligation (arts. 35–36 NBO). In particular, they are 
required to provide the National Bank with information on all the necessary 
areas and grant it full authority to inspect the infrastructures on site. They 
must also submit certain reports and statistics periodically.

Focus on systemically  
important payment and  
securities settlement  
systems

Regulation of details  
in the NBO

Risk mitigation with  
minimum requirements 

Comprehensive information 
and reporting obligation of 
system operators
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Determining which payment and securities settlement systems are of 
systemic importance is significant insofar as these systems are the only ones 
required to fulfil the minimum requirements of the National Bank. All sys-
tems subject to the disclosure obligation were evaluated. This obligation ap-
plies both to operators of payment systems that settle payments in excess of  
CHF 25 billion per financial year, as well as to all operators of securities 
settlement systems. After the NBA entered into effect, the following system 
operators registered within the three-month notification period: Swiss In-
terbank Clearing AG for the payment systems Swiss Interbank Clearing (SIC); 
the data carrier exchange (DTA) and the direct debit procedure (LSV); SIS 
SegaInterSettle AG for the securities settlement system SECOM; SIS x-clear AG 
for the central counterparty x-clear; CLS Bank International for the multicur-
rency payment system Continuous Linked Settlement (CLS); and PostFinance 
for various services related to retail payments. In addition, the euroSIC clear-
ing system operated by Swiss Euro Clearing Bank (SECB) was also evaluated.

The evaluation was carried out in accordance with the criteria listed 
in art. 20 NBO. These criteria were specified further and weighted according 
to their importance. The following factors were given particular priority: the 
types of transactions that are cleared or settled through the system, the type 
and number of links existing between a system and other payment and secu-
rities settlement systems, and the possibility of switching at short notice to 
the system of another operator.

The following four systems were categorised as systemically impor-
tant: SIC, x-clear, SECOM and CLS. The first three – SIC, x-clear and SECOM 
– belong to the Swiss Value Chain and, together with the electronic stock 
exchange SWX, form the core of Switzerland’s financial market infrastructure. 
These systems are used almost exclusively for clearing and settling financial 
market transactions. Participants include various financial intermediaries with 
an important role to play in the Swiss financial market. Operational problems 
occurring in one of these systems, and causing liquidity shortages among par-
ticipants as a result, could have a negative impact on the functioning of the 
other connected systems. With the exception of x-clear, the payments trans-
acted in these systems are so large that a system failure would be enough 
to jeopardise the economy’s supply of liquidity. Moreover, if a system mal-
functions – particularly where SIC and SECOM are concerned – no alternative 
systems exist for the settlement of payments or securities transactions. The 
systemic importance of x-clear is primarily attributable to the concentration 
of various counterparty risks. 

Disclosure obligation  
in determining  
relevant systems

Evaluation using  
different criteria

SIC, x-clear, SECOM and  
CLS rated as systemically  
important systems



SNB 49 Accountability Report for the Federal Assembly

CLS is a global system enabling the settlement of foreign exchange 
transactions. At the end of 2004, transactions were settled in 15 different 
currencies according to the payment-versus-payment principle. The New York-
based operator of CLS was exempted from compliance with the minimum re-
quirements as the system is already adequately overseen by the Federal Re-
serve Bank of New York and because the exchange of information with the 
National Bank runs smoothly.

The remaining systems that were evaluated – DTA, LSV, euroSIC and 
PostFinance – were classified as not systemically important. These systems 
predominantly settle retail payments. While the transaction volumes are very 
high, the actual amounts processed are relatively low. Although the transac-
tions cleared via DTA and LSV are settled in SIC, they nonetheless have no 
major influence on the high-value payments systems, neither with regard to 
operational problems nor participants’ liquidity bottlenecks. The same applies 
to PostFinance, which is also connected directly to SIC for certain payments. 
Moreover, with these systems, it is possible to switch at short notice to other 
retail payment systems. In consideration of these facts, it can therefore be 
assumed that these systems pose no threat to the supply of liquidity to the 
financial sector.

The Swiss Federal Banking Commission (SFBC), which was consulted 
by the National Bank in accordance with the procedure laid down in the NBO 
with regard to compliance with minimum requirements, endorsed the SNB’s 
classification into systemically important and not systemically important pay-
ment and securities settlement systems. 

Swiss-based operators of securities settlement systems – SIS SegaInter-
Settle AG and SIS x-clear AG – also have the status of a bank and are thus 
subject to supervision by the SFBC. Given that the provisions in the Banking 
Act and the minimum requirements stipulated in the NBO are partly similar 
in content, the SFBC and the National Bank discussed ways of delimiting the 
respective competencies and providing an efficient exchange of information 
in an effort to avoid overlaps.

Cooperation with authorities abroad is necessary also in the case of 
internationally active system operators. Where CLS is concerned, the National 
Bank participates in an international supervision framework, which in addi-
tion to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, includes all central banks whose 
currency transactions are settled via CLS Bank International in New York. In 
July 2004, the National Bank, together with the European Central Bank (ECB) 
and the UK Financial Services Authority (FSA), signed a “Memorandum of Un-
derstanding on Coordination and Cooperation for the Supervision and Over-
sight of x-clear”. As a result, x-clear was granted the status of Recognised 
Overseas Clearing House (ROCH) in the UK.

CLS exempt from  
minimum requirements

Not systemically important 
retail payment systems 

Cooperation with the SFBC

Cooperation with  
authorities abroad
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Mandate

Monetary assets

Free assets

5  Investment of assets

5.1  Basic principles

Under art. 5 para. 2 of the National Bank Act (NBA), the National 
Bank is responsible for managing the currency reserves. Asset management 
is governed by the primacy of monetary policy and must be implemented  
according to the criteria of liquidity, security and return. Within these pa-
rameters, investments are to be made in line with the principles of modern 
asset management. Diversification of investment aims at achieving an ad-
equate risk/return profile. In view of the extended investment possibilities 
under the new NBA, the National Bank issued Investment Policy Guidelines 
on 27 May 2004. These define the scope of investment activity as well as the 
investment and risk control process to be followed. 

The National Bank’s assets essentially consist of foreign currency 
reserves, gold reserves and financial assets in Swiss francs (securities and 
claims from repo transactions). They fulfil important monetary policy func-
tions. Their composition is determined mainly by the established monetary 
order and the requirements of monetary policy. Part of the assets, includ-
ing claims from repo transactions, serve directly for implementing monetary  
policy. By concluding repo transactions, the National Bank purchases secu-
rities from commercial banks on a temporary basis and supplies liquidity in the  
form of base money. By setting the terms for these repo transactions, the SNB 
influences the interest rate level on the money market. Swiss franc assets are 
supplemented by a bond portfolio in Swiss francs. The National Bank holds 
currency reserves – in the form of foreign currency and gold – in order to have 
room for manoeuvre in monetary policy at any time. Currency reserves serve 
to prevent and overcome possible crises. 

In addition to these assets necessary for monetary policy, the Nation-
al Bank also manages the proceeds from the sale of the surplus gold reserves. 
These proceeds are managed separately, but are not shown separately in the 
balance sheet as they do not constitute separate assets in the legal sense.
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5.2  Investment and risk control process

Within the framework of the new NBA, the National Bank’s mandate in 
the area of asset management was described in detail and the competencies 
defined. The Governing Board decides on the composition of the currency re-
serves and the investment of other assets. The Bank Council is responsible for 
the integral oversight of the investment and risk control process. It assesses 
the principles of the process and monitors compliance with them. A Risk Com-
mittee composed of three members of the Bank Council supports the Bank 
Council in this task. In particular, the Risk Committee monitors the SNB’s risk 
management. Risk reporting is carried out by the competent organisational 
unit which reports directly to the Governing Board and the Bank Council’s 
Risk Committee. To avoid conflicts of interest, the responsibilities for mon-
etary policy and investment policy operations are largely separated – to the 
extent possible – on the operational level. 

The Governing Board defines the requirements with regard to security 
and liquidity of the investments as well as the eligible currencies, investment 
categories, instruments and debtors. It generally decides on the investment 
strategy once a year. The investment strategy encompasses the allocation of 
total assets to the different portfolios and guidelines for their management, 
in particular the allocation to different currencies and investment categories. 
Furthermore, part of the strategy is the leeway for active management on the 
operational level. 

On the operational level, an internal Investment Committee deter-
mines the tactical allocation. Within the prescribed range, it adjusts the cur-
rency allocations, duration or the allocation to the different investment cat-
egories to changing market conditions. Finally, the individual portfolios are 
managed by the portfolio managers. The majority of investments are managed 
by internal portfolio managers. External asset managers are used in order to 
get access to investment categories such as US mortgage-backed securities in 
an efficient manner. For comparison purposes with internal portfolio manage-
ment, other mandates are outsourced. 

 The investment strategy is based on the quantitative specifications 
as to risk tolerance and liquidity of the investments, and on comprehensive 
risk/return analyses. Risk management and risk limitation is carried out by 
means of a system using reference portfolios, guidelines and limits. All rel-
evant financial risks on investments are continuously compiled, assessed and  
monitored. Risk measurement is based on standard risk indicators and pro-
cedures. While market risk is mainly assessed by means of sensitivity and Value- 
at-Risk (VaR) analyses, credit risk is appraised using information from major 
rating agencies. Risk indicators are aggregated over all investments. Com-
pliance with all the key guidelines and limits is monitored on a daily basis.  
A quarterly risk report to the attention of the Governing Board and the  
Bank Council’s Risk Committee documents the results of risk management  
activities.

Responsibilities of Bank 
Council and Risk Committee 

… Governing Board

… Investment Committee 
and Portfolio Management

… Risk Management
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Composition of assets

Broader investment  
spectrum

5.3  Development of the asset structure

The National Bank manages currency reserves of a little over CHF 60 
billion, two-thirds of which are held in foreign currency investments and 
one-third in gold. In addition to this are approximately 30 billion Swiss franc 
assets in the form of balances from repo transactions and bond investments 
in the domestic capital market. The currency reserves and Swiss franc assets 
combine to make up the monetary assets. The free assets consist of the pro-
ceeds from the sale of the surplus gold reserves and the remainder of gold still 
to be sold. At the end of the year, free assets totalled approximately CHF 22 
billion. 

At the end of 2004, investments of monetary assets and free assets 
consisted of government bonds and bonds of quasi-governmental institu-
tions, international institutions, local authorities, financial institutions and 
other companies. In addition, time deposits were placed with banks and gold 
lending transactions were concluded. Exchange rate and interest rate risks 
were also managed by derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps, in-
terest rate and bond futures, and foreign currency forward transactions. 

With the NBA in force since May 2004, former legal restrictions re-
garding eligible investment categories and debtors were dispensed with. This 
opened up the possibility to broaden the investment universe, thus improving 
the risk/return profile of investments. Against this background, the National 
Bank added corporate bonds to its asset mix and lowered the required mini-
mum rating for bond investments from A to BBB, which corresponds with the 
lowest investment grade category. To reduce any potential conflicts of inter-
est from the start, only corporate bonds of foreign issuers are held.

Structure of
National Bank assets
In percent

Foreign exchange reserves 35

Monetary gold reserves 18

Monetary Swiss franc assets 25

Free assets 19

Monetary institutions 2

Other assets 1

Total: CHF 117 billion
End of 2004
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Investment structure at the end of 2004

 Foreign  Monetary  Free assets
 exchange CHF portfolio
 reserves

Currency allocation, incl. hedge positions   
Swiss francs – 100.0% 51.0%
US dollars 30.9% – 6.4%
Euros 50.0% – 24.9%
Pounds sterling 9.8% – 8.0%
Other (Yen, Canadian dollars, Danish kroner) 9.3% – 9.7%
Investment categories   
Money market investments 2.4% – 2.4%
Government bonds1  68.1% 48.5% 65.4%
Other bonds2  29.5% 51.5% 32.2%
Shares 0.0% – –
Risk indicators   
Duration of bonds (years) 5.1 4.8 4.0
Value-at-Risk (1 year, 95%) in CHF billions 2.3 0.1 0.5

Owing to the expansion of the investment universe, an enhanced di-
versification of investments was initiated in 2004. The share of government 
bonds as part of the monetary and free assets was reduced to less than 70% 
in favour of bonds of other debtors. The National Bank started holding corpo- 
rate bonds, which accounted for approximately 4% of both the foreign  
exchange reserves and the free assets. In the case of the foreign exchange 
reserves, the reduction of the US dollar share in favour of other currencies 
– initiated in 1997 – continued. Duration of the investments of free assets 
was increased from three to four years.

1  Government bonds in their 
own respective currencies, and 
– in the case of Swiss franc 
investments – bonds issued by 
Swiss cantons and municipal-
ities. 

2  Government bonds in for-
eign currencies, bonds issued 
by foreign local authorities 
and supranational organisa- 
tions, US mortgage-backed se-
curities (MBS), Pfandbriefe,  
corporate bonds, etc.

Further diversification
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Risk profile

… of currency reserves

… of monetary  
Swiss franc investments 

… of gold

5.4  Investment risk profile

The main risk on investments is market risk, i.e. currency, gold price 
and interest rate risks. They are primarily managed by diversification. The Na-
tional Bank counters liquidity risk by holding a large part of its investments 
in the world’s most liquid currencies and markets. In addition, it also takes 
some credit risk. Compared with the market risk, this is insignificant, how-
ever. 

Adding corporate bonds to the currency reserves and increasing the 
credit risk tolerance enhanced the degree of portfolio diversification. The re-
duction of the dollar share also has a positive effect from a risk/return per-
spective. This is because the currency risk of the dollar against the franc is 
higher than the respective currency risk of the euro and pound sterling. With 
the duration of five years, the interest risk profile of the foreign exchange re-
serves remained unchanged. The price of gold and the US dollar exchange rate 
were still the dominant risk factors of currency reserves. By contrast, interest 
rate and credit risks contributed only marginally to the overall risk.

The monetary Swiss franc securities are managed passively. The ma-
turity and credit structure largely corresponds with that of the Swiss Bond 
Index. Duration at year-end was 4.8 years. Monetary policy repo transactions 
are not actively managed and – since the claims are secured by collateral 
– are practically free of any credit risk. These collateralised securities are 
valued daily, and shortfall is covered immediately. Given the extremely short 
maturity, there is also no interest rate risk.

Save for gold lending, monetary gold was not actively managed.  
A maximum of roughly one quarter of this gold is available for gold lending. 
At the end of 2004, approximately 130 tonnes of gold had been lent to dif-
ferent financial institutions against remuneration.
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The risk profile of the free assets clearly differed from that of the cur-
rency reserves in that overall risk was significantly lower. On the one hand, 
this is attributable to the fact that there were no monetary policy restrictions 
imposing a currency allocation which was – from an investment policy view-
point – suboptimal. The currency risk could thus be kept much lower. On the 
other hand, other risks were entered into only cautiously so as not to jeop-
ardise the substance for a transfer to the future beneficiaries. The risks at-
tached to gold holdings earmarked for future sale were indirectly reduced as 
well. This was accomplished by hedging 35% of the expected proceeds in US 
dollars – right from the beginning of the gold sales – by concluding foreign 
currency forward transactions. Gold held as free assets amounted to 64 tonnes 
at the end of the year. Gold sales will be completed in spring 2005. Of the 
investments made in 2004, secondary currencies and the euro were weighted 
somewhat higher to the detriment of the Swiss franc. The Swiss franc share 
stood at 50% at year-end. However, only 10% of the investments were actu-
ally held in Swiss franc bonds; the majority of investments were made in liq-
uid markets and denominated in euros and US dollars, with the currency risk 
partially hedged. Consequently, the market risk of these hedged investments 
was roughly comparable with that of direct Swiss franc investments.

The National Bank was exposed to credit risks by purchasing bonds 
from different debtors and debtor categories. Moreover, credit risks vis-à-vis 
banks existed in the form of time deposits, replacement values of deriva-
tives, and gold lending. Even though credit risk tolerance has been somewhat 
higher since 2004, claims of the SNB had a very high average rating. Overall, 
70% of all investments had an AAA rating, the highest possible rating. The 
lowest still eligible rating category is BBB. This rating category accounted for 
approximately 1% of investments.

The overall risk of investments can be estimated – among other meth-
ods – with the VaR analysis. This indicator is applied both to the total assets 
and to all sub-portfolios. It shows the loss which will not be exceeded in the 
course of 12 months with a probability of 95%. The VaR for monetary assets 
was CHF 4.8 billion at the end of the year, for the investment of free assets 
approximately CHF 500 million.

… of free assets

Credit risks

Overall risk

Rating allocation
In percent

AAA 70

AA 20

A 9

BBB 1

End of 2004
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5.5  Investment performance

The National Bank’s investment performance is calculated across all 
asset categories (foreign currency assets, gold, Swiss franc assets including 
repo transactions). It amounted in 2004 to 0.9%, i.e. below the long-term 
return expectations. Gold and exchange rate losses in particular contributed 
to the below-average result. While the decline in interest rates resulted in 
capital gains for most currencies, they were narrowed by the exchange rate 
losses. The comparatively low level of interest rates in all investment curren-
cies also gave rise to lower interest earnings. The return on investments of 
free assets was better than that on foreign exchange reserves. This can be at-
tributed to the fact that these investments had a lower exposure to currency 
risk and therefore suffered only minor exchange rate losses. The gold price in 
Swiss francs slid over the course of the year by a little over 3%; the rise in 
the gold price in US dollars was quashed by the dollar’s weakness.

Return on investments in Swiss francs

 Foreign  Monetary Monetary Investments 
 exchange gold CHF portfolio of free assets
 reserves

1999 9.7% – 0.7% –
2000 5.8% –3.1% 3.3% 4.2%
2001 5.2% 5.3% 4.3% 4.4%
2002 0.4% 3.4% 10.0% 5.2%
2003 3.0% 9.1% 1.4% 4.0%
2004 2.3% –3.1% 3.8% 2.6%

The return on investment 
comprises direct income  
(interest), realised price gains 
and losses, and unrealised  
price changes on holdings. 
Return on free assets refers 
to the invested proceeds from 
gold sales, but not to the  
remaining gold holdings.  
The management of these  
proceeds began in May 2000. 
The return for 2000, therefore, 
is the result as of May.
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Mandate

Stability as  
important condition

Analysis of the  
banking sector

Banks’ increased resilience

Secure and efficient  
market infrastructure

6  Contribution to financial system stability

Pursuant to art. 5 para. 2 (e) of the National Bank Act (NBA), the  
National Bank shall contribute to the stability of the financial system.

A stable financial system inspires confidence in a balanced economic 
development and helps consumers, savers and investors to make long-term 
decisions. It is also a prerequisite for properly functioning financial markets 
and is thus one of the necessary conditions for the successful implementation 
of monetary policy. The National Bank makes every effort to identify any po-
tential risks to the stability of the financial system at an early stage. It also 
plays an active role in creating an operational environment that promotes 
stability. To this end, the National Bank continued its close collaboration 
with the Swiss Federal Banking Commission (SFBC) and other federal offices 
in 2004.

6.1  Assessment of financial system stability 

In June 2004, the National Bank published its second Financial Sta-
bility Report. The report looked at developments in the banking sector and in 
the financial market infrastructure with regard to stability. Individual banks 
are only considered if this is relevant for the overall assessment.

According to the report, the banking sector was able to significantly 
boost its profits in 2003, despite the changeable macroeconomic environ-
ment. This increase led to a distinct rise in capital, thus improving the resili-
ence of the banking sector. No major imbalances which might trigger a cri-
sis were identified. Consequently, the Swiss banking system was considered 
stable. The two most unfavourable scenarios which could potentially occur –  
an economic downturn and an unexpectedly sharp increase in interest rates 
– failed to materialise. 

With regard to payment and securities settlement systems, the report 
concluded that the Swiss financial sector has a financial market infrastructure 
that compares very favourably in terms of security and efficiency with those 
of other countries. The report points out, in particular, the extent to which 
two more recent newcomers to the infrastructure – the central counterparty 
SIS x-clear and the global system for foreign exchange settlements CLS – con-
tribute positively to the stability of the financial system.
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6.2  New Basel Capital Accord

On an international level, the National Bank, as a member of the  
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, continued to participate in the revi-
sion of the Basel Capital Accord. In June 2004, the central bank governors 
and the heads of the banking supervisory bodies of the Group of Ten (G-10) 
countries approved the new Capital Accord (Basel II). This is based on three 
elements or “pillars”: minimum capital adequacy requirements which in some 
cases permit banks to apply an internal ratings-based approach to measure 
risk exposure, the monitoring of banks’ capital adequacy strategies by the na-
tional supervisory authorities, and the creation of conditions for market dis-
cipline. The National Bank supports the direction in which Basel II is headed. 
Well-funded and risk-adequate amounts of capital strengthen the stability 
of the banking system. They protect banks from solvency problems and thus 
also from confidence crises that may lead to liquidity shortages. Furthermore, 
only well-capitalised banks can effectively fulfil their macroeconomic task of 
granting credit, also in difficult economic times.

In autumn 2003, a working group lead-managed by the SFBC began 
the implementation of the new Capital Accord in the Swiss banking regulatory  
framework. The National Bank, together with the commercial banks and audit-
ing companies, participates in this task, concentrating on areas related to  
the stability of the banking system and the smooth functioning of the credit 
market. During the course of 2004, the working group drew up draft docu-
ments for the ordinances and circulars concerning the new capital adequacy 
requirements. For the advanced calculation method of capital adequacy re-
quirements, Swiss standards are based strongly on the new Capital Accord. 
Considerable differences still remain, however, with regard to the standard 
approach, particularly in relation to risk weighting. With both methods, Swiss 
capital adequacy ratios are likely to continue to remain higher than the inter-
national standard. The drafts of the ordinances and circulars will be submit-
ted for consultation sometime in 2005 and will be passed at the beginning 
of 2006. The new capital adequacy regulation should then enter into force at 
the end of 2006.

SNB supports Basel II

SNB’s role in  
implementation
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Reform of act on securities 
held with intermediaries

Harmonisation of act  
on securities held with  
intermediaries

Involvement in  
FINMA Expert Commission

6.3  Reform of securities legislation

The National Bank actively supported the efforts undertaken to reform 
the act governing securities held with financial intermediaries. It headed a 
working group set up in 2003 by the Federal Department of Finance (FDF), 
which concluded its work to a draft legislation on the custody and transfer 
of uncertificated securities (Uncertificated Securities Act) in 2004. This act 
updates the legal basis for the safekeeping of securities by financial inter-
mediaries, the transfer of such securities, and for the creation of related secu-
rity rights. It aims to protect the investors’ ownership rights, but also seeks 
to contribute to the stability of the financial system. In addition, ratification 
of the Hague Securities Convention should also give the private international 
law on securities held with intermediaries a new legal foundation. The FDF is 
carrying out a consultation on the draft until the beginning of 2005.

Finally, the National Bank supports a project run by the Rome-based 
International Institute for the Unification of Private Law (Unidroit) on the 
material harmonisation of the law on securities held with intermediaries, 
which aims to ensure integration between the national legal systems on 
cross-border safekeeping measures. A group of experts appointed by Unidroit 
held a week-long conference in the Study Center Gerzensee.

6.4  Legislation relevant to the financial market

The National Bank continued its participation in the FINMA Expert 
Commission headed by Professor Ulrich Zimmerli, which formulated a draft 
legislation on the integration of financial market supervision. In 2003, the 
Zimmerli Expert Commission proposed the creation of a Federal Financial Mar-
ket Supervisory Authority (FINMA). In 2004, activities concentrated on the 
system of sanctions as well as the expanded prudential supervision of foreign 
exchange traders, introducing brokers and independent asset managers. The 
National Bank is in favour of an effective system of sanctions. Moreover, it 
opposed intentions to burden FINMA with tasks that need not necessarily be 
performed by the future supervisory authority. 
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7  Involvement  
 in international monetary cooperation

Art. 5 para. 3 of the National Bank Act (NBA) stipulates that the Na-
tional Bank shall participate in international monetary cooperation. 

On an international level, the National Bank primarily works together 
with the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Group of Ten (G-10), the 
Bank for International Settlements (BIS) and the Organisation for Economic 
Cooperation and Development (OECD). It also provides technical assistance.

7.1  Participation  
 in the International Monetary Fund

Switzerland has been a member of the IMF since 1992. The IMF works 
to promote stable monetary conditions worldwide and support free trade and 
payment flows internationally. As an open economy with a globally important 
financial sector, Switzerland shares these aims.

The Chairman of the National Bank has a seat on the Board of  
Governors of the IMF, the Fund’s highest decision-making body, while the 
Head of the Federal Department of Finance (FDF) leads the Swiss delega-
tion that takes part in the IMF meetings. Switzerland holds one of the 24 
seats on the Executive Board, the IMF’s most important operational body. In 
this function, it represents one constituency, which also includes Azerbaijan, 
the Kyrgyz Republic, Poland, Serbia and Montenegro, Tajikistan, Turkmeni-
stan and Uzbekistan, and actively participates in formulating IMF policy. The 
Swiss seat on the Executive Board is held alternately by a representative of 
the National Bank and the FDF. The National Bank and the FDF determine 
Switzerland’s policy in the IMF and support the Swiss executive director in 
his activities.

In addition to its surveillance of the economic situation in member 
countries (crisis prevention), the Executive Board’s activities in 2004 also 
addressed crisis management, the IMF’s role in poorer nations and the Fund’s 
financial situation. The Executive Board confirmed that the IMF has made sig-
nificant progress in its surveillance activity in recent years. In terms of crisis 
management, it devoted particular attention to its members with a lending 
programme, notably Argentina, Brazil and Turkey, as the three largest IMF 
borrowers. It also continued its debate on the structure of lending policies 
and lending facilities, emphasising the necessity to comply with the existing 
regulations when granting large financing packages. With regard to the IMF’s 
role in poorer countries, the Executive Board focused on fund provision and 
debt sustainability issues. In its assessment of the IMF’s financial situation, 
the Executive Board ascertained that the IMF has sufficient funds, also in the 
medium term. 

Mandate
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SNB finances reserve  
position

SNB finances PRGF  
and interim PRGF

Report on the  
IMF’s financial position

Collective action clauses

The IMF finances its activities with the member countries’ quotas, i.e. 
capital subscriptions. Total quotas in the IMF in Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 
amount to 213 billion (approx. CHF 370 billion), with Switzerland’s quota 
coming to SDR 3,458.5 million (roughly CHF 6,050 million). The portion of 
the Swiss quota used by the IMF – the reserve position – is financed by the 
National Bank. It represents a currency reserve for the National Bank and may 
be used by it at any time. At the end of 2004, Switzerland’s reserve position 
amounted to SDR 1,153.9 million, compared with SDR 1,386.4 million at the 
end of 2003. At the end of 2004, one SDR was equivalent to CHF 1.758. This 
figure is calculated on the basis of weighted exchange rates for the US dollar, 
euro, yen and pound sterling. 

The National Bank also finances the Swiss contribution to the loan 
account of the Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (PRGF). The PRGF funds 
in which Switzerland participates with a loan commitment of SDR 151.7 mil-
lion were drawn completely by the end of 2001. Owing to the fact that the 
PRGF could not be established as a self-supporting facility before 2005, in-
terim financing (interim PRGF) was necessary. Switzerland contributes SDR 
250 million towards the capital of the interim PRGF. This amount is provided 
by the National Bank. The Swiss Confederation guarantees the National Bank 
the timely repayment of both the PRGF and interim PRGF loans, including in-
terest payments.

7.2  Participation in the Group of Ten

The National Bank participates in meetings of the finance ministers 
and central bank governors of the G-10 countries and in various working 
groups. In 2004, G-10 devoted itself primarily to the IMF’s financial situa-
tion, in particular to the risks facing the Fund and to the possibilities to hold 
such risks in check. 

Finance ministers and central bank governors were also satisfied to 
see that the use of collective action clauses for sovereign bond issues pro-
moted by the G-10 has become standard market practice in the space of just 
a few years. Such clauses should facilitate a restructuring of sovereign debt 
in the event of default.
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7.3  Cooperation with  
 the Bank for International Settlements

The central bank governors of industrialised countries and emerging 
economies meet every two months at the BIS for an exchange of information. 
In addition, the National Bank participates in the four standing committees 
of the BIS: the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, the Committee on 
Payment and Settlement Systems, the Committee on the Global Financial Sys-
tem, and the Markets Committee.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision serves as a platform for 
regular cooperation in banking supervision matters. Its tasks are described in 
more detail in the chapter on the National Bank‘s contribution to the stabil-
ity of the financial system.

The Committee on Payment and Settlement Systems (CPSS) monitors 
and analyses the developments in national and international payment and se-
curities settlement systems. The CPSS issued two reports in 2004. The first re-
port provides an overview of the use of electronic money and innovative pay-
ment instruments in more than 90 countries. The second report, which was 
drawn up in collaboration with the Technical Committee of the International 
Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO), contains 15 recommenda-
tions to central counterparty operators. 

The Committee on the Global Financial System (CGFS) monitors and 
examines international financial markets and draws up recommendations to 
support central banks in the fulfilment of their responsibilities with regard to 
the stability of the financial system. The CGFS published a report in 2004 on 
the importance of foreign direct investment in the financial sectors of emerg-
ing economies. The report shows that the sharp increase in such direct in-
vestment played a crucial role in the integration of emerging economies into 
the global financial system, and that this integration was considerably advan-
tageous for the financial sectors of the countries in question.

The Markets Committee serves as a discussion forum for the G-10 
central bank staff members responsible for financial market operations. The 
discussions addressed the developments in the foreign exchange and other 
financial markets, as well as the impact of individual events on the overall 
functioning of these markets.

.
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Monetary Assistance Act  
in force

No new loans

Technical assistance

7.4  Participation in the OECD

Switzerland is a member of the OECD and participates in committees 
set up to promote the development of economic relations, particularly among 
industrialised countries. The National Bank, together with the Federal Admin-
istration, represents Switzerland in this capacity. The Economic Policy Com-
mittee (EPC), its Working Parties WP1 and WP3, and their working groups deal 
with global economic issues on a political and scientific level. The Commit-
tee on Financial Markets (CMF) discusses current developments and structural 
problems in international financial markets. Within the context of the annual 
OECD examination of Switzerland (Examen Suisse), the OECD’s country survey 
on Switzerland is discussed in detail.

7.5  Monetary assistance loans 

The Federal Act and Federal Decree on International Monetary Assis-
tance (Monetary Assistance Act and Decree) entered into effect on 1 October 
2004, thereby replacing the Federal Decree on Switzerland’s cooperation in 
international monetary measures.

No new monetary assistance loans were extended in 2004. One bal-
ance-of-payments loan remained outstanding at the end of the year – EUR 
14.3 million to Bulgaria, expiring in 2007.

7.6  Technical assistance

The National Bank fosters good relations with the central banks of the 
countries in its IMF constituency, as listed in 7.1. Thanks to their support, 
Switzerland is able to head a constituency in the IMF; its seat in the Execu-
tive Board gives it added influence. The National Bank primarily provides the 
central banks of these countries with technical assistance, with a particular 
focus on the transfer of central bank-specific knowledge. The SNB provides no 
financial support.
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The National Bank has been assisting the National Bank of the Azer-
baijan Republic since 2002 in the introduction of a new banknote series and 
advising it on the implementation of monetary policy. Work was continued 
on these projects in 2004. In addition, the National Bank of the Azerbaijan 
Republic and the Central Bank of Montenegro received technical assistance 
for the investment of reserve assets. An already existing project in this area 
was pursued further with the Central Bank of Serbia. The National Bank of the 
Kyrgyz Republic continued to receive technical support in the areas of cash 
management and central bank management training. A project assisting in 
the preparation of monetary policy decisions was launched for the National 
Bank of Tajikistan.

Furthermore, topic-related technical assistance was simultaneously 
provided in 2004 to several countries. In a seminar on cash, representatives 
of Azerbaijan, the Kyrgyz Republic and Tajikistan, together with representa-
tives of four other countries, familiarised themselves with the challenges in-
volved in issuing and handling banknotes. In May 2004, the National Bank 
of Poland and the SNB organised a conference in Warsaw on exchange rate 
regimes and monetary policies. The seminar addressed in particular the par-
ticipants from central banks whose countries are members of the Swiss con-
stituency at the IMF, as well as other countries of the former Soviet Union 
and Southeast Europe. The aim was to involve these nations in academic dis-
course and to promote cooperation between their central banks.

Outside of the Swiss constituency within the Bretton Woods institu-
tions, the National Bank advised the central banks of Kazakhstan and Mexico 
on issues regarding planning and budgeting.

… to countries in  
its IMF constituency

… and to other countries
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8  Banking services for the Confederation

Based on art. 5 para. 4 and art. 11 of the National Bank Act (NBA), 
the National Bank shall provide banking services to the Swiss Confederation. 

The services will be provided by the National Bank for an adequate 
compensation. However, the services shall be provided free of charge if they 
facilitate the implementation of monetary policy. Remunerable services in-
clude payment transactions, liquidity management and custody of securities. 
The details of the services provided and the remuneration were laid down in 
agreements concluded between the Federal Finance Administration and the 
National Bank. 

Up until the end of 2004, the Confederation held its liquid funds in 
the form of sight deposits or short-term time deposits at the National Bank. 
In the event of liquidity shortages, the National Bank arranged money market 
loans from banks for the Confederation. The National Bank pays interest at 
market rates on time deposits held with it by the Confederation, while sight 
deposits are interest bearing up to a certain level. Swiss Post places its liquid 
funds directly in the money market.

In 2004, the National Bank issued money market debt register claims 
(MMDRC) and bonds on behalf of the Confederation. A total of CHF 41.8 bil-
lion MMDRCs were subscribed, of which CHF 39.5 billion were allocated. Swiss 
Confederation bonds amounting to CHF 16.1 billion were subscribed, CHF 11.1 
billion of which were allocated.

 Swiss Confederation bonds  
 and money market debt register claims

 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Number of issues1     
 MMDRC 52 52 52 53 52
 Swiss Confederation bonds 14 14 15 20 25

Total subscribed in CHF billions     
 MMDRC 62.7 53.0 54.7 57.8 41.8
 Swiss Confederation bonds2 15.6 12.6 9.9 18.7 16.1

Total allocated in CHF billions     
 MMDRC 42.4 39.7 40.6 40.1 39.5
 Swiss Confederation bonds2 9.3 7.5 8.4 14.9 11.1

Outstanding at year-end in CHF billions     
 MMDRC 13.4 11.5 12.4 10.7 12.0
 Swiss Confederation bonds3 54.1 62.1 70.2 82.6 88.7

The National Bank settled certain domestic and international pay-
ments of the Confederation. It also kept the Federal Debt Register – until its 
discontinuation at the end of October – and managed securities holdings and 
valuables on behalf of federal offices and associated enterprises.
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1  Legal framework

1.1  Entry into force of the new National Bank Act

On 24 March 2004, the Federal Council enacted the totally revised Na-
tional Bank Act (NBA) with effect from 1 May 2004 after the statutory period 
for a referendum had expired at the end of January 2004 and no referendum 
had been instituted (cf. 96th Annual Report, p. 45).

The new NBA sets out in detail the National Bank’s constitutional 
mandate. It makes price stability the SNB’s primary goal – one which must be 
ensured while taking due account of the development of the economy – and 
defines the SNB’s tasks in a more transparent manner. It defines the National 
Bank’s independence and includes a formal accountability obligation to the 
Federal Council, Parliament and the public. An integral part of this account-
ability is the submission of a yearly report to the Federal Assembly on the 
fulfilment of the National Bank’s tasks. The new NBA also extends the SNB’s 
scope of business, making it considerably more flexible. In addition, the  
National Bank’s monetary policy powers have been restructured and now include  
the authority to oversee the payment and securities settlement systems. The 
determination of the SNB’s profits is now also regulated by law, whereas 
the rules governing the distribution of profits have essentially remained un-
changed. 

A more streamlined structure of the National Bank’s bodies became 
effective with the entry into force of the new NBA. This included a reduc-
tion of the Bank Council to eleven members. The Federal Council had already 
appointed six members of the new Bank Council and re-elected its previous 
president on 11 February 2004. The remaining five members were elected by 
the National Bank’s General Meeting of Shareholders on 30 April 2004.

At the same time as the new NBA entered into effect, the Federal 
Council amended the Ordinance to the Banking Act (Banking Ordinance). 
This was a necessary step, as the existing provisions on the cash liquidity of 
banks, which had been governed by the Banking Act, were replaced by a mod-
ern minimum reserve regulation in the NBA.

NBA effective as of 1 May

Price stability, independence 
and accountability

Simplified structure  
of bank bodies

Revision of Banking  
Ordinance
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1.2  New National Bank Ordinance

In view of the entry into force of the new NBA, the Governing Board 
issued implementation provisions in an Ordinance to the National Bank Act 
(National Bank Ordinance, NBO) on 18 March 2004 on the SNB’s authority to 
compile statistics, on the minimum reserve requirements, and on the over-
sight of payment and securities settlement systems. 

The NBO is published in the Official Compilation of Federal Laws 
and Decrees (AS 2004 2033), the Classified Compilation of the Federal Law  
(SR 951.131) and on the internet (www.snb.ch).

In the chapter “Statistical surveys”, the NBO defines the principles of 
data collection as well as the rights and obligations of institutions and com-
panies required to submit data. The collection of statistical data must adhere 
to the principles of necessity and reasonableness. The coverage and frequency 
of statistical surveys as well as the parties required to report statistical data 
are described in the annexes to the NBO. The National Bank issues technical 
instructions on the form of reporting. All individuals involved in the conduct 
of surveys are obliged to treat the collected data confidentially.

The “Minimum reserves” chapter of the NBO determines the form and 
manner of the banks’ minimum reserve requirement. The purpose of mini-
mum reserves is to secure a minimum level of demand for base money, thus 
fulfilling a monetary policy objective. The implementation provisions in the 
NBO closely follow the cash liquidity provisions previously contained in the 
Banking Ordinance. In particular, the applicable cash liquidity ratio of 2.5% 
remains unchanged. To give banks sufficient time to make the necessary ad-
justments to their information systems, the implementation provisions on 
minimum reserves and the (associated) amendments to the Banking Ordi-
nance relating to liquidity did not enter into force until 1 January 2005.

The chapter “Oversight of payment and securities settlement systems” 
of the NBO describes the minimum requirements for systemically important 
payment and securities settlement systems, from which risks for the stability 
of the financial system may emanate. These requirements are based on inter-
national standards. The NBO also governs the way in which the fulfilment of 
minimum requirements is assessed. To enable the National Bank to identify 
systems that could jeopardise system stability, all securities settlement sys-
tems and payment systems with a transaction volume of at least CHF 25 bil-
lion per annum are subject to an extended disclosure obligation.

Governing Board’s  
implementation provisions

… on the compilation  
of statistics

… on minimum reserves

… on system oversight
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Issued by Bank Council
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1.3  New Organisation Regulations of the  
 National Bank

On 14 May 2004, the new Bank Council held its constituent meeting, 
during which it passed the new Regulations on the Organisation of the Swiss 
National Bank (Organisation Regulations) as prescribed in the NBA. These 
were subsequently approved by the Federal Council on 23 June 2004.

The Organisation Regulations constitute the National Bank’s basic in-
ternal rules. They lay down the basic features of the SNB’s organisational 
structure, stipulate the procedure of the General Meeting of Shareholders, 
define the tasks and powers of the Bank Council, Governing Board and En-
larged Governing Board, and contain procedural, abstention and resignation 
regulations for the Bank Council. They also form the basis for the issuance 
of further regulations by the Bank Council. They are published in the Official 
Compilation of Federal Laws and Decrees (AS 2004 3389), the Classified Com-
pilation of the Federal Law (SR 951.153), and on the internet (www.snb.ch). 
Compared with the former business regulations for the bodies of the National 
Bank, there are two key amendments that warrant particular mention. 

The Organisation Regulations stipulate that the Bank Council shall 
appoint four committees. An Audit Committee shall support the Bank Coun-
cil in supervising financial accounting and financial reporting. It shall also 
assess the effectiveness of the internal control system and supervise the ac-
tivity of external and internal auditors. A Risk Committee shall support the 
Bank Council in overseeing risk management and the investment process, and 
shall also assess internal risk controlling. The Compensation Committee shall 
assist the Bank Council in determining the principles of the National Bank’s 
compensation and salary policy and submit proposals to the Bank Council for 
fixing the salaries of the members of the Governing Board and their depu-
ties. Finally, in the event of vacancies, a Nomination Committee shall prepare 
proposals for the election of Governing Board members and their deputies 
and submit these to the Bank Council. Each committee shall comprise two to 
three members of the Bank Council.

The Organisation Regulations divide the activities of the Governing 
Board, the supreme management and executive body, between two bodies. 
While the Governing Board will continue to be responsible for the core tasks 
necessary for monetary policy and to represent the National Bank externally, 
the Enlarged Governing Board – comprising the three Governing Board mem-
bers and their three deputies (who were also elected by the Federal Council) –  
will assume the operational management of the SNB, which includes internal 
directives, financial planning and budgeting, as well as human resources and 
infrastructure-related decisions. The Governing Board, however, retains re-
sponsibility and the duty of accountability.
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1.4  Federal Act on International Monetary  
 Assistance

On 19 March 2004, the Federal Parliament adopted the Federal Act on 
International Monetary Assistance (Monetary Assistance Act). A day earlier, 
the Federal Assembly had issued the Federal Decree on International Mon-
etary Assistance (Monetary Assistance Decree). As no referendum had been 
sought within the statutory period expiring at the beginning of July 2004, 
the Federal Council put the Monetary Assistance Act and Decree into effect 
on 1 October 2004.

The entry into force of the new Monetary Assistance Act has estab-
lished a broad legal basis for Switzerland’s financing obligations within the 
context of international monetary cooperation. This includes providing multi-
lateral aid in the event of disruptions to the international monetary system, 
participating in special funds of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), and 
granting bilateral loans to countries with which Switzerland has especially 
close ties in terms of economic and monetary policy. If the National Bank fi-
nances loans – something that is ruled out for bilateral financial assistance 
granted to individual countries – the Swiss Confederation guarantees their 
timely repayment (cf. 96th Annual Report, p. 46).

The Monetary Assistance Decree contains a credit ceiling (credit facil-
ity) of CHF 2,500 million for the financing of aid operations in the event of 
disruptions to the international monetary system and for bilateral financial 
assistance to individual countries. The Federal Assembly will continue to be 
responsible for approving special guarantee credits for Switzerland’s partici-
pation in special funds of the IMF. Deviating from the Federal Council’s bill, 
the Federal Parliament restricted the Monetary Assistance Decree to a five-
year term and obliged the Federal Council to report annually on the appro-
priation of funds.

Monetary Assistance Act  
effective as of 1 October

Broad legal basis

Credit facility for  
systemic aid and  
bilateral financial assistance
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1.5  Appropriation of 1,300 tonnes of  
 National Bank gold

With its Message of 20 August 2003, the Federal Council requested 
the Federal Parliament to have the National Bank’s assets that are no longer 
required for monetary policy (1,300 tonnes of gold) managed by a separate 
fund, with one-third of the real income to be distributed to the Confederation 
and two-thirds to the cantons over a period of 30 years. At the same time, the 
Federal Council recommended the Parliament to reject the people’s initiative 
“National Bank profits for the Old Age and Survivors’ Insurance Fund (AHV/
AVS)”, which was launched by the Swiss committee promoting the security of 
the AHV/AVS (Kosa) and which aimed to allocate the SNB’s future profits to 
the AHV/AVS – minus an annual amount of CHF 1 billion to be distributed to 
the cantons (cf. 96th Annual Report, p. 47).

In the summer session, the National Council – as the primary council –  
dealt with both bills. It decided to allocate two-thirds of the real income  
from the sales proceeds of the surplus gold reserves to the AHV/AVS and one-
third to the cantons. It then submitted a counter-proposal to the people’s 
initiative, recommending that the SNB’s profits be split equally between the 
AHV/AVS and the cantons. The National Bank, which had also been heard 
by the deliberating committee, argued resolutely against linking the SNB’s 
profits with the financing of a social institution, as the resulting pressure to 
generate as high a profit distribution as possible could hinder it in its task to 
pursue an independent monetary policy. 

In the autumn session, the Council of States decided not to consider 
the Federal Council’s proposal to create a constitutional basis for the pre-
servation of the asset value of the proceeds from the sale of the surplus gold 
reserves. With this move, the Council of States not only rejected the new dis-
tribution formula for the real income from the gold assets put forward by the 
National Council, it also stated that the existing law (art. 99 para. 4 Federal 
Constitution (FC) in conjunction with arts. 30–31 NBA) should be applied; 
i.e. that one-third of the proceeds from the sale of the surplus gold reserves 
be distributed to the Confederation, and two-thirds to the cantons. The deci-
sion was based on the consideration that the revaluation gain resulting from 
the market valuation of the gold is also distributable profit as defined in the 
NBA. In addition, the Council of States rejected the people’s AHV/AVS initia-
tive without a counter-proposal.

Federal Council bill

National Council’s  
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Non-consideration  
by Council of States
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Bill fails in Parliament

Federal Council decision

In the December session, the National Council initially adhered to its 
earlier resolution to consider the bill on the appropriation of surplus gold re-
serves. It also stood firm with regard to its counter-proposal to the people’s 
AHV/AVS initiative. However, a day later – on 16 December 2004 – the Council 
of States confirmed its decision not to consider the bill. It endorsed a distri-
bution pursuant to current legislation. It thus became clear that there would 
be no majority in Parliament supporting an appropriation formula for the sur-
plus gold which deviates from the applicable constitutional provision. 

The failure of the bill on the appropriation of the gold in Parliament 
led to a Federal Council decision being taken on 2 February 2005, which stipu-
lated that the National Bank’s gold reserves no longer required for monetary 
policy be distributed in accordance with the existing law, namely two-thirds to 
the cantons and one-third to the Confederation. This issue had already been  
addressed on 22 December 2004, when the Federal Department of Finance 
(FDF) published the report of a technical working group, in which the  
National Bank was also represented, discussing various aspects of a possible 
transfer of assets to the countervalue of 1,300 tonnes of gold from the SNB 
to the Confederation and cantons. The report suggested that the free assets 
could be distributed within a three-month period without monetary policy 
being affected.
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2  Organisation and tasks

The National Bank’s management and executive body is the Govern-
ing Board. It is primarily responsible for monetary policy, asset investment 
strategy and international monetary cooperation. The Governing Board enjoys 
a high degree of independence in fulfilling its monetary policy mandate. The 
Enlarged Governing Board, which was created in accordance with the new 
NBA, consists of the three members of the Governing Board and their three 
deputies. It is responsible for the operational management of the National 
Bank. The Bank Council oversees the business activity. 

The National Bank has two seats: one in Berne and one in Zurich. It 
is divided into three Departments. The organisational units of Departments 
I and III are, for the most part, located in Zurich; those of Department II, 
primarily in Berne. Each of the three Departments of the SNB is headed by 
one member of the Governing Board. In order to ensure the supply and distri-
bution of cash, the National Bank also has branches in Geneva and Lugano. 
As with the head offices and branches, four representative offices – located 
in Basel, Lausanne, Lucerne and St Gallen – are responsible for monitoring  
regional economic developments. Furthermore, the SNB has 16 agencies, 
which are operated by cantonal banks, for the receipt and distribution of 
banknotes and coins. 

The National Bank’s principal task is to pursue a monetary policy  
serving the interests of the country as a whole. The organisational unit Eco-
nomic Affairs in Department I provides the basis for monetary policy de-
cisions. It analyses the economic situation in Switzerland and abroad and  
produces the inflation forecast. Regional economic observers support Eco-
nomic Affairs in its analysis of economic developments in Switzerland. The 
Financial Market Operations unit of Department III implements monetary poli-
cy by carrying out transactions in the financial markets. It also steers the 
three-month Libor.

The management and investment of gold, foreign currency reserves 
and Swiss franc bonds are the responsibility of the units Asset Management 
and Financial Market Operations in Department III. Investment strategy and 
risk control are dealt with by the eponymous unit, also in Department III.

The tasks relating to cash transactions fall within the domain of the 
Cash unit in Department II. The National Bank issues banknotes and puts the 
coins minted by the Confederation into circulation via its network of bank 
offices. It ensures that the quality of currency in circulation is kept at a high 
level by checking the cash returned to it and by disposing both of counter-
feits and of banknotes and coins that no longer meet requirements.

Management and oversight

Structure

Monetary policy

Asset management

Cash transactions
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Cashless payment  
transactions

Financial system stability

Banker to the Confederation

International monetary  
cooperation
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Conceptual and technical issues arising with regard to cashless  
payment transactions are dealt with by Financial Stability and Oversight  
in Department II as well as the units Banking Operations and Information 
Technology in Department III. The Banking Operations unit also runs the real-
time gross settlement system SIC. 

The Financial Stability and Oversight unit in Department II is respon-
sible for contributing to the stability of the financial system and overseeing 
the systemically important payment and securities settlement systems. 

Acting as the bank of the Confederation is a function performed  
by the units Banking Operations and Financial Market Operations of Depart-
ment III. These units settle domestic and foreign payments, participate in 
issuing money market debt register claims and bonds, and assist the Confed-
eration in safekeeping its securities. They also effect money market and foreign  
exchange transactions on behalf of the Confederation. 

The International Affairs unit of Department I deals with the inter-
national aspects of monetary policy and technical assistance. 

The Statistics unit of Department I is responsible for compiling various  
statistical data, notably banking statistics and the balance of payments.

The central services are divided between the three Departments. The 
Secretariat General, Legal Services, Human Resources, Communications, and 
Premises belong to Department I. Department II includes Central Accounting, 
Controlling, and Security. Department III is responsible for Information Tech-
nology. The Internal Auditors unit reports to the Bank Council.
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3  Corporate Governance

The National Bank is a special statute joint-stock company that is 
administered with the cooperation and under the supervision of the Confed-
eration. Its organisational structure and responsibilities are governed by the 
National Bank Act of 3 October 2003 (NBA and SR 951.11 (Classified Compila-
tion of the Federal Law)) and the Regulations on the Organisation of the Swiss 
National Bank of 14 May 2004 (Organisation Regulations and SR 951.153; both 
available at www.snb.ch). At the National Bank, statutes and regulations fulfil 
the function of articles of association. The SNB has a share capital totalling 
CHF 25 million. This is paid up in full (art. 25 NBA), after having been reduced 
by CHF 25 million as of 1 May 2004 (forgoing of the non-paid-up part of the 
share capital; art. 57 NBA). 

The corporate bodies of the National Bank are the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, the Bank Council, the Governing Board and the Audit Board. The  
Bank Council oversees and controls the conduct of business of the National  
Bank (art. 42 NBA). Six of its members are elected by the Federal Council; 
the remaining five are appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders  
(art. 39 NBA). The Bank Council set up an Audit Committee, a Risk Committee,  
a Compensation Committee and a Nomination Committee, each including two 
to three Bank Council members (arts. 11–14 Organisation Regulations and  
cf. p. 138 of this Annual Report). The Governing Board is the management and 
executive body (art. 46 NBA); its three members are appointed for a six-year  
term by the Federal Council upon recommendation of the Bank Council  
(art. 43 NBA). The operational management of the National Bank is the re-
sponsibility of the Enlarged Governing Board, which is composed of the three 
Governing Board members and their deputies (arts. 21–24 Organisation Regu-
lations). The Audit Board examines whether the bookkeeping and the annual 
accounts (Financial Report) as well as the proposal for the allocation of the net 
profit comply with the statutory requirements. Furthermore, it is entitled to 
inspect at any time all aspects of the National Bank’s business (art. 48 NBA). 
It is elected for a term of one year by the General Meeting of Shareholders  
(art. 47 NBA). The auditors must meet special professional requirements  
pursuant to art. 727b of the Swiss Code of Obligations (SCO), and they must 
be independent of the Bank Council, the Governing Board and the controlling 
shareholders (art. 47 NBA). 

The rights of the shareholders are also embodied in the NBA; company 
law is applied merely complementarily (art. 2 NBA). As the National Bank ful-
fils a public mandate and is administered with the cooperation and under the 
supervision of the Confederation, the shareholders’ rights are restricted as com-
pared with a joint-stock company under private law. Shareholders who do not  
belong to the public-law sector may not cast more than 100 votes for their own 
and for represented shares (art. 26 para. 2 NBA). Shareholders may be repre-
sented at the Shareholders’ Meeting only by other shareholders (art. 37 NBA).  
Only five of the eleven members of the Bank Council are elected by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders (art. 39 NBA). The right to a dividend is limited to 6% 
of the paid-up capital (art. 31 para. 1 NBA); the remaining distributable profit 
goes to the Confederation and the cantons (art. 31 para. 2 NBA). The Business 
and Financial Report must be approved by the Federal Council, before being 
submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders (art. 7 para. 1 NBA). Other  
provisions deviating from company law concern the passing of resolutions  
(art. 38 NBA), the agenda and the convention of the Shareholders’ Meeting  
(art. 35 NBA). Agenda items with proposals from shareholders must be signed by 
at least 20 shareholders and be submitted to the President of the Bank Council 
in writing in due time before the invitation is sent out (art. 35 para. 2 NBA). 

General principles

Bodies and responsibilities

Shareholders’ rights
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Remuneration and  
affiliations of bodies

1  40 members of the Bank 
Council, ten of whom are mem-
bers of the Bank Committee.

2  With the new NBA, which 
entered into force on 1 May 
2004, the number of Bank 
Council members was reduced 
to elevenC members.

The remuneration of the National Bank’s bodies is determined in regu-
lations drawn up by the Bank Council (art. 42 para. 2 (j) NBA). The affiliations 
of the members of the bodies are recorded in the supervisory and manage-
ment bodies list (cf. p. 139).

The remuneration of the Bank Council consists of a fixed annual sala-
ry plus an attendance allowance, while the members of the Governing Board 
receive a salary plus a lump-sum compensation for representation expenses. 
The remuneration of the members of the Bank Council and the Governing 
Board currently in office breaks down as follows:

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Members of the Bank Council 0.6592 0.4471 +0.212
 of which for the President of the  
 Bank Council 0.114 0.082 +0.032
 of which for the Vice-President of the 
 Bank Council 0.054 0.041 +0.013
Three members of the Governing Board 1.736 1.736 –
 of which for the Chairman of the 
 Governing Board 0.592 0.592 –
 of which for the Vice-Chairman of the 
 Governing Board  0.572 0.572 –

In the period under review, the National Bank did not make any sev-
erance payments to former members of the Bank Council or the Governing 
Board. The SNB does not pay any performance-linked remuneration. In par-
ticular, there are no share or option programmes for members of the Govern-
ing Board or Bank Council. The National Bank does not grant any loans to 
governing bodies.

No National Bank shares were held by members of the Governing Board 
and Bank Council as at 31 December 2004. 

The members and the substitute members of the Auditing Commit-
tee received remuneration totalling CHF 20,141 for outlays and attendance 
fees in the 2004 financial year. The Auditing Committee was dissolved with 
the entry into force of the new NBA and replaced by an external Audit Board 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2004). The chief auditor has been in office since 
the 2004 financial year.

During this period, mandates were entrusted to Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers AG (statutory auditing mandate), KPMG and Compass AG (IT audit).  
Fees totalled CHF 171,084 and CHF 93,832 respectively. In addition, consultancy  
fees in the amount of CHF 43,457 were paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers AG. 
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Notifications to shareholders are, in principle, communicated by post 
to the address listed in the share register and published in the Swiss Official 
Gazette of Commerce (art. 28 NBA). Shareholders do not receive any informa-
tion not also made available to the public (cf. pp. 146–148). Information for 
shareholders can be found on the National Bank’s website (www.snb.ch/e/
snb/aktionaer/aktionaer.html). The deadlines for the submission of proposals 
and the registration of shareholders for participation in the General Meeting 
of Shareholders are also published at this address.

The registered shares of the National Bank are traded on the stock 
market. A total of 53.45% of the shares are held by cantons and cantonal 
banks; the remaining shares are owned primarily by private individuals (cf. 
p. 125). The major shareholders at the end of 2004 were the Canton of Berne  
with 6.6% (6,630 shares), Fritz Aeschbach, Monaco, with 6.3% (6,282 shares), 
and the Canton of Zurich with 5.2% (5,200 shares). The Confederation is not 
a shareholder. 

The National Bank is not structured as a group.

Information of shareholders

Listed registered shares
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Number of employees and 
turnover

Recruitment of foreign  
nationals

Management

4  Personnel, resources and bank management

4.1  Human resources

At the end of 2004, the National Bank’s staff numbered 656 per-
sons (including 22 apprentices). It thus exceeded the previous year’s level by  
four persons (including two apprentices). Converted into full-time equivalent 
jobs, the number of employees rose from 607.9 to 611.3. The number of part-time 
employees decreased by 4 to 150, corresponding to a part-time rate of 22.9%.  
Personnel turnover was up from 3.9% a year earlier to 4.9%. This was mainly 
the result of 20 jobs being relocated from Berne to Zurich.

With the entry into force of the new National Bank Act (NBA), it  
became possible for the first time to recruit staff from abroad. In particular, 
the National Bank now has the opportunity to hire highly qualified foreign 
specialists. However, positions on the Enlarged Governing Board can still only 
be occupied by Swiss citizens.

In mid-2004, new management principles were introduced in the  
National Bank. Applied bank-wide, they form the basis for conscious  
management decisions and for the methodical further development of the 
corresponding skills within the SNB. Moreover, basic management training 
was made compulsory for prospective managerial staff, as were systematic 
advanced management courses for experienced executives.

Human Resources
Number of employees

Full-time, men 417

Part-time, men 39

Full-time, women 89

Part-time, women 111

Total: 656
End of 2004
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4.2  Resources

The National Bank revised its planning and budgeting process in 
2004. Thanks to the new planning process, which links the elements of strat-
egy, planning and budget, the operational management of the SNB has been 
enhanced to optimally suit the respective organisational function. Strategic 
principles describe the development guidelines, forming a bank-wide strat-
egy. New regulations on the delegation of responsibilities and on budget  
authority were introduced. Furthermore, the establishment of the new bodies  
responsible for the operational management – i.e. the Enlarged Governing 
Board and the Board of Deputies – has strengthened the management co-
ordination.

The National Bank holds real estate for operational requirements only, 
rather than for investment purposes. 

The two renovation projects at the Zurich head office have progressed 
according to plan and within budget, and quality standards were complied 
with. In the main building at Börsenstrasse 15, the second phase – the reno-
vation of the cashier’s office, the security gate and the mezzanine floor – was 
concluded, and operations there were started in November. The construction 
preparations for the third and final phase, the conversion of the three office 
floors, has progressed to such a stage that work can be commenced in the 
second quarter of 2005. The comprehensive renovation of the premises at 
Nüschelerstrasse 22 began at the end of June. The premises should be ready 
for occupation in May 2005. Planning of the related large-scale relocation of 
offices at the Zurich head office is under way.

The environmental performance evaluation published in the 2004  
reporting year is the first assessment in the new target period covering  
2003–2008. The National Bank’s impact on the environment (measured in eco 
indicator points) was slightly higher overall in 2003. This was primarily due 
to the increase in air travel caused by the growing internationalisation of the 
National Bank’s activities. The demolition waste resulting from the renova-
tion work at the main building in Zurich, too, temporarily contributed to the 
higher impact on the environment. Electricity consumption, by contrast, was 
reduced by 2%, heat consumption by 15% and water consumption by 14%. 
In an external audit carried out for the first time, the auditing company gave 
the National Bank good marks for meeting the targets set in the ecological 
charter.

In the period under review, the IT infrastructure, which has been com-
prehensively updated in recent years, and the new applications continued to 
be consolidated and gradually enhanced. The entire central application for 
foreign currency investments was replaced. In document management, the 
focus was on electronic solutions. Measures to ensure secure and reliable 
operations of the IT systems continued to absorb a substantial proportion 
of the available IT resources. Preparations were initiated for enhancing the 
technical facilities for secure communication (telephony, firewalls) with ex-
ternal parties. 

Planning and budgeting  
process

Property management

Environmental management: 
target period for 2003–2008

Developments in  
information technology
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Stable shares of costs
The bulk of the National Bank’s total operating costs were incurred by 

the position cash transactions (41%). These include the costs of producing 
banknotes and the costs arising in connection with banknote and coin cir-
culation. The costs relating to cashless payment transactions remained stable 
year-on-year at 3% of total operating costs. This position includes the ser-
vices of the National Bank in interbank payment transactions and in the field 
of payment transactions on behalf of other central banks and international 
organisations.

The position asset management, which comprises the costs relating 
to foreign exchange, money market, securities, gold and Lombard business, 
and the management of financial investments and gold holdings, declined 
slightly, amounting to 20% of total operating costs. The item monetary poli-
cy, which includes the costs involved in planning and formulating monetary 
policy as well as the costs for compiling statistics, rose slightly year-on-year 
to account for a 23% share. Services for the Confederation and services for 
third parties both remained unchanged from the previous year at 5% and 8% 
of total costs respectively. Services for third parties comprise the SNB’s contri-
bution to the Study Center Gerzensee, expenses for international cooperation 
(notably with the IMF) and technical assistance to foreign central banks. 

Cost units
In percent

Cash transactions 41

Cashless payment transactions 3

Asset management 20

Monetary policy 23

Services
for the Confederation 5

Services
for third parties 8



SNB 83 Business Report

4.3  Bank authorities, Regional Economic Councils  
 and management

 In connection with the reorganisation of the bodies under the new NBA, i.e. the 
 termination of their mandates, all members of the Bank Council, the Local 
 Committees and the Auditing Committee retired from their functions with effect 
 from the date of the General Meeting of Shareholders on 30 April 2004. 
 The National Bank thanks all of them for their – in some cases long-standing – 
 valuable services.
 Pursuant to arts. 39, 42 and 47 of the new NBA, the Bank Council is now 
 composed of eleven members; the president, the vice-president and four other 
 members are appointed by the Federal Council, while five members are elected by 
 the Shareholders’ Meeting. The Local Committee as a statutory body was abol-
 ished; the Bank Council appoints Regional Economic Councils, which are, how-
 ever, not statutory bodies. Instead of electing the Auditing Committee, the General 
 Meeting of Shareholders must appoint an Audit Board on an annual basis.

 On 11 February and 30 April 2004 respectively, the Federal Council and the 
 General Meeting of Shareholders elected the persons listed on p. 138 to the 
 Bank Council. The following persons were elected for the first time:
Konrad Hummler, Teufen, Managing Partner of Wegelin & Co., Private Bankers
Marina Masoni, Lugano, Member of the Cantonal Government and Head of the
 Department of Finance and Economic Affairs of the Canton of Ticino
Fritz Studer, Meggen
Eveline Widmer-Schlumpf, Felsberg, Member of the Cantonal Government and
 Head of the Finance and Military Department of the Canton of Graubünden 

 The General Meeting of Shareholders on 30 April 2004 elected
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich, as the Audit Board for the 2004/2005 term of office.

 The Bank Council proposes to the General Meeting of Shareholders on
 29 April 2005 that
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich, be reelected.

 The composition of the Bank Council remains unchanged.  

Reorganisation of bodies

Bank Council
 

Audit Board

Proposal to the  
General Meeting of  
Shareholders
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 On 3 December 2004, the Bank Council decided to rename the economic regions 
 of the National Bank with effect from 1 January 2005 as follows: 

 Former name New name

 Basel Region Region Northwestern Switzerland
 Berne Region Region Mittelland
 Geneva Region Region Geneva
 Lausanne Region Region Vaud-Valais
 Lugano Region Region Ticino
 Lucerne Region Region Central Switzerland
 St Gallen Region Region Eastern Switzerland
 Zurich Region Region Zurich
 

 With effect from the date of the General Meeting of Shareholders on 
 29 April 2005, the following members will resign from their positions:
Willy Egeli, Chairman of the Regional Economic Council Eastern Switzerland
Silvia Huber-Meier, Chairwoman of the Regional Economic Council Zurich
Rolf Mehr, Chairman of the Regional Economic Council Vaud-Valais
 The National Bank thanks them for their services. 
 

 On 14 May 2004, the Bank Council appointed those members of the former Local 
 Committees who stood for election to the corresponding Regional Economic 
 Councils (cf. list on p. 140). On 14 May and 3 December 2004, it supplemented 
 and enlarged several of the Regional Economic Councils by making the following 
 appointments:

Hans Büttiker, Dornach, CEO of EBM (as of 14 May 2004)
Matthys Dolder, Bienne-Benken, CEO of Dolder AG (as of 14 May 2004)
Gabriele Gabrielli, Möriken, Member of the Executive Committee of ABB Switzerland Ltd
 (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)

Xaver Sigrist, Lucerne, President and CEO of Anliker AG Bauunternehmung
 (as of 14 May 2004)
David Dean, Volketswil, CEO of Bossard AG 
 (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)

André Haemmerli, La Chaux-de-Fonds, General Manager of Johnson & Johnson
 (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)

Christoph Leemann, St Gallen, Chairman and CEO of Union Holding AG
 (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)
Eliano Ramelli, Trogen, Partner and Vice-President of the Board of Directors
 of Abacus Research AG (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)

Jean-Jacques Miauton, Epalinges, CEO of Gétaz Romang Holding SA 
 (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)

Milan Prenosil, Kilchberg, Chairman of the Board of Confiserie Sprüngli AG
 (as of the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2005)

Regional Economic Councils

Northwestern Switzerland

Central Switzerland

Mittelland

Eastern Switzerland

Vaud-Valais

Zurich
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 At the end of June 2004,
Erich Spörndli, Director, Deputy Head of Department III, retired. For 15 years, he served 
 the National Bank with his expertise and provided significant contributions to the 
 SNB, first as Head of Economic Studies and later as Head of Monetary Operations. 
 We thank him for his commitment.

 Upon proposal of the Bank Council, the Federal Council appointed
Thomas J. Jordan, former Head of Research in Department I, as his successor as of 
 1 July 2004.

 On 30 June 2004,
Peter Klauser relinquished his function as Deputy Head of Department I. He will continue 
 to carry out his duties as Head of Legal and Administrative Affairs. With his 
 decision, Peter Klauser freed the way for the introduction of the new management 
 structure, which provides for only one deputy head in each Department as 
 stipulated in the new Organisation Regulations approved by the Federal Council 
 on 23 June 2004. The Governing Board thanks Mr Klauser for his decision.
 
 The Bank Council elected
Hans Peter Biland as Director and Head of Information Technology
 with effect from 1 February and 1 April 2005 respectively.

Bank management
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5  Business performance

5.1  Financial result

The annual result of the Swiss National Bank was shaped by the write-
back of the provisions for the assignment of free assets in the amount of 
CHF 21,113 million. Not including this one-off transaction, the annual result 
amounted to CHF 500 million. This result, which fell significantly short of the 
year-earlier figure, was mainly due to lower foreign exchange rates and the 
lower price of gold. These developments led to significant valuation losses 
on gold holdings and foreign currency investments. After the allocation to 
provisions for currency reserves, a distributable annual profit of CHF 20,728 
million resulted. 

The profit distribution for 2004 totals CHF 24,015 million and thus 
clearly surpasses the distributable annual profit. The shortfall is offset by 
non-distributed profits from previous years. This reduces the distribution re-
serve by a total of CHF 3,287 million to CHF 6,948 million.

The net result from gold depends primarily on the development of the 
price of gold. At the beginning of the year, the gold price stood at almost 
CHF 16,600 per kilogram. Following its year’s peak of CHF 17,500 per kilo-
gram in mid-April, a trend reversal set in during the second quarter, lasting 
until mid-June. Subsequently, the gold price rose again steadily until the 
end of 2004, but it did not reach the level seen at the beginning of the year. 
The price decline of approximately CHF 640 per kilogram resulted in a loss of  
CHF 901 million. 

The net result from foreign currency investments hinges on current 
interest earnings, exchange rate developments in the investment currencies 
and changes in the market price of investment instruments. Interest rates in 
the markets in which the National Bank invests fell slightly until the begin-
ning of April. This trend was reversed by a substantial rise in the interest rate 
level lasting until the end of June. The second half of the year was marked by 
another decline in interest rates in all investment currencies. At the end of 
2004, interest rates in all currencies – with the exception of the US dollar and 
the Canadian dollar – were somewhat lower than at the beginning of the year. 
These developments resulted mostly in capital gains for the National Bank. 
Interest income and capital gains totalled CHF 3,204 million. 

Summary

Gold price on the decrease

Declining interest rate  
level abroad
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The foreign exchange rates of significance to the National Bank  
declined during the financial year. The decreases were moderate with the ex-
ception of the US dollar. During the first nine months, the greenback hovered 
around the CHF 1.26 mark before depreciating sharply in the last quarter, los-
ing roughly 10% of its value compared with the beginning of the year. For-
eign exchange rate movements resulted in a CHF 1,990 million loss for the 
National Bank. The income from foreign currency investments amounted to 
CHF 1,191 million in total.  

The interest rates in the Swiss capital market developed similarly to 
those in the foreign markets. The interest rate decline in the first quarter was 
followed by an increase in the second quarter. In the second half of the year, 
the downward trend set in again. The interest rate level fell slightly year-on-
year. The corresponding capital gains were modest. The net result from Swiss 
franc investments to the amount of CHF 304 million is thus largely made up of 
the interest income from securities and repo transactions in Swiss francs.

Operating expenses comprise general overheads, personnel and 
banknote expenses, and depreciation on tangible assets. At CHF 214 million, 
operating expenses were 4% lower than a year earlier. 

On 16 December 2004, the Council of States decided – for the second 
time – not to consider the Federal Council’s bill on the appropriation of the 
surplus gold reserves. It was thus obvious that there could be no parliamen-
tary majority to support an appropriation formula for the surplus gold that  
deviates from the applicable constitutional provision (cf. pp. 73–74). The Coun- 
cil of States clearly stated that it expects the gold reserves no longer required 
by the National Bank to be distributed as profit based on the applicable legal 
provisions. It was to be assumed, therefore, that another gold appropriation 
bill from the Federal Council would be just as unsuccessful in gaining the sup-
port of a majority in Parliament. This assessment was confirmed on 2 February 
2005, when the Federal Council decided that the gold assets with the coun-
tervalue of 1,300 tonnes of gold would be distributed to the Confederation 
(one-third) and the cantons (two-thirds). With this decision, the Council of 
States’ non-consideration of December 2004 became effective.

Weaker foreign exchange 
rates

Decline in Swiss franc  
interest rates

Slightly lower operating  
expenses

Write-back of the provisions 
for the assignment of  
free assets
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Consequently, there is no basis for further retaining the free assets 
with a view to assigning them to a third party. The existing law, which stipu-
lates that the earnings not required to build up currency reserves are to be 
distributed as profit (art. 30 para. 2 NBA), must be applied. The Bank Council 
and the Governing Board are of the opinion that it is not justified to main-
tain the former provisions for the assignment of free assets. The provisions 
for the assignment of free assets, consisting of the proceeds from gold sales 
realised to date, the market value of the as yet unsold portion of gold and the 
net result from hedging transactions for the sales proceeds in US dollars, were 
written back in the income statement at the end of 2004.

Prior to the increase in provisions which are stipulated in the National 
Bank Act, the annual result was CHF 21,613 million.Annual result
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5.2  Provisions prescribed in the National Bank Act

The National Bank does not distribute its entire annual result, as it is 
obliged by the NBA to set aside provisions from its earnings surplus to build 
up currency reserves. These reserves allow the National Bank to intervene  
in the market should the Swiss franc become excessively weak. The currency  
reserves also make Switzerland’s economy less vulnerable to international cri-
ses and thereby engender confidence in the Swiss franc. The need for foreign 
exchange reserves is growing in tandem with the size and international inte-
gration of the Swiss economy.

Moreover, the provisions for currency reserves have a general reserve 
function and cover the market, credit and liquidity risks to which the National 
Bank’s assets are exposed. 

In accordance with art. 30 para. 1 NBA and the profit distribution 
agreement of 5 April 2002, the provisions formed on the liabilities side of the 
balance sheet for the purpose of building up currency reserves are increased 
in step with the growth of nominal gross domestic product (GDP). The tar-
geted percentage rise is based on the average GDP growth over the past five 
years. This avoids the need for subsequent corrections and prevents large 
fluctuations from year to year.

Development of targeted level

 Growth in nominal GDP1 Annual allocation New targeted level3

 In percent (average period)
2
 CHF millions CHF millions

2000 2.0 (1994–1998) 522.7 26 655.4
2001 2.6 (1995–1999) 682.4 27 337.8
2002 3.3 (1996–2000) 902.1 28 239.9
2003 2.3 (1997–2001) 829.3 36 886.74

2004 2.4 (1998–2002) 885.3 37 841.05

2005 2.1 (1999–2003) 794.7 38 635.7

Purpose

Targeted level

1  Until 2002: nominal gross 
national product (GNP).

2  The data is revised on  
a continuous basis. The growth 
rates shown in the table thus 
differ slightly from the latest 
available data.

3  After the allocation of the 
reporting year.

4  Including CHF 7,817.5 mil-
lion from the integration of 
the provisions for market and 
liquidity risks on gold on  
1 January 2003 (cf. 96th Annual 
Report 2003, pp. 105–106).

5  Including CHF 69.0 million 
from the transfer of the re-
serve fund on 1 May 2004 pur-
suant to art. 57 para. 2 NBA.
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Previously, these provisions were covered by two balance sheet posi-
tions, i.e. provisions for market, credit and liquidity risks and provisions for 
operating risks. In order to achieve a steady flow of payments, profit was 
distributed by means of the provisions for market, credit and liquidity risks, 
which therefore also included the surplus provisions for future profit distribu-
tions. Any changes in the provisions were shown in the income statement.

With the entry into force of the new NBA on 1 May 2004 and two new 
guidelines of Swiss GAAP FER (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles is-
sued by the Foundation for Accounting and Reporting Recommendations), the 
reporting method for the provisions shown in the National Bank’s Financial  
Report was revised. The two provision items used to build up adequate cur-
rency reserves were merged and renamed provisions for currency reserves. This 
new name was chosen to express the purpose of these provisions, which is 
to ensure the growth of the currency reserves on the assets side. The surplus 
provisions for future profit distributions were transferred to a distribution  
reserve. Consequently, the provisions for currency reserves now correspond  
to the targeted level. Both the allocation to the provisions for currency  
reserves and the changes in the distribution reserve are now shown in the 
appropriation of profit. The restatement (cf. pp. 107–109) provides more de-
tailed information. 

This year’s increase in the targeted level of provisions amounts to  
CHF 885 million in accordance with the average growth in GDP during the 
1998–2002 period, which was 2.4% in nominal terms. The allocation from the 
2004 annual result is made as part of the profit appropriation and must be 
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

Pursuant to art. 30 para. 2 NBA, the distributable annual profit cor-
responds to the earnings remaining after the provisions for currency reserves 
are set aside. After the allocation to the provisions, a distributable annual 
profit of CHF 20,728 million resulted for 2004. 

Reporting of provisions in 
the previous balance sheet

Reporting of provisions in 
the new balance sheet

Allocation from the  
2004 annual result

Distributable annual profit
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5.3  Profit distribution

The National Bank’s profit distribution is laid down in art. 31 NBA. 
Since the 2003 financial year, the amount of the annual profit distribution to 
the Confederation and the cantons has been determined by two agreements 
concluded between the National Bank and the Federal Department of Finance. 
In the 2004 financial year, the special agreement on the distribution of the 
proceeds from the sale of 1,300 tonnes of gold applies in addition. 

The main agreement on the distribution of profit concluded on 5 April 
2002 stipulated that – in order to achieve a steady flow of payments in the 
medium term – distributions to the Confederation and the cantons would  
be fixed at CHF 2.5 billion per year for the period 2003–2012 on the basis 
of an earnings forecast. This agreement relates to the current profits earned 
by the National Bank on its monetary assets and to the reduction in surplus 
provisions. 

The supplementary agreement concluded on 12 June 2003 mainly  
relates to the income accruing on the National Bank’s free assets. According 
to this agreement, the National Bank has – since spring 2004 and until such 
time as different legislation enters into force – distributed one-third of this 
income to the Confederation and two-thirds to the cantons. As the gold sales 
progress, the annual distribution will grow from CHF 300 million in spring 
2004 to CHF 400 million in spring 2005. Under the agreement on the distri-
bution of the proceeds from the sale of 1,300 tonnes of gold, this supple-
mentary agreement will become null and void following the distribution of  
CHF 400 million for the 2004 financial year. 

The agreement concluded on 25 February 2005 concerns the distri-
bution of the countervalue of the 1,300 tonnes of gold no longer required 
for monetary policy purposes. The amount of the one-off distribution corre-
sponds to the proceeds from the sale of 1,235.9 tonnes of gold, the market 
value of the as yet unsold 64.1 tonnes of gold and the net result from hedg-
ing transactions for the sales proceeds in US dollars as at 31 December 2004. 
The distributable amount totals CHF 21,113.2 million. 

The profit distribution for the 2004 financial year will total CHF 24.0 bil- 
lion: CHF 21.1 billion will be distributed under the special agreement on 
the distribution of the proceeds from the sale of 1,300 tonnes of gold,  
CHF 2.5 billion under the 2002 main agreement, and CHF 0.4 billion according 
to the 2003 supplementary agreement on the distribution of income on free 
assets. Dividend payments amount to CHF 1.5 million. 

For the payment of this year’s profit distribution, CHF 3.3 billion must 
be drawn from the distribution reserve, which is thus reduced to CHF 6.9 billion.  

Profit distribution  
agreements

Main agreement

Supplementary agreement

Agreement on the  
distribution of the  
gold proceeds

2004 profit distribution

Distribution reserve
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Development of profit distribution and distribution reserve

 Residual surplus prior to Profit distribution Residual surplus for 
 distribution  future distributions

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

2000 14 205.1 1 500.0 12 705.1
2001 14 881.0 1 500.0 13 381.0
2002 13 240.4 2 500.0 10 740.4
2003 13 047.0 2 800.0 10 247.01

 Distribution reserve  Distributable  Profit distribution Distribution reserve 
 prior to distribution annual profit  after distribution

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

2004 10 235.51 20 727.6 24 014.7 6 948.4

5.4  Share capital and reserve fund

With the entry into force of the new NBA, the share capital was reduced  
to the paid-up amount and the reserve fund was liquidated. 

Previously, the share capital amounted to CHF 50 million, only half of 
which was paid up, however. Given today’s balance sheet total and consider-
able provisions, the share capital no longer carries any economic significance. 
When the new NBA came into force, the share capital was thus reduced to the 
paid-up amount of CHF 25 million and the non-paid-up amount was waived. 
As a consequence, the nominal value of one (now fully paid-up) share was 
lowered to CHF 250.

The reserve fund created under the previous NBA served to cover any 
capital stock losses. Each year, CHF 1 million was added to the reserve fund. 
After the profit appropriation of the 2003 financial year, the fund had totalled 
CHF 69 million (cf. pp. 98–99). With the entry into force of the new NBA, the 
reserve fund was transferred to the provisions prescribed in the Act (pursuant 
to art. 57 para. 2 NBA).

1  Cf. transfer of the residual 
surplus for future distributions 
to the distribution reserve,  
p. 126, Item no. 26.

Reduction of the  
share capital

Liquidation of the  
reserve fund
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  2004 2003 Change

 Item no.
  in Notes 
 

Net result from gold 01 –900.7 2 615.1 –3 515.8
Net result from foreign currency investments 02 1 191.2 1 526.3 –335.1
Net result from Swiss franc investments 03 304.4 125.2 +179.2
Net result from other assets 04 22.4 14.3 +8.1
 
Gross income  617.3 4 280.9 –3 663.6

Banknote expenses  –41.8 –45.2 +3.4
Personnel expenses 05, 06 –99.7 –98.4 –1.3
General overheads 07 –45.6 –55.3 +9.6
Depreciation on tangible assets 15 –26.6 –25.1 –1.5

Net income  403.6 4 057.0 –3 653.4

Allocated to (–)/released from (+) provisions for the
 assignment of free assets  96.0 –912.4 +1 008.4
Write-back of the provisions for the
 assignment of free assets  21 113.2 – +21 113.2

Annual result   21 612.9 3 144.6 +18 468.3

Allocation to provisions for currency reserves  –885.3 –829.3 –56.0

Distributable annual profit  20 727.6 2 315.3 +18 412.3

Allocated to (–)/released from (+) the
 distribution reserve  3 287.1 493.0 +2 794.2

Total distribution of profit  24 014.7 2 808.3 +21 206.4
of which
 Payment of a dividend of 6%  1.5 1.5 –
 Additional appropriations of profit under the former NBA  6.8 –6.8
 Ordinary distribution of profit to the Confederation and
 to the cantons (Agreement of 5 April 2002)  2 500.0 2 500.0 –
 Supplementary distribution to the Confederation and 
 to the cantons (Agreement of 12 June 2003)  400.0 300.0 +100.0
 Distribution of the proceeds from the sale of 1,300 tonnes
 of gold (Agreement of 25 February 2005)  21 113.2  +21 113.2

1  Income statement and appropriation of profit for 2004
 In CHF millions
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 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 Change

 Item no.  
 in Notes

  
Assets 
 
 

Gold holdings 08  19 485.8 23 217.3 –3 731.5
Claims from gold transactions 09  2 153.4 3 910.7 –1 757.3

Foreign currency investments 10, 31 60 708.0 56 311.7 +4 396.3
Reserve position in the IMF 11  2 035.1 2 561.9 –526.8
International payment instruments 29  80.1 45.8 +34.3
Monetary assistance loans 12, 29 291.3 327.2 –35.9

Claims from repo transactions in Swiss francs 28  24 502.7 27 097.7 –2 594.9
Lombard advances 28  6.6 0.8 +5.8
Claims against domestic correspondents   11.8 36.8 –25.0
Swiss franc securities 13  7 393.6 7 657.9 –264.3

Banknote stocks 14  144.0 147.0 –3.0
Tangible assets 15  393.3 385.3 +8.0
Participations 16, 30 96.7 88.6 +8.1

Sundry assets 17, 32 606.3 983.9 –377.6

Non-paid-up share capital 25  – 25.0 –25.0

    117 908.8 122 797.7 –4 888.9

2  Balance sheet as at 31 December 2004
 In CHF millions
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 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 Change

 Item no.  
 in Notes

 
Liabilities 
 
 

Banknotes in circulation 18 39 719.3 40 544.0 –824.7
Sight deposits of domestic banks  6 541.7 7 186.6 –644.9

Liabilities towards the Confederation 19 2 154.8 2 853.1 –698.3
Sight deposits of foreign banks and institutions   329.4 486.0 –156.6
Other sight liabilities 20 165.0 153.4 +11.6
Liabilities from Swiss franc repo transactions  – – –
Foreign currency liabilities 21 0.5 130.5 –129.9
    
Sundry liabilities 22, 32 160.9 174.8 –13.9

Provisions for the assignment of free assets  23 – 21 209.3 –21 209.3
Provisions for operating risks 24 8.1 11.5 –3.4

Provisions for currency reserves  36 955.7 36 057.4 +898.3

Share capital 25 25.0 50.0 –25.0
Reserve fund  – 68.0 –68.0
Distribution reserve 26 10 235.5 10 728.5 –493.0
Annual result1  21 612.9 3 144.6 +18 468.3

   117 908.8 122 797.7 –4 888.9

 
1  Before allocation to provisions for currency reserves.

 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 Change

 Item no.  
 in Notes

  
Assets 
 
 

Gold holdings 08  19 485.8 23 217.3 –3 731.5
Claims from gold transactions 09  2 153.4 3 910.7 –1 757.3

Foreign currency investments 10, 31 60 708.0 56 311.7 +4 396.3
Reserve position in the IMF 11  2 035.1 2 561.9 –526.8
International payment instruments 29  80.1 45.8 +34.3
Monetary assistance loans 12, 29 291.3 327.2 –35.9

Claims from repo transactions in Swiss francs 28  24 502.7 27 097.7 –2 594.9
Lombard advances 28  6.6 0.8 +5.8
Claims against domestic correspondents   11.8 36.8 –25.0
Swiss franc securities 13  7 393.6 7 657.9 –264.3

Banknote stocks 14  144.0 147.0 –3.0
Tangible assets 15  393.3 385.3 +8.0
Participations 16, 30 96.7 88.6 +8.1

Sundry assets 17, 32 606.3 983.9 –377.6

Non-paid-up share capital 25  – 25.0 –25.0

    117 908.8 122 797.7 –4 888.9
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3  Changes in equity capital
 In CHF millions

 Share capital Non-paid-up   

  share capital

Equity capital as at 1 January 2003 50.0 –25.0
Result from change in accounting  
principles1

Equity capital as at 1 January 2003   
(after restatement) 50.0 –25.0
Endowment of provisions for currency 
reserves pursuant to the NBA 
Released from distribution reserve
Allocation to reserve fund
Distribution of dividends to the shareholders
Per capita distribution to the cantons
Profit distribution to the Confederation  
and to the cantons
Annual result of the year under review 
Equity capital as at 31 December 2003 
(before appropriation of profit) 50.0 –25.0

Equity capital as at 1 January 2004 50.0 –25.0
Endowment of provisions for currency reserves  
pursuant to the NBA
Released from distribution reserve
Allocation to reserve fund
Distribution of dividends to the shareholders
Per capita distribution to the cantons
Profit distribution to the Confederation  
and to the cantons
Reduction of nominal value –25.0 25.0
Liquidation of reserve fund
Annual result of the year under review 
Equity capital as at 31 December 2004 
(after appropriation of profit) 25.0 –

Proposed appropriation of profit
Endowment of provisions for currency reserves 
pursuant to the NBA
Released from distribution reserve
Distribution of dividends to the shareholders
Profit distribution to the Confederation  
and to the cantons
Distribution of the proceeds from the sale 
of 1,300 tonnes of gold
Equity capital after appropriation of profit 25.0 –1 Cf. pp. 107–109.
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3  Changes in equity capital
 In CHF millions

 Share capital Non-paid-up   

  share capital

Equity capital as at 1 January 2003 50.0 –25.0
Result from change in accounting  
principles1

Equity capital as at 1 January 2003   
(after restatement) 50.0 –25.0
Endowment of provisions for currency 
reserves pursuant to the NBA 
Released from distribution reserve
Allocation to reserve fund
Distribution of dividends to the shareholders
Per capita distribution to the cantons
Profit distribution to the Confederation  
and to the cantons
Annual result of the year under review 
Equity capital as at 31 December 2003 
(before appropriation of profit) 50.0 –25.0

Equity capital as at 1 January 2004 50.0 –25.0
Endowment of provisions for currency reserves  
pursuant to the NBA
Released from distribution reserve
Allocation to reserve fund
Distribution of dividends to the shareholders
Per capita distribution to the cantons
Profit distribution to the Confederation  
and to the cantons
Reduction of nominal value –25.0 25.0
Liquidation of reserve fund
Annual result of the year under review 
Equity capital as at 31 December 2004 
(after appropriation of profit) 25.0 –

Proposed appropriation of profit
Endowment of provisions for currency reserves 
pursuant to the NBA
Released from distribution reserve
Distribution of dividends to the shareholders
Profit distribution to the Confederation  
and to the cantons
Distribution of the proceeds from the sale 
of 1,300 tonnes of gold
Equity capital after appropriation of profit 25.0 –

Reserve fund Provisions for  Distribution  Annual result   Total
 currency reserves reserve (net profit)

 67.0 – – 2 508.7 2 600.7
 
  35 155.3 12 967.1 –1 336.5 46 785.9
 
 67.0 35 155.3 12 967.1 1 172.2 49 386.6
 
  902.1  –902.1 
   –2 238.6 2 238.6 
 1.0   –1.0 
    –1.5 –1.5
    –6.2 –6.2
 
    –2 500.0 –2 500.0
    3 144.6 3 144.6
 
 68.0 36 057.4 10 728.5 3 144.6 50 023.5
    
 68.0 36 057.4 10 728.5 3 144.6 50 023.5
 
  829.3  –829.3 
   –493.0 493.0 
 1.0   –1.0 
    –1.5 –1.5
    –5.8 –5.8
 
    –2 800.0 –2 800.0

 –69.0 69.0
    +21 612.9 +21 612.9
 
 – 36 955.7 10 235.5 21 612.9 68 829.1

 
  885.3  –885.3
   –3 287.1 +3 287.1
    –1.5 –1.5
 
    –2 900.0 –2 900.0
 
    –21 113.2 –21 113.2
 – 37 841.0 6 948.4 – 44 814.4
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4  Notes to the accounts as at 
 31 December 2004
4.1  Accounting and valuation principles

General
The present Financial Report has been drawn up in accordance with 

the provisions of the National Bank Act (NBA), the Swiss Code of Obligations 
(SCO) and – with due account being taken of circumstances specific to the 
National Bank – in compliance with the Swiss GAAP FER accounting princi-
ples. The Financial Report gives a true and fair view of the financial position, 
the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with the Swiss 
GAAP FER. 

As a company listed in the main segment of the Swiss stock exchange 
SWX, the National Bank would be obliged to present its accounts in accord-
ance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Citing  
art. 27 NBA, the National Bank requested to be exempted from this obligation.  
By letter of 5 November 2004, the SWX granted the exempt status. 

Reporting and allocation of the provisions defined in the NBA were 
adjusted upon entry into force of the new NBA and the first-time application 
of the Swiss GAAP FER 23 (provisions) and 24 (equity capital). In so doing, 
the names of the provisions were changed as well. These adjustments were 
made to take effect retroactively as of 1 January 2003 and are shown in the 
restatement (cf. pp. 107–109).

The income statement was streamlined by combining several posi-
tions previously shown separately. In addition, two positions were reallocat-
ed. Interest expenses – previously a separate item – are now included in the 
net result from foreign currency investments and in the net result from Swiss 
franc investments, respectively. Commission expenses, which were previously 
included in general overheads, have been reallocated to net results from other 
assets, i.e. net result from foreign currency investments and net result from 
Swiss franc investments.

The National Bank does not prepare a cash flow statement. Since 
the National Bank can autonomously create money as a central bank, such   
a statement is not meaningful.

The National Bank has so far not published interim results. As from 
the 2005 financial year, it shall publish quarterly results. 

The National Bank operates exclusively as a central bank. For this rea-
son, the Financial Report does not include any segment information.

The National Bank does not hold any participating material interests 
which are subject to consolidation according to FER 2. For this reason, the 
Annual Report does not include a consolidated financial report. 

All business transactions are recorded on the day the transaction 
is concluded (trade day accounting). However, they are only posted on the  
value date. Transactions completed as of the balance-sheet date with a value 
date in the future are stated under off-balance-sheet business.

General principles

Changes from previous year

Cash flow statement

Interim reporting

Segment information

Consolidated financial report

Recording of transactions
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Expenses are recognised in the financial year in which they are in-
curred, and income in the financial year in which it is earned.  

Pursuant to art. 8 NBA, the National Bank is exempt from profit taxes. 
Tax exemption applies to both direct federal taxes and cantonal and munici-
pal taxes.

Shareholders of the National Bank have very limited rights; for this 
reason they cannot exert any influence on financial and operative decisions. 
No essential transactions are concluded with members of the SNB’s executive 
bodies or the Bank Council. 

Balance sheet and income statement
Gold and negotiable financial instruments are stated in the balance 

sheet at market value or fair value. Tangible assets are stated at their acqui-
sition cost less required depreciation. Other items are stated at their nominal 
value inclusive of accrued interest. Foreign currency items are translated at 
year-end rates. Income and expenses in foreign currency are translated at the 
exchange rates applicable at the time the income/expenses was/were posted 
to the accounts.

Physical gold holdings, consisting of gold bars and gold coins, are 
stored at various locations in Switzerland and abroad. These holdings are 
stated at market value. Valuation gains and losses are reported in net result 
from gold. 

The management of the National Bank’s investment portfolio includes 
lending a part of its gold holdings to first-class domestic and foreign finan-
cial institutions. The National Bank receives interest on the gold loaned. Gold 
lending transactions are effected on a secured and unsecured basis with ma-
turities of up to five years. Since the gold price risk remains with the National 
Bank, gold lent is not booked out of the balance sheet, but merely reclassified 
and stated as claims from gold transactions. Claims from gold transactions are 
stated at market value inclusive of accrued interest. The valuation result and 
interest are stated in net result from gold.

In foreign currency investments, negotiable securities (money market 
paper and bonds) and assets (sight deposit accounts, call money, time depos-
its and repos) are denominated in foreign currency. Securities, which make 
up the bulk of the foreign currency investments, are stated at market value 
inclusive of accrued interest. The assets are stated at their nominal value in-
clusive of accrued interest. Gains and losses from revaluation at market value, 
interest earnings and exchange rate gains and losses are stated in net result 
from foreign currency investments. 

Accrual reporting

Profit tax

Transactions with related 
parties

Summary

Gold holdings

Claims from gold  
transactions

Foreign currency  
investments
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Securities lending transactions are concluded as part of the manage-
ment of foreign currency investments. The SNB loans securities from its own 
portfolio and, in exchange for collateral securities, it receives interest on 
the securities loaned. Loaned securities remain in the foreign currency in-
vestments position and are disclosed in the notes to the accounts. Interest  
income from securities lending is stated in net result from foreign currency  
investments. The National Bank does not engage in securities borrowing.

The reserve position in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) com-
prises the Swiss quota less the IMF’s sight balances at the National Bank. The 
quota is Switzerland’s portion of the IMF capital financed by the National 
Bank. It is held in the form of Special Drawing Rights (SDRs), which are the 
IMF’s currency. A part of the quota was not transferred to the IMF, but paid 
into a sight deposit account. The IMF can dispose of these assets for its trans-
actions at any time. The income from interest on the reserve position as well 
as the exchange rate gains and losses from revaluation of the Special Drawing 
Rights are stated in net result from foreign currency investments. 

Claims from two-way arrangements with the IMF are stated in inter-
national payment instruments. The National Bank has committed itself to  
purchase up to SDR 400 million against foreign currency. These sight deposits  
attract interest at market conditions. Interest earnings and exchange rate 
gains and losses are stated in net result from foreign currency investments.

In the context of international cooperation, Switzerland may partici-
pate in the IMF’s internationally coordinated balance-of-payments aid in the 
form of a credit tranche or by granting bilateral monetary assistance loans 
to countries with balance-of-payments problems. In addition to one bilateral 
monetary assistance loan, currently outstanding claims include those under 
the Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (PRGF). The latter is a fiduciary 
fund administered by the IMF which finances long-term loans at reduced in-
terest rates to poor developing countries. The Confederation guarantees the 
interest and principal repayments both on the bilateral loans and on Swit-
zerland’s participation in the PRGF credit account. These loans are stated at 
their nominal value inclusive of accrued interest. Interest earnings and ex-
change rate gains and losses are stated in net result from foreign currency 
investments.

Repo transactions in Swiss francs are the National Bank’s major mone-
tary policy instrument. Repo transactions are used to provide the banking 
system with liquidity or to withdraw liquidity from it. Claims from repo trans-
actions are fully backed by securities from the SNB General Collateral Basket. 
Claims and liabilities from repo transactions are stated at their nominal value 
inclusive of accrued interest. Interest earnings and expenses are stated in net 
result from Swiss franc investments.

 

Securities lending

Reserve position in the IMF

International payment  
instruments

Monetary assistance loans

Claims and liabilities  
from repo transactions  
in Swiss francs



SNB 103 Financial Report

Lombard advances

Claims against domestic  
correspondents

Swiss franc securities

Banknote stocks

Tangible assets

Participations

Lombard loans are used by the banks to bridge unforeseeable liquidity 
shortfalls in the short term. These claims attract interest at the call money 
rate plus 200 basis points. They are stated at their nominal value inclusive 
of accrued interest. Interest earnings are stated in net result from Swiss franc 
investments.

Domestic correspondents perform local cash redistribution trans-
actions and cover the cash requirements of federal agencies and enterprises 
associated with the Federal Government (Swiss Post and Swiss Federal Rail-
ways). This results in short-term claims of the National Bank which attract 
interest at the call money rate. They are stated at their nominal value inclu-
sive of accrued interest. Interest earnings are stated in net result from Swiss 
franc investments.

Swiss franc securities are made up exclusively of negotiable bonds. 
They are stated at their nominal value inclusive of accrued interest. Valuation 
gains/losses and interest earnings are stated in net result from Swiss franc 
investments.

Freshly printed banknotes which have never been put into circulation 
are capitalised at their acquisition cost and stated in banknote stocks. At the 
time a banknote first enters into circulation, its acquisition cost is charged 
to banknote expenses.

Tangible assets comprise real estate (including land), conversions, 
immovables under construction, and sundry tangible assets. Software, as the 
only intangible asset, is also included in tangible assets. For materiality rea-
sons, intangible assets are not shown separately in the balance sheet, but 
are only disclosed in the notes to the accounts. Day-to-day maintenance ex-
penses for real estate and sundry tangible assets are stated in general over-
heads. Investments of less than CHF 1,000 are also charged directly to general 
overheads. Tangible assets are stated at their acquisition cost less required 
depreciation and value adjustments. Depreciation is always carried out on 
a straight-line basis. Profits and losses from the sale of tangible assets are 
stated in net results from other assets.

Minority interests in excess of 20% qualify as an associated company 
and are valued according to the equity method. The remaining minority inter-
ests in companies in which the National Bank exercises no material influence 
or non-essential majority interests are valued at acquisition cost less required 
value adjustments. The entire income from participations is stated in net re-
sults from other assets.



SNB 104 Financial Report

Derivative financial  
instruments

Accrued expenses and  
deferred income

Banknotes in circulation

Sight deposits  
of domestic banks

Liabilities towards the  
Confederation

Sight deposits of foreign 
banks and institutions

Other sight liabilities

The National Bank uses foreign currency forward transactions, futures 
and interest rate swaps to manage its currency reserves and free assets. All 
derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. Market values are  
applied, if available. If no market values are available, fair value is estab-
lished in accordance with recognised financial mathematical methods. Valua-
tion changes are recorded in the income statement and shown in net result 
from foreign currency investments. Unrealised gains and losses (gross replace-
ment values) are stated in sundry assets or sundry liabilities.

The National Bank does not state accrued expenses and deferred  
income as separate positions in its balance sheet. For materiality reasons, 
they are reported in sundry assets or sundry liabilities and are disclosed in the 
notes to the accounts.

The position banknotes in circulation shows the nominal value of  
all banknotes held by the public and by the banks, including recalled, still 
exchangeable notes from previous series.  

Sight deposits of domestic banks in Swiss francs form the basis on 
which the National Bank controls monetary policy. They also facilitate cashless 
payments within Switzerland. These sight deposits are non-interest-bearing  
accounts which are stated at their nominal value.

The National Bank holds a sight deposit account for the Confederation 
which bears interest at the call money rate for amounts up to a maximum of 
CHF 600 million. Moreover, the Confederation may place time deposits with 
the National Bank at market rates. The liabilities towards the Confederation  
are stated at their nominal value inclusive of accrued interest. Interest  
expenses are recorded in net result from Swiss franc investments.

The National Bank holds sight deposit accounts for foreign banks and 
institutions which facilitate payment transactions in Swiss francs. These sight 
deposits do not bear interest and are stated at their nominal value.

Sight deposits of non-banks, accounts held by active and retired staff 
members and pension funds of the SNB, as well as liabilities in the form of 
bank cheques drawn on the National Bank but not yet cashed are stated in 
other sight liabilities at their nominal value inclusive of accrued interest.  
Interest expenses are stated in net result from Swiss franc investments.
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Foreign currency liabilities comprise liabilities towards the Confedera-
tion and repo transactions related to the management of foreign currency  
investments. They are stated at their nominal value inclusive of accrued  
interest. Interest expenses and exchange rate gains and losses are stated in 
foreign currency investments.

The provisions for the assignment of free assets reflect the fact that 
an amount of gold initially totalling 1,300 tonnes is no longer required for 
monetary purposes. The provisions are based on the proceeds from gold sales, 
the market value of the as yet unsold gold and the realised results from hedg-
ing transactions for the sales proceeds denominated in US dollars.

Following the decision of the Council of States and the Federal Council  
to distribute 1,300 tonnes of gold in accordance with the current law, an  
assignment to third parties is no longer applicable. For this reason, the provi-
sion was written back as at 31 December 2004. 

Provisions for operating risks include reorganisation and other provi-
sions pursuant to FER 23. Reorganisation provisions are financial obligations 
to staff members taking early retirement as a result of reorganisation.

Art. 30 para. 1 NBA stipulates that the National Bank shall set up 
provisions permitting it to maintain the currency reserves at a level neces-
sary for monetary policy. In so doing, it shall take into account the devel-
opment of the Swiss economy. Under the profit distribution agreement of  
5 April 2002, the provisions for currency reserves shall expand in step with 
the growth in nominal gross domestic product. These special law provisions 
are equity-like in nature and are incorporated in the table “Changes in equity 
capital”. The allocation is made as a part of the profit appropriation. 

With the exception of the dividend which – pursuant to the NBA 
– shall not exceed 6%, the Confederation and the cantons are entitled to 
the total remaining profit after adequate provisions for currency reserves.  
To achieve a steady flow of payments in the medium term, the profit distribu-
tions are fixed in advance in an agreement concluded between the Confedera-
tion and the National Bank. The distribution reserve contains the as yet  
non-distributed profits. The currently valid agreement provides for a continu-
ous reduction of as yet non-distributed profits until 2012.

All employees are insured under defined benefit pension plans accord-
ing to Swiss GAAP FER 16. The National Bank does not activate excess cover. 
Any shortfall in cover is stated as a liability.

Foreign currency liabilities

Provisions for the  
assignment of free assets

Provisions for  
operating risks

Provisions for  
currency reserves

Distribution reserve

Pension fund
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Off-balance-sheet business
Contingent liabilities are obligations entered into as a result of  

contracts, laws or implied actions. A resultant future outflow of funds is pos-
sible, but will probably not materialise. The maximum amount owed from  
contingent liabilities is stated in the notes under off-balance-sheet  
business. 

Fiduciary transactions encompass investments which the National 
Bank makes in its own name but on the basis of a written contract exclusively  
for the account and at the risk of the Confederation. These transactions are 
shown in the notes at market value under off-balance-sheet business.

Irrevocable undertakings include credit arrangements the National 
Bank has granted to the IMF in the context of international cooperation and 
credit lines for banks in the form of liquidity-shortage financing facilities 
(Lombard advances and special-rate repos). The maximum of resulting liabil-
ities are stated in the notes under off-balance-sheet business.

4.2  Foreign currency exchange rates  
 and gold price
 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 Change

 CHF CHF In percent

1 US dollar (USD) 1.13 1.24 –8.9
1 euro (EUR) 1.54 1.56 –1.3
1 British pound (GBP) 2.18 2.20 –0.9
100 Danish kroner (DKK)  20.74 20.93 –0.9
1 Canadian dollar (CAD) 0.94 0.96 –2.1
1 Special Drawing Right (SDR) 1.76 1.85 –4.9
1 kilogram of gold 15 939.44 16 580.81 –3.9

Contingent liabilities

Fiduciary business

Irrevocable undertakings
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Provisions in the  
previous balance sheet

Provisions in the  
new balance sheet

Restatements

4.3  Result from changes in the accounting  
 principles (restatement) 

With the entry into force of the new NBA and the two new guidelines 
Swiss GAAP FER 23 (provisions) and 24 (equity capital), reporting and alloca-
tion of the provisions defined in the NBA have been adjusted. This is because 
these provisions do not meet the criteria defined in Swiss GAAP FER 23 but 
are equity-like in nature. 

Provisions stipulated in the NBA, provisions for market, credit and 
liquidity risks and provisions for general operating risks have so far been 
recognised as liabilities. The provisions comprised the targeted level, rising 
in step with gross domestic product, and the surplus which serves to achieve 
a steady flow of future profit distributions. Any changes in these provisions 
were shown in the income statement.

The targeted level is shown as provisions for currency reserves and the 
surplus provisions have been transferred to the newly set up distribution re-
serve. Both positions are included in the equity capital. As a result, allocation 
to provisions for currency reserves is not made in the income statement at 
year-end but in the profit appropriation in the subsequent spring. The differ-
ence between distributable profit and planned distribution of profit is taken 
to the distribution reserve. 

The table below is a restatement of the provisions in the balance 
sheet retroactively as at 1 January 2003. In a first step, the annual result of 
the 2002 financial year was adjusted for the changes in the provisions shown 
in the balance sheet. This took into account that changes in provisions are 
no longer shown in the income statement at year-end but in the appropria-
tion of profits. In a second step, the two provision positions were grouped 
together and reallocated to provisions for currency reserves and the distribu-
tion reserve. 
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1  After transfer of the  
provisions for market and  
liquidity risks on gold; cf.  
96th Annual Report 2003,  
p. 106.

1  Income statement for 
2003, cf. 96th Annual  
Report, p. 85.

2  Previous year’s figures  
from the income statement  
in the present Financial  
Report (cf. p. 95).

3  Adjusted allocation to the 
provisions specified in the 
NBA. This allocation is now 
made as a part of the profit 
appropriation.

Restatement of provisions and equity capital as at 1 January 2003  

 Liabilities

 Provisions for   Provisions for  Provisions due
 market, credit  operating risks to reorganisation
 and liquidity risks   

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Position as at 1 January 20031 46 335.9 461.9 –

Restated annual result
Restatement of release of provisions for 
market, credit and liquidity risks  
affecting the income statement 1 734.5
Restatement of release of provisions for 
market and liquidity risks on gold  
affecting the income statement –398.0

Restated provisions
Transfer of reorganisation provisions  –11.9 11.9
Transfer of provisions for general  
operating risks 450.0 –450.0
Transfer of targeted amount to provisions  
for currency reserves –35 155.3
Transfer of surplus provisions to the 
distribution reserve –12 967.1

Position as at 1 January 2003 before 
appropriation of profit  – – 11.9

Total effect of change in  
accounting principles –46 335.9 –461.9 11.9

Restated net income and annual result for 2003

 2003 before  Restatement 2003 after 

 restatement1  restatement2

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Net income 4 057.0 – 4 057.0
Allocated to (–)/released from (+) 
provisions for
 the assignment of free assets –912.4  –912.4
 market, credit and liquidity risks3 –336.3 336.3 –
Annual result 2 808.3 336.3 3 144.6
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Restatement of provisions and equity capital as at 1 January 2003  

 Liabilities

 Provisions for   Provisions for  Provisions due
 market, credit  operating risks to reorganisation
 and liquidity risks   

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Position as at 1 January 20031 46 335.9 461.9 –

Restated annual result
Restatement of release of provisions for 
market, credit and liquidity risks  
affecting the income statement 1 734.5
Restatement of release of provisions for 
market and liquidity risks on gold  
affecting the income statement –398.0

Restated provisions
Transfer of reorganisation provisions  –11.9 11.9
Transfer of provisions for general  
operating risks 450.0 –450.0
Transfer of targeted amount to provisions  
for currency reserves –35 155.3
Transfer of surplus provisions to the 
distribution reserve –12 967.1

Position as at 1 January 2003 before 
appropriation of profit  – – 11.9

Total effect of change in  
accounting principles –46 335.9 –461.9 11.9

Restated net income and annual result for 2003

 2003 before  Restatement 2003 after 

 restatement1  restatement2

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Net income 4 057.0 – 4 057.0
Allocated to (–)/released from (+) 
provisions for
 the assignment of free assets –912.4  –912.4
 market, credit and liquidity risks3 –336.3 336.3 –
Annual result 2 808.3 336.3 3 144.6

 Equity capital

 Share capital Non-paid-up  Legal Provisions for  Distribution  Annual result  Total equity 
  share capital  reserves currency  reserve (net profit) capital
    reserves

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

 50.0 –25.0 67.0   2 508.7  2 600.7
      

  
 
      –1 734.5
  
 
      398.0
 

 

 
    35 155.3
 
     12 967.1

 
 50.0 –25.0 67.0 35 155.3 12 967.1 1 172.2  49 386.6

 
 – – – 35 155.3 12 967.1 –1 336.5  –
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Item no. 01 

Item no. 02

4.4  Notes to the income statement  
 and balance sheet

Net result from gold

Breakdown by type 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Net result from changes in market value –927.6 2 248.0 –3 175.6
Interest income from gold lending transactions 22.8 32.9 –10.2
Net result from hedging transactions 4.2 334.2 –330.1

Total –900.7 2 615.1 –3 515.8

The loss from changes in market value was due to the fall in the gold 
price by about CHF 640 per kilogram. In the previous year, the sharp rise in 
the gold price had resulted in large gains in market value. 

The lower interest income from gold lending transactions was mainly 
due to the lower volume of business. 

Despite the sharp fall in the US dollar exchange rate, the forward  
foreign exchange transactions (forward sale of US dollars) used to hedge  
the USD-denominated gold sale proceeds only yielded a small profit in the 
year under review. This is because the volume of hedging transactions fell 
substantially in line with gold sales.

Breakdown by origin  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Net result from monetary gold –804.7 1 702.8 –2 507.4
Net result from gold held as free assets –96.0 912.4 –1 008.4

Total –900.7 2 615.1 –3 515.8

Net result from foreign currency investments

Breakdown by type  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Interest and capital gain/loss 3 203.6 1 746.1 +1 457.5
Interest expenses –12.5 –7.9 –4.6
Exchange rate gain/loss –1 989.5 –201.8 –1 787.7
Asset management and safe custody account fees –10.4 –10.2 –0.2

Total 1 191.2 1 526.3 –335.1
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All investment currencies except the US and Canadian dollars saw  
interest rates fall in the past year. This resulted in capital gains. In the  
previous year, a rise in interest rates had resulted in capital losses in most of 
the relevant markets.

Breakdown by origin 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Foreign currency investments 1 282.5 1 543.1 –260.6
Reserve position in the IMF –70.6 –16.3 –54.3
International payment instruments 0.6 6.2 –5.6
Monetary assistance loans –8.8 1.2 –10.0
Foreign currency liabilities –12.5 –7.9 –4.6

Total 1 191.2 1 526.3 –335.1

Breakdown by currency 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

USD –615.0 –1 528.5 +913.6
EUR 1 575.6 2 650.9 –1 075.2
GBP 156.4 42.6 +113.8
DKK 179.0 239.9 –60.9
CAD 54.1 142.7 –88.6
SDR –79.1 –11.0 –68.0
Other –79.9 –10.2 –69.7

Total 1 191.2 1 526.3 –335.1

Exchange rate losses reduced the investment result in all currencies. 
As in the previous year, these exceeded the result prior to exchange rate  
effects in the case of US dollars and Special Drawing Rights, thus producing  
a net loss. In all other currencies, there was a net gain on the investments 
despite losses on conversion of foreign currency amounts into Swiss francs.
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Breakdown of exchange rate gain/loss by currency  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

USD –1 293.2 –1 877.6 +584.4
EUR –313.5 1 537.4 –1 850.9
GBP –157.2 –35.2 –122.0
DKK –11.2 144.6 –155.7
CAD –23.7 85.2 –108.9
SDR –121.2 –56.0 –65.1
Other –69.5 0.0 –69.6

Total –1 989.5 –201.8 –1 787.7

Net result from Swiss franc investments

Breakdown by type  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Interest and capital gain/loss 327.2 146.8 +180.3
Interest expenses –19.4 –18.2 –1.3
Trading and safe custody account fees –3.3 –3.5 +0.2

Total 304.4 125.2 +179.2

Breakdown by origin  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Swiss franc securities 265.1 101.0 +164.1
Swiss franc repo transactions 58.7 42.1 +16.6
Other assets 0.1 0.3 –0.2
Liabilities towards the Confederation –13.0 –12.0 –1.0
Other sight liabilities –6.4 –6.2 –0.3

Total 304.4 125.2 +179.2

Item no. 03
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Item no. 04

Item no. 05

Net result from other assets

  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Commission income 16.3 18.2 –1.9
Commission expenses –15.5 –17.8 +2.3
Income from participations 17.1 8.5 +8.6
Income from real estate 3.7 4.6 –0.9
Other ordinary income 0.7 0.8 –0.1

Total 22.4 14.3 +8.1

The commission income and expenses stated here originate from busi-
ness with third parties. The bulk of these commissions arose from services 
performed in connection with the National Bank’s function as paying agent 
for new issues, coupon payments and redemptions of Confederation bonds.

Income from real estate stems from the letting of Bank-owned prem-
ises not currently used for its own purposes.

Personnel expenses

  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

 

Wages, salaries and allowances 78.3 74.0 +4.3
Social insurance 15.4 15.8 –0.4
Other personnel expenses 6.0 8.5 –2.5

Total 99.7 98.4 +1.3
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Item no. 06 Employee benefit obligations

All employees are insured under defined benefit pension plans accord- 
ing to Swiss GAAP FER 16. The pension plans comprise two staff pension fund 
schemes. Both the SNB and its employees contribute to the schemes. Em-
ployees contribute 8% of their insured salary and the SNB 16%. 

Pension benefits are calculated annually by an independent insurance 
expert in accordance with the projected unit credit method, which is based 
on the insured salary most recently paid. Insured benefits comprise the re-
tirement pension, benefits on disability or death, and benefits for surviving 
dependents.

Basis for calculation 2004 2003

 In percent In percent

Discount rate 4.0 4.0
Projected long-term investment yield 4.5 4.5
Projected salary development 2.5 2.5
Projected pension development 1.5 1.5

Difference 2004 2003

 CHF millions CHF millions

Employee benefit obligations –587.6 –570.0
Pension fund assets 662.0 637.0

Excess (not capitalised) 74.4 67.0

Employee benefit expenses  2004 2003

 CHF millions CHF millions

Employee pension entitlements acquired 13.1 11.8
Interest on future pension entitlements 23.5 21.6
Projected income from pension fund assets –26.5 –25.5
Employee contributions –4.7 –4.7
Imputed net pension expense 5.4 3.2

Employee benefit expenses posted (employer contributions) 9.9 10.0
Imputed net pension expense –5.4 –3.2
Prepaid benefit expenses not stated in the balance sheet 4.5 6.8
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General overheads

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Premises 9.0 10.3 –1.3
Maintenance of mobile tangible assets and software 8.5 8.4 +0.1
Consulting and other third-party support 3.7 10.0 –6.3
Administrative expenses 11.9 12.2 –0.3
Operating contributions 6.6 7.8 –1.2
Other general overheads 5.9 6.4 –0.5

Total 45.6 55.3 –9.6

The operating grants include a contribution of CHF 6.2 million (2003: 
CHF 7.3 million) towards Study Center Gerzensee. The Study Center, which 
is a National Bank foundation, organises courses for employees of foreign  
central banks plus international conferences on academic topics and courses 
for doctoral students of Swiss universities. 

Gold

Breakdown by type 2004  2003

 Tonnes CHF millions Tonnes CHF millions

Gold ingots 1 047.3 16 693.3 1 225.1 20 312.5
Gold coins 175.2 2 792.5 175.2 2 904.9

Total 1 222.5 19 485.8 1 400.3 23 217.3

Breakdown by purpose 2004  2003

 Tonnes CHF millions Tonnes CHF millions

Monetary gold 1 158.4 18 463.5 1 057.1 17 527.9
Gold from free assets 64.1 1 022.3 343.1 5 689.5

Total 1 222.5 19 485.8 1 400.3 23 217.3

Item no. 07

Item no. 08
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Free assets:
Gold sales per annum Amount Sales Average 
 sold proceeds1 price

 Tonnes CHF millions CHF

2000 170.8 2 589.9 15 167
2001 220.8 3 252.8 14 730
2002 281.9 4 376.0 15 524
2003 283.4 4 458.8 15 733
2004 279.0 4 567.6 16 372

Total 1 235.9 19 245.2 15 572

Of the original total of 1,300 tonnes of gold no longer required  
for monetary purposes, 64.1 tonnes remain available for sale in 2005 (cf.  
p. 91).

Claims from gold transactions

 2004  2003

 Tonnes CHF millions Tonnes CHF millions

Claims from unsecured gold lending 31.9 514.6 128.9 2 146.2
Claims from secured gold lending1 99.8 1 637.4 104.0 1 762.5
Claims on metal accounts 0.1 1.4 0.1 1.9

Total 131.8 2 153.4 233.0 3 910.7

1  Excluding net result  
from headging transactions.

Item no. 09

1  Secured by the deposit  
of first-class securities  
with a market value of  
CHF 1,865.9 million  
(2003: 1,887.9 million).
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Item no. 10

1  Of which CHF 320.3 million 
(2003: CHF 118.9 million)  
lent under securities lending 
operations.

1  The debtor category mon- 
etary institutions refers to  
investments at the Bank for 
International Settlements 
(BIS), at central banks and  
in securities of multilateral  
development banks.

2  Banks only.

1  The breakdown by currency  
refers to basic investments 
and does not take foreign  
exchange derivatives into ac-
count. For a breakdown of 
currency positions including 
foreign exchange derivatives, 
see the breakdown of assets 
by currency on p. 131.

 

Foreign currency investments

Breakdown by investment type 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Sight deposits and call money 1 201.4 1 074.5 +126.9
Time deposits 362.6 2 416.4 –2 053.8
Claims from repo transactions – 1 774.9 –1 774.9
Money market paper 2 680.3 2 627.2 +53.1
Bonds1 56 463.7 48 418.7 +8 045.0

Total 60 708.0 56 311.7 +4 396.3

Breakdown by borrower category 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Governments 45 546.8 46 438.9 –892.1
Monetary institutions1 1 919.7 1 417.2 +502.4
Corporations 13 241.5 8 455.52 +4 786.0

Total 60 708.0 56 311.7 +4 396.3

Breakdown by currency1 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

USD 20 405.0 20 406.0 –1.0
EUR 28 854.9 29 320.2 –465.3
GBP 6 944.8 3 078.6 +3 866.2
DKK 3 130.5 2 360.4 +770.2
CAD 1 371.8 1 144.2 +227.6
Other 1.0 2.3 –1.3

Total 60 708.0 56 311.7 +4 396.3
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Reserve position in the IMF

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Swiss quota in the IMF1 6 080.7 6 390.7 –310.02

./. less IMF’s Swiss franc sight balances at  
the National Bank –4 045.6 –3 828.8 –216.8

Total 2 035.1 2 561.9 –526.8

Monetary assistance loans 

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Bilateral loan to Bulgaria 22.2 22.4 –0.2
PRGF credit facility 193.7 243.8 –50.1
Interim PRGF credit facility 75.4 61.0 +14.4

Total 291.3 327.2 –35.9

The change in the PRGF (Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility) is 
due to the IMF’s repayment of the loan and to currency valuation effects. 
Since 2002, the IMF has exhausted all loan commitments under the PRGF. 

The change in the interim PRGF credit facility item is due to cur-
rency valuation effects and to increased borrowing by the IMF. Outstanding  
commitments were down from CHF 401.5 million in 2003 to CHF 364.8 million 
(cf. p. 128, Item no. 29). 

Item no. 11

1  This quota amounts to  
 SDR 3,458.5 million.

2  Change due entirely to  
exchange rates.

Item no. 12
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Item no. 13

1  International organisations 
headquartered in Switzerland.

2  Banks and international  
organisations.

Swiss franc securities

Breakdown by borrower category 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Governments  4 368.0 4 141.6 +226.3
Corporations 3 025.6 3 516.2 –490.6

Total 7 393.6 7 657.9 –264.3

Breakdown of the Governments borrower category 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Swiss Confederation  2 249.4 2 060.1 +189.3
Cantons 862.4 785.0 +77.4
Municipalities 417.4 358.2 +59.2
Foreign states 838.8 938.4 –99.6

Total 4 368.0 4 141.6 +226.3

Breakdown of the Corporations borrower category 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Domestic banks  137.7 173.1 –35.4
Domestic mortgage bond institutions 1 063.2 1 336.6 –273.4
Other domestic corporations  126.4 132.81 –6.4
Foreign corporations 1 698.2 1 873.72 –175.5

Total 3 025.6 3 516.2 –490.6
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Banknote stocks

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Position as at 1 January  147.0 149.9 –2.9
Additions 37.4 41.5 –4.1
Disposals  –40.4 –44.4 –4.0
Position as at 31 December 144.0 147.0 –3.0

Schedule of assets in CHF millions

 Real Specific con- Assets under  Software Sundry tan- Total
 estate1 version work construction2  gible assets3

Period of depreciation 100 years  10 years No 3 years 3–12 years
   depreciation  

Historical cost
1 January 2004 326.1 44.7 6.4 25.3 71.2 473.8
Additions 0.0 4.3 17.6 6.2 6.7 34.7
Disposals – –0.1 – –7.5 –9.9 17.5
Reclassified – – – – – 
31 December 2004 326.2 48.9 24.0 24.0 68.0 491.1

Cumulative  
value adjustments
1 January 2004 18.8 12.0  9.4 48.2 88.5
Additions 3.3 4.6  8.8 9.9 26.6
Disposals – –0.1  –7.5 –9.8 17.4
Reclassified – –  – – 
31 December 2004 22.1 16.5  10.7 48.3 97.6

Net book values
1 January 2004 307.3 32.7 6.4 15.9 23.0 385.3
31 December 2004 304.0 32.3 24.0 13.3 19.7 393.3

Item no. 14

Item no. 15

1  Fire insurance value:  
CHF 362.6 million  
(2003: CHF 339.8 million).

2  Remodelling work at  
Zurich office.

3  Relates primarily to  
IT hardware, machinery, equip-
ment, furnishings and  
vehicles; fire insurance value:
CHF 83.3 million  
(2003: CHF 82.5 million).
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Item no. 16

1  Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, 
whose subsidiary Orell Füssli 
Security Documents Ltd  
produces Switzerland’s bank-
notes. 

2  The interest in the Bank 
for International Settlements 
(BIS) is held by reason of col-
laboration on monetary policy.

Item no. 17

Participations (not consolidated) in CHF millions

 Percentage  Book value at Investments Divestments Changes  Book value at 

 held 1 Jan. 2004   in value 31 Dec. 2004
 

Orell Füssli1 33% 27.0 – – 8.1 35.1
BIS2 3% 60.9 – – – 60.9
Others  0.6 – 0.0 – 0.6

Total  88.6    96.7

Sundry assets

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Coins1  266.4 290.2 –23.8
Foreign notes 0.7 0.6 +0.1
Other accounts receivable  19.6 20.9 –1.2
Prepayments and accrued income 3.2 3.6 –0.3
Cheques and bills of exchange (collection business) 0.3 0.5 –0.2
Positive gross replacement values2 316.1 668.2 –352.1

Total 606.3 983.9 –377.6

1  Coins comprise the coins 
and commemorative coins ac-
quired from Swissmint which 
are placed in circulation by 
the National Bank. 

2  Positive gross replacement 
values correspond to unreal-
ised gains on derivative fi- 
nancial instruments and on 
outstanding spot transactions.

By far the greater part of this 
Item is derived from foreign 
currency forward transactions 
concluded to hedge currency 
risks on the free assets  
(cf. p. 130, Item no. 32).
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Item no. 18

1  Exchangeable at the Na-
tional Bank until 30 April 2020.

Item no. 19

Item no. 20

1  These mainly comprise  
accounts of active and retired 
employees, and liabilities  
towards SNB pension funds 
(CHF 16.2 million; 2003:  
CHF 16.8 million).

2  Bank cheques drawn on 
the National Bank but not yet 
cashed.

Banknotes in circulation

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

8th issue  37 852.9 38 482.0 –629.1
6th issue1 1 866.3 2 062.0 –195.7

Total 39 719.3 40 544.0 –824.7

Liabilities towards the Confederation

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Sight liabilities 54.3 452.6 –398.3
Term liabilities 2 100.5 2 400.5 –300.0

Total 2 154.8 2 853.1 –698.3

Other sight liabilities

  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Sight deposits of non-banks 20.5 13.4 +7.2
Deposit accounts1 144.0 138.4 +5.6
Cheque liabilities2 0.5 1.6 –1.1

Total 165.0 153.4 +11.6
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Foreign currency liabilities

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Sight liabilities towards the Confederation  0.5 0.5 –
Liabilities from repo transactions1 – 130.0 –130.0

Total 0.5 130.5 –130.0

Other liabilities

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Other liabilities  10.8 12.6 –1.8
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 5.3 3.0 +2.3
Negative gross replacement values1 144.7 159.2 –14.5

Total 160.9 174.8 –13.9

Provisions for the assignment of free assets

Changes  2004 2003

  CHF millions CHF millions

Book value as at 1 January 21 209.3 20 296.9
Allocated to provisions  912.41

Released from provisions  –96.01

Write-back as at 31 December as per agreement  
25 February 2005   –21 113.2
Book value as at 31 December  – 21 209.3

Item no. 21

1  Relating to the  
management of foreign  
currency investments.

Item no. 22

1  Negative gross replace-
ment values correspond to un-
realised losses on derivative 
financial instruments and on 
outstanding spot transactions. 
By far the greater part of this 
item is derived from foreign 
currency forward transactions 
concluded to hedge currency 
risks on the free assets (cf.  
p. 130, Item no. 32).

Item no. 23

1  Corresponds to the net 
gain/loss from gold in the  
free assets (cf. p. 110,  
Item no. 01).
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The provision for the assignment of free assets comprises the pro-
ceeds from gold sales realised to date, the accrued net result from the hedg-
ing transactions and the anticipated proceeds of future gold sales. The latter 
depends on the market value of the gold not yet sold. Owing to the develop-
ment of the gold price during the year, the anticipated value of the gold  
assigned declined by CHF 96 million.

Composition before dissolution 2004  2003

 Tonnes CHF millions Tonnes CHF millions

Cumulative proceeds from  
gold sales 1 235.9 19 245.2 956.9 14 677.6
Market value of the as yet 
unsold portion of gold from 
the free assets 64.1 1 022.61 343.1 5 690.41

Cumulative net result from  
hedging transactions  845.5  841.3

Total (position as at  
31 December before liquidation) 1 300.0 21 113.2 1 300.0 21 209.3

Owing to the Federal Council’s decision to distribute the counter- 
value of the 1,300 tonnes of gold to the Confederation and the cantons, the 
Council of States’ decision not to intervene in this matter became effective. 
Consequently, the provision was written back as at 31 December 2004 and 
carried as income (cf. pp. 87–88).

The calculation of the distribution was based on the provision of  
CHF 21,113.2 million as at 31 December 2004, i.e. in accordance with the 
definition stated at the outset. Any difference remaining on completion of 
the sales will be reflected in the Financial Report for 2005.

1  Including gross replace-
ment values of gold sales  
not yet performed as at the 
balance sheet date.
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Provisions for operating risks

 Provisions due to Other  Total
 reorganisation provisions

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Book value as at 1 January 2003  11.9 – 11.9
Formation 3.2 – 3.2
Release –3.5 – –3.5
Write-back – – –
Book value as at 31 December 2003 11.5 – 11.5

Book value as at 1 January 2004 11.5 – 11.5
Formation 0.7 0.7 1.3
Release –4.5 – –4.5
Write-back –0.2 – –0.2
Book value as at 31 December 2004 7.5 0.7 8.1

Share capital

The share capital of the National Bank totals CHF 25 million. It is  
divided into 100,000 registered shares of CHF 250 each. 

In the 2004 financial year, the Bank Committee, and afterwards the 
Secretariat General acting on behalf of the Bank Council, authorised the 
transfer of 21,912 (previous year: 4,403) shares to new holders. The number 
of registered shareholders declined by 146. 

At year-end the shares were distributed as follows:

 Number of In percentage 
 shares of shares 
  registered

2,395 private shareholders with a total of 34 851 391

 of whom 2,057 shareholders with 1–10 shares each
 of whom 312 shareholders with 11–100 shares each
 of whom 13 shareholders with 101–200 shares each
 of whom 13 shareholders with over 200 shares each

81 public-sector shareholders with a total of 54 494 61
 of whom 26 cantons with a total of 38 981 
 of whom 24 cantonal banks with a total of 14 473 
 of whom 31 other public authorities and  
 institutions with a total of 1 040

Total 2,476 shareholders with a total of 89 3452 100

Registration applications pending or outstanding for 10 655

Total shares 100 000

Item no. 24

Item no. 25

1  10.5% are legal entities 
and 28.5% private individuals.

2  2,810 shares are in foreign 
ownership.
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At year-end, the price of the National Bank share was CHF 1,000,  
having risen from CHF 997 at the beginning of the year (at that time the price 
reflected a non paid-up portion of the share capital).

Major shareholders Number of shares Percentage held

 2004 Year-on-year 2004 Year-on-year  
  change  change
    

Canton of Berne 6 630 – 6.63 –
Fritz Aeschbach-Müller,  
Monaco 6 232 1 6.23 1

Canton of Zurich 5 200 – 5.20 –

Transfer of the residual surplus for future distributions  
 to the distribution reserve

   CHF millions

Residual surplus prior to distribution for financial year 20031 13 047.0
Distribution to Confederation and cantons in spring 2004  –2 800.0
Residual surplus for future distributions1  10 247.0
Release of reorganisation provisions   –11.5
Distribution reserve as at 31 December 2004  
(before appropriation of profit for 2004)   10 235.5

To date, the reorganisation provisions were included in the provisions 
stipulated in the NBA. Since they were not surplus provisions as specified in 
the new NBA, they have been transferred to provisions for operating risks 
rather than to the distribution reserve (cf. p. 125, Item no. 24).

1  Previous year’s holding  
was not subject to a reporting 
obligation.

Item no. 26

1  Cf. 96th Annual Report 
2003, p. 109.
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Item no. 27

1  Chiefly in connection with 
development aid provided by 
the Confederation (covered by 
balances earmarked for this 
purpose).

Item no. 28

4.5  Notes regarding off-balance-sheet business

 Contingent liabilities
 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Documentary credits1  1.8 2.6 –0.8
Other contingent liabilities 0.5 1.5 –1.0

 Irrevocable undertakings

Undrawn credit lines provided to banks under the  2004 2003 Change
liquidity-shortage financing facilities CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Lombard advances  6 551.4 9 407.5  –2 856.1
Special-rate repo 3 170.5 –  +3 170.5

Total 9 721.9 9 407.5  +314.4

Lombard advances  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Credit lines  6 558.0 9 408.3 –2 850.3
of which drawn down 6.6 0.8 +5.8
of which not yet drawn down 6 551.4 9 407.5 –2 856.1

Special-rate repo  2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Credit lines  3 170.5 – +3 170.5
of which drawn down  – –  –
of which not yet drawn down 3 170.5 – +3 170.5
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Item no. 29 Undrawn credit lines provided to IMF 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Two-way arrangement 623.3 693.4 –70.1
Interim PRGF  364.8 401.5 –36.7
General Arrangements to Borrow (GAB) and   
New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB) 2 707.6 2 845.6 –138.0

Total 3 695.7 3 940.5 –244.8

Two-way arrangement1 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Credit undertaking 703.3 739.1 –35.82

of which drawn down 80.0 45.7 +34.3
of which not yet drawn down 623.3 693.4 –70.1

Interim PRGF1 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Credit undertaking 439.5 462.0 –22.52

of which drawn down 74.7 60.4 +14.3
of which not yet drawn down 364.8 401.5 –36.7

General Arrangements to Borrow (GAB) 2004 2003 Change
and New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB)1

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Credit undertaking  2 707.6 2 845.6 –138.02

of which drawn down  –  –  –
of which not yet drawn down 2 707.6 2 845.6 –138.0

1  National Bank undertaking 
to purchase Special Drawing 
Rights against currency up to 
the agreed maximum of 

SDR 400 million or to return 
the Special Drawing Rights in  
exchange for currency.

2  Change due entirely to  
exchange rates.

1  Limited-term credit under-
taking to the IMF’s trust fund 
amounting to SDR 250 million 
(cf. p. 118, Item no. 12) 

with federally guaranteed  
repayment of principal and  
payment of interest.

2  Change due entirely to  
exchange rates.

1  Credit lines totalling SDR 
1,540 million (of which a  
maximum of SDR 1,020 million 
in the context of the GAB) in 

favour of the IMF for special 
cases, without a federal guar-
antee.

2  Change due entirely to  
exchange rates.
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Other obligations not carried on the balance sheet

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Additional funding obligation BIS1 105.5 110.9 –5.42

Liabilities from long-term rental,   
maintenance and leasing contracts 26.2 28.1 –1.9

Assets pledged or assigned as collateral for own liabilities 

Foreign currency investments 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

USD 16.3 163.5 –147.1
EUR  77.4 87.7 –10.3
GBP  – 11.9 –11.9

Total1 93.7 263.2 –169.4

Item no. 30

1  The BIS shares are 25% 
paid up. The additional fund-
ing obligation is stated in 
Special Drawing Rights. 

2  Change due entirely to  
exchange rates.

Item no. 31

1  Collateral lodged in  
connection with repo and  
futures transactions.
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Item no. 32

1  Including spot transactions 
with value date in the new 
year.

2  From spot sales and gold 
lending transactions with  
value date in the new year.

Item no. 33

Outstanding derivative financial instruments

 Contract value Gross replacement value

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions 
  Positive Negative

Interest rate instruments 14 757.6 18.3 22.1
Forward contracts1 10 648.4 1.5 1.3
Interest rate swaps 3 552.4 16.2 20.5
Futures 556.9 0.6 0.3

Foreign exchange 16 850.1 297.5 122.6
Forward contracts1 16 850.1 297.5 122.6

Precious metals 472.3 0.3 0.1
Forward contracts2 472.3 0.3 0.1

Total as at end of 2004 32 080.0 316.1 144.7
Total as at end of 2003 65 742.9 668.2 159.2

Fiduciary investments

 2004 2003 Change

 CHF millions CHF millions CHF millions

Fiduciary investments  
of the Confederation 745.3 550.2 195.1
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4.6  Assets by currency as at 31 December 2004
 In CHF millions

The following table gives a breakdown of the National Bank’s assets 
by currency. Foreign exchange derivatives were included on the basis of the 
assets stated in the balance sheet. These are made up of claims and liabilities 
from forward foreign exchange transactions.

 CHF Gold USD EUR Other Total

Gold   19 485.8    19 485.8
Claims from gold transactions  2 100.3 53.1   2 153.4
Foreign currency investments   20 405.0 28 854.9 11 448.1 60 708.0
Reserve position in the IMF     2 035.1 2 035.1
International payment instruments     80.1 80.1
Monetary assistance loans    22.2 269.1 291.3
Sundry assets 33 155.1     33 155.1

Total assets as per  
balance sheet 33 155.1 21 586.1 20 458.1 28 877.1 13 832.4 117 908.8
Foreign exchange derivatives 9 043.4  –6 574.0 –2 843.9 374.5

Total assets incl.  
foreign exchange  
derivatives as at end of 2004 42 198.5 21 586.1 13 884.1 26 033.1 14 206.9 117 908.8
As at end of 2003 45 705.6 27 080.7 13 954.3 29 342.6 6 714.3 122 797.7
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1  The proposal concerning 
the election of the Audit 
Board can be found on p. 83. 

2  Agreement on the  
distribution of profit of  
5 April 2002.

3  Supplementary agreement 
on the distribution of income 
on the SNB’s free assets of  
12 June 2003.

4  Agreement on the distribu-
tion of the proceeds from the 
sale of 1,300 tonnes of gold 
of 25 February 2005.

 Proposals of the Bank Council to the  
 General Meeting of Shareholders

At its meeting of 25 February 2005, the Bank Council accepted the 
97th Annual Report consisting of the 2004 Business and Financial Report  
presented by the Governing Board for submission to the Federal Council and 
the General Meeting of Shareholders.

On 11 March 2005, the Federal Council approved the Business and 
Financial Report pursuant to art. 7 para. 1 NBA. The Audit Board signed its 
report on 25 February 2005.

The Bank Council presents the following proposals to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders1:

1.  that the Business and Financial Report be approved; 
2.  that the annual result (net profit) of CHF 21,612,884,596.50 
 be appropriated as follows:

Appropriation of profit  2004

  CHF millions

Annual result (net profit pursuant to art. 36 NBA) 21 612.9
Allocation to provisions for currency reserves 
(art. 30 para. 1 NBA) –885.3

Distributable annual profit (art. 30 para. 2 NBA) 20 727.6

Release from distribution reserve 3 287.1

Total distribution of profit (art. 31 NBA) 24 014.7

Payment of a dividend of 6% –1.5
Ordinary distribution to the Confederation and to the cantons2 –2 500.0
Supplementary distribution to the Confederation and to the cantons3 –400.0
Distribution of the proceeds from the sale of 1,300 tonnes of gold4 –21 113.2

Balance after appropriation of profit –

3. that the Bank Council be granted discharge.

Proposals of the Bank Council133SNB
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 Report of the Audit Board  
 to the General Meeting of Shareholders

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and 
the financial statements (balance sheet, income statement and notes/pages 
94 to 131) of Swiss National Bank for the year ended 31 December 2004.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank Coun-
cil. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concern-
ing professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards pro-
mulgated by the Swiss profession, which require that an audit be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates 
made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and 
the cash flows in accordance with the Swiss GAAP FER. We should, however, 
point out the particular features (explained in the notes to the accounts) of 
accounting methods used by the Swiss National Bank as Switzerland’s central 
bank and note-issuing institution.

We further confirm that the books of account and the annual financial 
statements as well as the proposals for the appropriation of the annual profit 
comply with the provisions of the National Bank Act and the Swiss Code of 
Obligations.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be  
approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Peter Ochsner  Yvonne Staub

Zurich, 25 February 2005

Report of the Audit BoardSNB 135
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1  Chronicle of monetary events in 2004

On 18 March, the Governing Board passes the new Ordinance on the 
National Bank Act, which comes into effect on 1 May (cf. p. 70). 

On 18 March, the Governing Board decides at its quarterly assess-
ment to leave the target range for the three-month Libor at 0.0–0.75%  
(cf. p. 26).

On 19 March, the two chambers of Parliament approve the Federal 
Act on International Monetary Assistance, which the Federal Council enacts 
together with the Federal Decree on International Monetary Assistance with 
effect from 1 October 2004 (cf. p. 72).

On 24 March, the Federal Council enacts the totally revised National 
Bank Act (NBA) with effect from 1 May (cf. p. 69).

On 14 May, the new Bank Council holds its constituent meeting and 
passes the new Organisation Regulations, which are approved by the Federal 
Council on 23 June (cf. p. 71). 

On 17 June, the Governing Board at its quarterly assessment raises 
the target range for the three-month Libor with immediate effect by 0.25 per-
centage points to 0.0–1.0%. For the time being, the three-month Libor is to 
be kept in the middle of the target range at around 0.5%. After this step, the 
interest rate target range again exhibits a spread of 100 bp (cf. p. 28).

On 16 September, the Governing Board at its quarterly assessment 
raises the target range for the three-month Libor with immediate effect  
by 0.25 percentage points to 0.25–1.25%. For the time being, the three-
month Libor is to be kept in the middle of the target range at around 0.75% 
(cf. p. 30).

On 16 December, the Council of States decides for the second time 
not to deal with the Federal Council’s bill regarding the appropriation of the 
surplus gold reserves (cf. p. 73). 

On 16 December, the Governing Board at its quarterly assessment 
leaves the target range for the three-month Libor at 0.25–1.25%. For the 
time being, the three-month Libor is to be kept in the middle of the target 
range at around 0.75% (cf. p. 31).

March

May

June

September

December
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Bank Council

(2004–2008 term of office)

 2 Supervisory and management bodies,  
  Regional Economic Councils
 (As at January 2005)

Hansueli Raggenbass, Kesswil, Attorney-at-law, President1

Ruth Lüthi, Fribourg, Member of the Cantonal Government and Head of the Health and
 Social Welfare Department of the Canton of Fribourg, Vice-President1

 * Ueli Forster, St Gallen, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Forster Rohner Ltd1

 * Serge Gaillard, Bolligen, Executive Secretary of the Swiss Federation of Trade Unions3

Konrad Hummler, Teufen, Managing Partner of Wegelin & Co., Private Bankers3

 * Armin Jans, Zug, Professor of Economics at the Zurich University of 
 Applied Sciences, Winterthur2

 * Franz Marty, Goldau2

Marina Masoni, Lugano, Member of the Cantonal Government and Head of the 
 Department of Finance and Economic Affairs of the Canton of Ticino
Fritz Studer, Meggen2

 * Alexandre Swoboda, Geneva, Professor at the Graduate Institute of
 International Studies3

Eveline Widmer-Schlumpf, Felsberg, Member of the Cantonal Government and
 Head of the Finance and Military Department of the Canton of Graubünden

*  Elected by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders.

1  Member of the Compen- 
sation Committee.

2  Member of the Audit  
Committee.

3  Member of the Risk  
Committee.

Selected information 
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Further relevant  
affiliations of the Bank 
Council members

Audit Board 
(2004/2005 term of office)

  Hansueli Raggenbass
 – Chairman of the Board of the Health Care Organisation SWICA, Winterthur,
 – and associated companies
 – Member of the Board of Oerlikon Contraves, Zurich

  Ruth Lüthi
 – None

  Ueli Forster
 – Chairman of the Swiss Business Federation (economiesuisse)
 – Deputy Chairman and Lead Director of the Board of Directors of 
 – Helvetia Patria Group, St Gallen

  Serge Gaillard
 – None

  Konrad Hummler
 – Chairman of the Board of Telsonic Holding AG, Bronschhofen
 – Member of the Board of Christian Fischbacher Co. AG and CF Holding AG,
 – St Gallen
 – Member of the Board of Finansbank (Suisse) SA, Geneva
 – Member of the Board of Habib Bank AG, Zurich
 – Member of the Board of Neue Zürcher Zeitung AG, Zurich
 – Member of the Board of Private Client Bank, Zurich

  Armin Jans 
 – Vice-President of Schweizerischer Mieterinnen- und Mieterverband
 – Deutschschweiz (Swiss German Association of Tenants)
 – Member of the Bank Board of Zuger Kantonalbank, Zug

  Franz Marty
 – Chairman of the Board of the Swiss Union of Raiffeisen Banks, St Gallen
Marina Masoni
 – Member of the Board of the Compensation Fund of the Old Age
 – and Survivors’ Insurance scheme (AHV/AVS), Geneva
Fritz Studer
 – Member of the Board of Luzerner Kantonalbank, Lucerne
 – Chairman of the Board of Sarna Kunststoffholding AG, Sarnen
Alexandre Swoboda
 – Member of the Board of LB InterFinanz AG, Zurich
 – Member of the Board of ABD Capital SA, Geneva
Eveline Widmer-Schlumpf
 – None

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich
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Charles Seydoux, Choulex, Director of DMB SA, Chairman
Raymond Léchaire, Bussigny, Director and Head of Sales Area Coop Romandie
Claude-Daniel Proellochs, Neuchâtel, General Manager and Chairman of the Board of 
 Vacheron Constantin SA, Branch of Richemont International SA

Jean-François Rime, Bulle, National Councillor, Chairman of the Board of 
 Despond SA, Chairman
Edgar Geiser, Brügg/BE, Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer,
 Member of the Executive Board of Swatch Group Ltd
Oscar A. Kambly, Trubschachen, President of the Board of Kambly SA,
 Spécialités de Biscuits Suisses

Bruno Sidler, Binningen, President of the Executive Board and CEO of
 Panalpina Management Ltd, Chairman
Hans Büttiker, Dornach, CEO of EBM
Matthys Dolder, Bienne-Benken, CEO of Dolder AG

Willy Egeli, Wittenbach, Chairman of the Board and Managing Director of
 Egeli AG, Chairman
Charles Peter, Uzwil, CEO, President and Managing Director of
 Benninger AG
Urs Kienberger, Sils-Maria, Director and Chairman of the Board of
 Hotel Waldhaus Sils

Franz Bernasconi, Genestrerio, President and General Manager of Precicast SA,
 Chairman
Olimpio Pini, Sorengo, Director of Pini & Associati, Ingegneri Consulenti SA
Giancarlo Bordoni, Viganello, Chairman of the Board of Oleificio Sabo SA

Rolf Mehr, St-Prex, Managing Director and CEO of
 Vaudoise Insurance Holding, Chairman
Gérard Beytrison, Conthey, Delegate of the Board of Orgamol SA
Bernard Rüeger, Féchy, General Manager of Rüeger SA

Regional Economic Councils 
(2004–2008 term of office)

Geneva

Mittelland

Northwestern Switzerland

Eastern Switzerland

Ticino

Vaud-Valais
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Central Switzerland

Zurich

Ruth Pedrazzetti-Weibel, Lucerne, Hotel Manager, Hotel Continental-Park, Chairwoman
Werner Steinegger, Schwyz, Chairman of the Board of Celfa AG
Xaver Sigrist, Lucerne, President and CEO of Anliker AG Bauunternehmung

Silvia Huber-Meier, Lengnau/AG, Managing Director of Domaco
 Dr. med. Aufdermaur AG, Chairwoman
Reto H. Müller, Dietikon, Chairman of the Board and CEO of Helbling Holding SA
Hans R. Rüegg, Rüti/ZH, Chairman of the Board and CEO of Baumann Springs Ltd



SNB 142 Selected information 

Jean-Pierre Roth, Chairman, Zurich
Niklaus Blattner, Vice-Chairman, Berne
Philipp M. Hildebrand, Member, Zurich

Jean-Pierre Roth, Chairman
Niklaus Blattner, Vice-Chairman
Philipp M. Hildebrand
Ulrich Kohli
Thomas Wiedmer
Thomas J. Jordan

Peter Schöpf, Secretary General, Director, Zurich

Governing Board

Enlarged Governing Board

Secretariat General
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Head of Department Jean-Pierre Roth, 
   Chairman of the Governing Board
Deputy Head Ulrich Kohli, Alternate Member of the
   Governing Board, Chief Economist
International Affairs Ulrich Kohli, Alternate Member of the
   Governing Board, Chief Economist
Economic Affairs Michel Peytrignet, Director
Legal and Administrative Affairs Peter Klauser, Director

Head of Department Niklaus Blattner, 
   Vice-Chairman of the Governing Board
Deputy Head Thomas Wiedmer, Alternate Member of the
   Governing Board, Chief Financial Officer
Finance and Controlling Thomas Wiedmer, Alternate Member of the 
   Governing Board, Chief Financial Officer
Cash   Roland Tornare, Chief Cashier of the Bank, 
   Director
Financial Stability and Oversight Daniel Heller, Director

Head of Department  Philipp M. Hildebrand, 
   Member of the Governing Board
Deputy Head Thomas J. Jordan, Alternate Member of the 
   Governing Board, Chief Investment Officer 
Financial Market Operations Thomas J. Jordan, Alternate Member of the
   Governing Board, Chief Investment Officer
Asset Management  Thomas Stucki, Director
Investment Strategy and Risk Control Dewet Moser, Director
Banking Operations Daniel Wettstein, Director
Information Technology  Rudolf Hug, Director (until 31 March 2005)
   Hans Peter Biland, Director (as of 1 April 2005)

Department I

Department II

Department III
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General Meeting of Shareholders

 
Bank Council

 
Governing Board

 
Enlarged Governing Board 

 
Department II Berne

 
Department I Zurich

 
Human Resources

 
Communications

Regional  
Economic Relations

 
Management Support

 
Security

International Research 
and  
Technical Assistance

International  
Monetary Relations

 
Research

 
Economic Analysis

 
Statistics

 
Library

 
Central Accounting

 
Controlling

Premises,  
Technical Services

 
Administration

 
Storage

 
Processing

 
Technical Services

  
Audit Board

 
Internal Auditors

  
Secretariat General

 

 

 
Economic Affairs

 
Cash

 
International Affairs

Finance and  
Controlling

3 Organisational chart

Legal and  
Administrative Affairs

 
Legal Services

 
Pension Fund

Premises, Technical 
Services

Cashier’s Offices Berne,  
Geneva, Lugano, Zurich
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Department II Berne

 
Department III Zurich

Money Market and 
Foreign Exchange

Financial Market 
Analysis

Financial Market 
Operations

 
Financial Stability

Financial Market 
Infrastructure

Financial Stability 
and Oversight

 
Asset Management

Investment  
Strategy and  
Risk Control

Information  
Technology

Banking  
Applications

Statistics  
Applications

Office Automation 
and Operations  
Applications

Banking  
Operations

 
Payments

 
Back Office

 
Support

 
Technical Services

IT Operations  
Zurich

IT Operations  
Berne
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 4 Publications

 The printed publications are available on the internet: www.snb.ch

The Annual Report is published in April in German, French, Italian, and English.
Free of charge

The “Swiss Balance of Payments” provides comments on the development of the balance of 
payments and is published once a year as a supplement to the Monthly Statistical Bulletin.
The report on Switzerland’s international investment position provides comments on the  
development of foreign assets, foreign liabilities and Switzerland’s net investment position.
It is published once a year as a supplement to the December issue of the Monthly Statisti-
cal Bulletin.
The report on direct investment provides comments on the development of Switzerland’s di-
rect investment abroad and foreign direct investment in Switzerland. It is published once  
a year as a supplement to the December issue of the Monthly Statistical Bulletin. 
The reports are available in German, French and English (English version only on the  
internet).
Free of charge

The Financial Stability Report assesses the stability of Switzerland’s banking sector. It is 
published once a year in June. The publication is in English and contains summaries in  
German and French.
Free of charge

The Quarterly Bulletin includes the Monetary Policy Report used for the quarterly assessment  
of the Governing Board. Furthermore, articles on topical central bank policy issues and  
abstracts of the SNB’s Economic Studies and Working Papers are published. The Quarterly 
Bulletin also contains the speeches delivered at the General Meeting of Shareholders and 
the chronicle of monetary events. The Quarterly Bulletin is available in German, French and 
English (English version only on the internet).
Subscription rate: CHF 25* per year (outside Switzerland CHF 30); 
for subscribers of the Monthly Statistical Bulletin: 
CHF 15* per year (outside Switzerland CHF 20)

Annual Report

Reports on the balance of 
payments, the interna-
tional investment position 
and direct investment

Financial Stability Report

Quarterly Bulletin
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In the two series “Swiss National Bank Economic Studies” and “Swiss National Bank Working 
Papers”, economic contributions are published at irregular intervals. They are available in 
one language only (German, French or English). 
Free of charge

The Monthly Statistical Bulletin contains graphs and tables on key Swiss and international 
economic figures (available in German and French; English only on the internet). The Monthly  
Bulletin of Banking Statistics contains detailed banking statistics (available in German and 
French). The latest issue together with machine-readable data is available on the internet 
under Publications; Monthly Bulletin of Banking Statistics. A printed version is published 
every quarter (free of charge as a supplement to the Monthly Statistical Bulletin).
Subscription rate: CHF 40* per year (outside Switzerland CHF 80)

The statistical yearbook of the Swiss banks (“Die Banken in der Schweiz”) provides comment-
ed source material on the structure and development of the banking sector in Switzerland. It 
is compiled mainly from data contained in the year-end statistics of the National Bank. The 
yearbook is published in mid-year in German and French.
Price: CHF 20 *

The publication “Money and monetary policy” provides an introduction into the financial 
world and monetary policy for teaching purposes. It was published as part of the teaching 
aid series “Bildung und Wirtschaft”(no. 2000/1) of the association “Jugend und Wirtschaft” 
(available in German, French, Italian and English).
Free of charge

The brochure “The Swiss National Bank in brief” describes in concise form (approximately  
30 pages) the monetary policy concept, major tasks, and the organisation and legal basis of the  
National Bank’s activity. The brochure is available in German, French, Italian and English.
Free of charge

Swiss National Bank  
Economic Studies/ 
Swiss National Bank  
Working Papers

Monthly Statistical  
Bulletin/Monthly Bulletin  
of Banking Statistics

Statistical yearbook  
of the Swiss banks

Money and monetary 
policy

The Swiss National Bank 
in brief
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The brochure “What is money really about?” describes the activity of the National Bank in 
simple terms. It is an ideal teaching aid for intermediate and higher grades.
The brochure “The Swiss National Bank and that vital commodity: money” provides informa-
tion on the National Bank and its tasks. It is suitable as a teaching aid for the higher grades  
and for vocational training and generally appeals to people interested in the National Bank.
The glossary “An “A to Z” of the Swiss National Bank” explains important terms from the 
world of the National Bank and money.
The website www.snb.ch, “The world of the National Bank” conveys the contents of the 
above-mentioned brochures in a form adapted to the internet.
The short film “The National Bank and money” (available on DVD or VHS) illustrates the  
characteristics of money.
The short film “The National Bank and its monetary policy” (available on DVD or VHS)  
illustrates how the National Bank conducts monetary policy on a daily basis and explains the 
principles of monetary policy.
All information tools are available in German, French, Italian and English.
Free of charge

Annual Report: Swiss National Bank, Secretariat General, Bundesplatz 1, CH-3003 Berne
Telephone +41 31 327 02 11, e-mail: library@snb.ch

All other publications (subscriptions and individual issues):
Swiss National Bank, Library, Fraumünsterstrasse 8, P.O. Box, CH-8022 Zurich,
Telephone +41 44 631 32 84, e-mail: library@snb.ch

Information tools for 
schools and the  
interested public

Obtainable from:

*All rates include 2.4% VAT.
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5 Addresses

Berne
Bundesplatz 1 Telephone +41 31 327 02 11
CH-3003 Berne Fax +41 31 327 02 21
 Telex 911 310 snb ch
Zurich
Börsenstrasse 15 Telephone +41 44 631 31 11
P.O. Box 2800 Fax +41 44 631 39 11
CH-8022 Zurich Telex 812 400 snb ch

Geneva
Rue François-Diday 8 Telephone +41 22 311 86 11
P.O. Box  Fax +41 22 818 57 62
CH-1211 Geneva 11

Lugano
Via Canova 12 Telephone +41 91 911 10 10
P.O. Box  Fax +41 91 911 10 11
CH-6901 Lugano

Basel
Aeschenvorstadt 55 Telephone +41 61 270 80 80
P.O. Box  Fax +41 61 270 80 87
CH-4010 Basel

Lausanne
Rue de la Paix 6 Telephone +41 21 213 05 11
P.O. Box  Fax +41 21 213 05 18
CH-1002 Lausanne

Lucerne
Münzgasse 6 Telephone +41 41 227 20 40
P.O. Box  Fax +41 41 227 20 49
CH-6000 Lucerne 7

St Gallen
Neugasse 43 Telephone +41 71 227 25 11
P.O. Box Fax +41 71 227 25 19
CH-9004 St Gallen

The Swiss National Bank maintains agencies operated by cantonal banks in Altdorf, 
Appenzell, Basel, Bienne, Chur, Fribourg, Glarus, Liestal, Lucerne, Sarnen, Schaffhausen, 
Schwyz, Sion, Stans, Thun and Zug.

www.snb.ch

snb@snb.ch

Head offices 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Branches 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Representative offices 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Agencies 
 
 
 
 
Internet 
 
 
E-mail
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6 Rounding conventions and abbreviations

ARR Swiss Accounting and Reporting  
 Recommendations (Swiss GAAP FER)
art. Article
AS Official Compilation of Federal Laws and Decrees
BIS Bank for International Settlements
CAD Canadian dollar
CHF Swiss franc
CPI Consumer price index
DKK Danish krone
EUR Euro
FC Federal Constitution
FDF  Federal Department of Finance
Fed US Federal Reserve
G-10 Group of Ten
GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
GBP Pound sterling
IMF International Monetary Fund
Libor London Interbank Offered Rate
NBA National Bank Act
NBO National Bank Ordinance
OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and  
 Development
para. Paragraph
SDR Special Drawing Rights
seco State Secretariat for Economic Affairs
SFBC Swiss Federal Banking Commission
SFSO Swiss Federal Statistical Office 
SIC Swiss Interbank Clearing
SNB Swiss National Bank
SR Classified Compilation of the Federal Law
USD US dollar

The figures in the income statement, balance sheet and tables are rounded; the total may 
therefore deviate from the sum of individual items. 
The figures 0 and 0.0 are rounded values representing less than half of the unit used, yet 
greater than zero (rounded zero). 
A dash (–) in place of a number stands for zero (absolute zero).

Rounded figures

Abbreviations
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Ziele und Aufgaben der Nationalbank

Auftrag
Die Schweizerische Nationalbank führt als unabhängige  

Zentralbank die Geld- und Währungspolitik des Landes.  
Sie setzt damit eine grundlegende Rahmenbedingung für die 
Entwicklung der Wirtschaft. Sie muss sich gemäss Verfassung 
und Gesetz vom Gesamtinteresse des Landes leiten lassen,  
als vorrangiges Ziel die Preisstabilität gewährleisten und dabei 
die Konjunktur berücksichtigen.

Preisstabilität
Preisstabilität ist eine wesentliche Voraussetzung für 

Wachstum und Wohlstand. Inflation und Deflation erschweren 
die Entscheide von Konsumenten und Produzenten, stören die 
wirtschaftliche Entwicklung und benachteiligen die Schwäche-
ren. Die Nationalbank setzt Preisstabilität mit einem Anstieg 
des Landesindexes der Konsumentenpreise von unter 2% pro 
Jahr gleich. Die geldpolitischen Entscheide erfolgen aufgrund 
einer Inflationsprognose, ihre Umsetzung über die Steuerung 
des Dreimonats-Libors.

Bargeldversorgung
Die Nationalbank verfügt über das Monopol zur Aus-

gabe von Banknoten. Sie versorgt die Wirtschaft mit Noten, 
die hohen Qualitäts- und Sicherheitsansprüchen genügen. Im 
Auftrag des Bundes nimmt sie auch die Münzverteilung wahr.

Bargeldloser Zahlungsverkehr
Im bargeldlosen Zahlungsverkehr engagiert sich die  

Nationalbank im Bereich der Grossbetragszahlungen zwischen 
den Banken. Diese werden im Swiss Interbank Clearing SIC 
über die Girokonten der SNB abgewickelt.

Anlage der Währungsreserven
Die Nationalbank verwaltet die Währungsreserven. 

Diese sichern das Vertrauen in den Franken, tragen dazu bei, 
Krisen zu verhindern und zu überwinden und können für 
Interventionen am Devisenmarkt eingesetzt werden.

Stabilität des Finanzsystems
Im Rahmen ihres Beitrags zur Stabilität des Finanz-

systems analysiert und berücksichtigt die Nationalbank die 
Gefahrenquellen des Finanzsystems. Sie überwacht die system-
relevanten Zahlungs- und Effektenabwicklungssysteme  
und wirkt an der Gestaltung der Rahmenbedingungen für den 
Finanzplatz mit.

Tätigkeiten für den Bund
Die Nationalbank wirkt als Bank des Bundes und nimmt 

zusammen mit den Bundesbehörden an der internationalen 
Währungskooperation teil.

Statistik
Die Nationalbank erstellt Statistiken vornehmlich über 

die Tätigkeit der Banken und die Entwicklung an den Finanz-
märkten.
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